ICF International, Inc. Form DEF 14A April 26, 2013 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(Amendment No.)

Filed by the Registrant x Filed by a Party other than the Registrant "

Check the appropriate box:

- " Preliminary Proxy Statement
- "Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- x Definitive Proxy Statement
- "Definitive Additional Materials
- " Soliciting Material under §240.14a-12

ICF INTERNATIONAL, INC.

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

x No fee required.

Fee	computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:
2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:
3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
5)	Total fee paid:
	Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.

•		Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
	1)	Amount Previously Paid:
	2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
	3)	Filing Party:
	4)	Date Filed:

ICF INTERNATIONAL, INC.

9300 Lee Highway

Fairfax, Virginia 22031

Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders

to be held on June 7, 2013

Notice is hereby given that the annual meeting of stockholders of ICF International, Inc. (*ICF International*) will be held at ICF International, 9300 Lee Highway, Fairfax, Virginia 22031, on June 7, 2013, at 9:00 a.m., local time, for the following purposes:

- 1. To elect three (3) directors for a term expiring in 2016 (Proposal 1);
- 2. To ratify the selection of Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2013 (Proposal 2);
- 3. To amend the 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares available for issuance by 1,750,000 (Proposal 3);
- 4. To provide an advisory vote regarding ICF International s overall pay-for-performance executive compensation program (Proposal 4); and
- 5. To transact any other business that is properly brought before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement. Pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law and ICF International s Bylaws, stockholders of record at the close of business on April 8, 2013 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the meeting. This notice of annual meeting, proxy statement, and form of proxy are being distributed and made available on or about April 26, 2013.

We are pleased to utilize the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission rule that allows companies to furnish their proxy materials to stockholders over the Internet. As a result, we are mailing to many of our stockholders a notice instead of a paper copy of this proxy statement and our 2012 Annual Report. This notice contains instructions on how to access those documents over the Internet. We direct your attention to the attached proxy statement for more information, including instructions on how stockholders can receive a paper copy of our proxy materials, including this proxy statement, our 2012 Annual Report and a form of proxy or voting instruction form. All stockholders who do not receive a notice, including stockholders who have previously requested to receive paper copies of proxy materials, will receive a paper copy of the proxy materials by mail unless they have previously requested delivery of proxy materials electronically. Employing an electronic distribution process will conserve natural resources and reduce the costs of printing and distributing our proxy materials.

We cordially invite you to attend this year s meeting. It is important that your shares of ICF International s common stock be represented at this meeting in order to help ensure the presence of a quorum. Even if you plan to attend the annual meeting of stockholders in person, please vote your shares of ICF International common stock by mailing your completed proxy or voting instruction form, or voting electronically or telephonically, as doing so will ensure your representation at the annual meeting regardless of whether you attend in person. Thank you for your cooperation and continued support of ICF International.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Sudhakar Kesavan Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Fairfax, Virginia

April 26, 2013

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT

Your vote is important. To ensure your representation at the meeting, please vote by using the Internet or by telephone or, if you received a paper copy of the proxy form by mail, by signing and returning the enclosed proxy form. Instructions for your voting options are described on the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials or proxy form.

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Stockholders Meeting to be held on June 7, 2013: A copy of the proxy statement and 2012 Annual Report are available at www.proxyvote.com.

PROXY STATEMENT

for the

ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

of

ICF INTERNATIONAL, INC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Voting and Meeting Information	1
Proposal 1 Election of Directors	5
Proposal 2 Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accountant	10
Proposal 3 Amendment to the 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan to Increase the Number of Shares Available for Issuance	12
Proposal 4 Advisory Vote Regarding ICF International s Overall Pay-For-Performance Executive Compensation Program	21
Corporate Governance and Board Matters	22
The Board of Directors	22
Corporate Governance Guidelines	22
<u>Director Independence</u>	22
Board Leadership Structure; Lead Independent Director	22
Risk Oversight	23
Board Committees	23
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	25
Process for Selecting and Nominating Directors	25
Board Stock Ownership Guidelines	26
Director Continuing Education	26
Derivatives Trading and Hedging Policy	27
Stockholder Communications with the Board	27
<u>Director Compensation</u>	27
Code of Ethics	28
Certain Relationships and Transactions with Related Persons	29
Other Transactions Considered for Independence Purposes	29
Executive Officers of the Company During 2012	30
Security Ownership of Directors, Executive Officers and Certain Beneficial Owners	32
Executive Compensation	35
Compensation Discussion and Analysis	35
<u>Implementing Our Objectives</u>	37
Effect of 2012 Say on Pay Vote	39
Executive Compensation Components	39
Compensation Practices and Risk	44
Summary Compensation Table	45
Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2012	47
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2012 Fiscal Year-End	48
Option Exercises and Stock Vested During 2012	49
<u>Deferred Compensation Plan</u>	49
Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control	50
Payments Pursuant to Employment Agreement	50
Payments Pursuant to Severance Letter Agreements	51
Payments in the Event of Death or Disability	52
Payments in the Event of a Change in Control	53
Compensation Committee Report	56
Audit Committee Report	57

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance	58
Stockholders Proposals for the 2014 Annual Meeting	58
Solicitation by Board; Expenses of Solicitation	59

i

ICF INTERNATIONAL, INC.

PROXY STATEMENT

This proxy statement is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors of ICF International, Inc. (*ICF International*, the *Company*, *we*, or *us*) to be used at the annual meeting of stockholders of the Company. The annual meeting will be held at our principal executive office, 9300 Lee Highway, Fairfax, Virginia 22031, on June 7, 2013, at 9:00 a.m., local time. This proxy statement and enclosed proxy form are being made available over the Internet or delivered by mail on or about April 26, 2013, to stockholders of record.

VOTING AND MEETING INFORMATION

What is the purpose of the annual meeting?

At our annual meeting, you will be asked to:

elect three (3) directors to serve for a term expiring at our annual meeting in 2016 (Proposal 1);

ratify the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm (Proposal 2);

amend the 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the *Omnibus Plan*) to increase the number of shares available for issuance by 1,750,000 (Proposal 3);

provide an advisory vote regarding ICF International s overall pay-for-performance executive compensation program (the say on pay vote) (Proposal 4); and

transact any other business that properly comes before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement.

How does the Board recommend that I vote?

Our Board of Directors recommends that you vote your shares **FOR**: (i) the nominees for election to the Board; (ii) the ratification of our independent registered public accounting firm for the 2013 fiscal year; (iii) the amendment to the Omnibus Plan to increase the number of shares available for issuance; and (iv) the approval of the say on pay vote.

Who is entitled to vote?

Holders of record of our common stock as of the close of business on April 8, 2013, are entitled to vote at the annual meeting. At that time, we had 19,718,246 outstanding shares of common stock. We have no other outstanding classes of stock that are entitled to vote at the annual meeting. Voting stockholders are entitled to one vote per share.

Why did I receive a notice in the mail regarding the Internet availability of the proxy materials instead of a paper copy of the proxy materials?

We are pleased to utilize the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) rule that allows companies to furnish their proxy materials over the Internet. As a result, we are mailing to many of our stockholders a notice about the Internet availability of the proxy materials instead of a paper copy of the proxy materials. All stockholders receiving the notice will have the ability to access the proxy materials over the Internet and to request a paper copy of the proxy materials by mail.

To reduce the expenses of delivering duplicate notices to stockholders, we are relying upon SEC rules that permit us to deliver only one notice about the Internet availability of the proxy materials to multiple stockholders who share an address, unless we receive contrary instructions from any stockholder at that address. Upon request,

1

whether oral or written, we will deliver a separate copy of the notice about the Internet availability of the proxy materials to any stockholder at a shared address who requests his or her own copy. Requests should be made to MBS Value Partners, LLC, at 424 Madison Avenue, Suite 400, New York, New York 10017, Attention: Lynn Morgen, ICF Investor Relations, or by telephoning Ms. Morgen at: (212) 750-5800.

How can I access the proxy materials over the Internet?

Your notice about the Internet availability of the proxy materials, proxy form, or voting instruction form will contain instructions on how to view our proxy materials for the annual meeting on the Internet. **Our proxy materials are also publicly available, free of charge, at <u>www.</u> <u>proxyvote.com</u>. Our proxy materials will be available at this website through the conclusion of the annual meeting.**

Your notice of Internet availability of proxy materials, proxy form, or voting instruction form will contain instructions on how you may request access to proxy materials electronically on an ongoing basis. Choosing to access your proxy materials electronically will help us conserve natural resources and reduce the costs of printing and distributing our proxy materials.

How may I obtain a paper copy of the Company s proxy materials, 2012 Annual Report, and/or other financial information?

Stockholders receiving a notice about the Internet availability of the proxy materials will find instructions regarding how to obtain a paper copy of the proxy materials on their notice. Stockholders also may request a free copy of our proxy statement and/or 2012 Annual Report, which includes our Form 10-K, by writing to: MBS Value Partners, LLC, 424 Madison Avenue, Suite 400, New York, New York 10017, Attention: Lynn Morgen, ICF Investor Relations. Alternatively, stockholders can access the 2012 Annual Report, which includes our Form 10-K, on our Investor Relations website at: http://investor.icfi.com. We will also furnish any exhibit to the 2012 Form 10-K if specifically requested.

How do I vote?

You may vote in person at the meeting, on the Internet, by telephone, or through a proxy or voting instruction form. Stockholders who have received a notice of the availability of the proxy materials by mail may submit proxies over the Internet by following the instructions on the notice. Stockholders who have received a paper copy of a proxy form or a voting instruction form by mail may either:

- (i) submit their proxy over the Internet or by telephone by following the instructions on the proxy form or voting instruction form; or
- (ii) submit their proxy by mail by signing and dating the proxy form or voting instruction form received and returning it in the prepaid envelope.

What if I hold shares indirectly?

If you hold shares in a stock brokerage account or through a bank or other nominee, you are considered to be the beneficial owner of shares held in street name and these proxy materials are being forwarded to you by your broker or nominee. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker how to vote. If you do not direct your broker how to vote, your broker is permitted to vote your shares on the appointment of the independent registered public accounting firm, even if you do not furnish voting instructions. However, your broker will not be able to vote on other matters.

If your shares are held in street name, your broker or other nominee may have procedures that will permit you to vote by telephone or electronically through the Internet.

Can I change my vote?

You have the right to revoke your proxy at any time before votes are counted at the meeting by:

notifying us in writing at our corporate offices by writing to ICF International, Inc., 9300 Lee Highway, Fairfax, Virginia 22031, Attention: Corporate Secretary, Mollie Roy;

entering a new vote by using the Internet or the telephone, or by mailing a new proxy form or new voting instruction form bearing a later date, which will automatically revoke your earlier voting instructions; or

voting in person at the meeting.

Attendance at the meeting will not in itself constitute revocation of your proxy.

Attending the Meeting

Attendance at the meeting is limited to stockholders who are:

stockholders of record:

beneficial holders of ICF International common stock held by a broker, bank, or other nominee (i.e., in street name); or

authorized representatives of entities who are record or beneficial holders.

A stockholder of a class noted above must present, in addition to a valid photo identification or other satisfactory proof of identification, the following materials in order to be admitted to the meeting:

stockholders of record must present the top portion of their proxy card, which will serve as an admission ticket;

beneficial holders will need proof of ownership. A recent brokerage statement or letter from a bank or broker is an example of proof of ownership. If you want to vote your shares of ICF International common stock held in street name in person at the meeting, you must obtain a written proxy in your name from the broker, bank, or other nominee who is the record holder of your shares; and

in addition to any evidence required above for record or beneficial holders, authorized representatives must present a letter from the entity certifying as to their status as an authorized representative.

Cameras (including cellular phones or personal digital assistants (*PDAs*) with photographic capabilities), recording devices and other electronic devices, and the use of cellular phones or PDAs will not be permitted at the meeting. Representatives will be at the entrance to the meeting and these representatives will have the authority, on the Company s behalf, to determine whether the admission policies and procedures are being followed and whether you will be granted admission to the meeting.

What are the requirements and procedures for a quorum, abstentions, and broker non-votes?

Your shares are counted as present at the meeting if you attend the meeting, if you properly return a proxy by mail, or you vote by telephone or electronically. In order for us to vote on matters at the meeting, a majority of our outstanding shares of common stock as of April 8, 2013 must be present in person or by proxy at the meeting. This is referred to as a quorum. Abstentions will be counted for purposes of establishing a quorum at the meeting and will be counted as voting (but not for or against) on the affected proposal. Broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of establishing a quorum but will not be counted as voting. A broker non-vote occurs when a broker, bank, or other nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote on a particular proposal because the nominee does not have discretionary voting power with respect to that item and/or has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner. Broker non-votes may arise with respect to the proposal for the election of directors, the amendment to the Omnibus Plan and the say on pay vote, because such proposals are considered non-routine matters under applicable rules that govern banks and brokers, and brokers are not allowed to vote your shares on such proposals if you do not furnish voting instructions. If a quorum is not present, the meeting will be adjourned until a quorum is present.

How many votes are needed to approve each item?

At this year s annual meeting, stockholders will elect three (3) directors to serve a term of three years. In voting on the election of the directors, you may vote in favor of the nominees or withhold votes as to the nominees. There is no cumulative voting for the election of directors. Directors must be elected by a plurality of the votes entitled to be cast in the election of directors. This generally means that the nominee(s) receiving the greatest number of votes cast at the meeting will be elected. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of the election.

In voting on the ratification of the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm, you may vote in favor of the proposal, vote against the proposal, or abstain from voting. The ratification of Grant Thornton LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm will be decided by the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote thereon present in person or by proxy at the annual meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on determining whether the affirmative vote constitutes a majority of the shares entitled to vote thereon present or represented by proxy, although no broker non-votes are expected to exist in connection with this vote as ratification of the independent registered public accounting firm is considered a routine matter under applicable rules.

In voting to approve the amendment of the Omnibus Plan to increase the number of shares available for issuance by 1,750,000, you may vote in favor of the proposal, against the proposal, or abstain from voting. This proposal will be decided by the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present or represented by proxy at the annual meeting and entitled to vote on the matter. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on determining whether the affirmative vote constitutes a majority of the shares entitled to vote thereon present or represented by proxy.

The say on pay vote is only an advisory vote to the Board regarding the compensation of the Company s top executives. You may vote in favor of or vote against the Company s compensation system or you may abstain from voting. Approval of the Company s compensation system requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares entitled to vote thereon present in person or by proxy at the annual meeting. Abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on determining whether the affirmative vote constitutes a majority of the shares entitled to vote thereon present or represented by proxy. The Board will strongly consider the outcome of this vote in determining the compensation of top executives.

In order to minimize the number of broker non-votes, the Company encourages you to provide voting instructions to the organization that holds your shares by carefully following the instructions provided in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials.

How will voting on any other business be conducted?

We currently do not know of any business to be considered at the annual meeting other than the four proposals described in this proxy statement. If any other business is properly presented at the meeting, your signed proxy form gives authority to the named proxies to vote your shares on such matters, including any adjournment or postponement of the meeting, in their discretion.

Who will count the vote?

Representatives of Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc. will tabulate the votes and act as inspectors of election.

Where can I find the voting results of the annual meeting?

The preliminary voting results will be announced at the annual meeting. The final voting results will be tallied by the inspector of election and published within four business days via a Form 8-K current event filing following the conclusion of the annual meeting.

4

PROPOSAL 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Our authorized number of directors is presently fixed at eight (8), divided into three classes of three members in two classes and two members in the other class. Our directors are elected to serve three-year terms, so that the term of office of one class of directors expires at each annual meeting.

The Board of Directors has nominated the following individuals, each of whom is currently a director, for election as directors for terms expiring at our annual meeting in 2016 or until their respective successors have been elected and qualified:

Dr. Srikant M. Datar

Eileen O Shea Auen

Peter M. Schulte

If any of these nominees becomes unavailable for election, the accompanying proxy may be voted for a substitute, or in favor of holding a vacancy to be filled by the directors. We have no reason to believe that any nominee will be unavailable. The director nominees will be elected by a plurality of the votes entitled to be cast at the annual meeting. A plurality is generally defined as the excess of the votes cast in favor of a director nominee over those cast in favor of any other nominee. You may vote for up to the number of nominees named, and the nominees receiving the largest number of FOR votes will be elected to the director positions to be filled.

Each of our nominees and continuing directors is a seasoned business leader who contributes an array of experience, qualifications, attributes, and skills to the Board. The following information regarding each nominee and continuing director provides background information and a summary of some of each person s key qualifications to serve as a director. Please also see the chart below summarizing how each nominee and continuing director reflects Board selection criteria adopted by our Governance and Nominating Committee. The age indicated for each individual is as of December 31, 2012.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE FOR THE NOMINEES.

Nominees for Election as Director for a Term Expiring in 2016 Class I Directors

Dr. Srikant M. Datar, age 59, has served as a director of ICF International since July 2006. Dr. Datar is the Arthur Lowes Dickinson Professor at Harvard Business School. Dr. Datar is a Chartered Accountant and has been a professor of accounting and business administration at Harvard since July 1, 1996, previously serving as a professor at Stanford University and Carnegie Mellon University. Dr. Datar is a member of the board of directors of Novartis AG, a holding company organized under Swiss law and publicly traded on the SWX Swiss Stock Exchange and the NYSE, in the form of American Depositary Shares; of HCL Technologies Limited, a public company under Indian Law whose shares are publicly traded on the Mumbai Stock Exchange; and of Stryker Corporation, the shares of which are publicly traded on the NYSE. He has published papers in several leading academic journals and is the co-author of Rethinking the MBA: Business Education at a Crossroads. He has consulted with and done field-based research with many corporations and has presented his research to managers and executives in North and South America, Europe, Asia, Australia and Africa. Dr. Datar received gold medals upon his graduation from the Indian Institute of Management, Ahmedabad, and the Institute of Cost and Works Accountants of India. Dr. Datar received a Masters in Statistics and Economics and a Ph.D. in Business from Stanford University.

Selected Director Qualifications:

Service on boards of other international businesses, including as director of a leading global pharmaceutical company, director of a leading global medical technology company, and director of an Indian high-technology company

5

Substantial teaching and practical experience in strategy, implementation, accounting and related issues, having been a senior associate dean and a current professor of a leading U.S. university

Both academic and broad-based experience in strategy, finance, management and accounting

Eileen O Shea Auen, age 50, has served as a director of ICF International since March 2008. Ms. Auen has been the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of PMSI, Inc. since December 2008. In 2007, she was the head of Healthcare Management for Aetna. From 2005 to 2007, Ms. Auen was the Chief Executive Officer of APS Healthcare, Inc. (*APS Healthcare*). Prior to her role at APS Healthcare, Ms. Auen was a managing partner of Chapterhouse, LLC from 2004 to 2005; the President of Health Net of the Northeast from 2003 to 2004; and the President of the Southeast Region of Cigna Healthcare from 2000 to 2003. Ms. Auen received a Bachelor of Arts degree from Towson University and a Masters in Business Administration from the University of Virginia.

Selected	Director	Quali	fications:
seiecieu	Duector	Quuii	picanons.

Current and prior experience as a chief executive officer

Substantial expertise in healthcare

Meaningful experience in the services sector

Peter M. Schulte, age 55, has served as a director of ICF International since June 1999. Mr. Schulte is a Managing Partner, and was a founder in 1995, of the private equity firm CM Equity Partners, which invests in established middle market companies and manages private equity funds and investments through its management company, CM Equity Management, L.P. In addition, Mr. Schulte served as the President, Secretary, Chief Financial Officer and as a director of Federal Services Acquisition Corporation, a public special purpose acquisition company, and predecessor of ATS Corporation (*ATS*), which was a publicly traded information technology services firm serving U.S. federal, state, and local government agencies, from April 2005 until January 2007. Mr. Schulte continued to serve as a director of ATS Corporation until its merger with Salient Federal Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation, effective March 30, 2012. Related to his private equity investing activities, Mr. Schulte is a director of several companies, including: RGS Associates, Inc.; Preferred Systems Solutions, Inc.; Citizant, Inc.; and Xebec Global Corporation. Mr. Schulte received a Bachelor of Arts degree in Government from Harvard College and a Masters in Public and Private Management from the Yale School of Management.

Selected Director Qualifications:

Managing partner of the private equity firm that joined with management to purchase the Company in 1999

Significant participation in the oversight of the Company s growth and development since 1999

Substantial experience in leading and financing acquisitions in the government services sector

Experience on boards of other publicly held companies within the government services sector Directors Whose Term of Office Expires in 2014 Class II Directors

Dr. Edward H. Bersoff, age 70, has served as a director of ICF International since October 2003. Dr. Bersoff served as the Chairman of ATS Corporation, a former publicly traded information technology services firm located in Northern Virginia serving U.S. federal, state, and local government agencies until its merger with Salient Federal Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporation, effective March 30, 2012. Dr. Bersoff previously served as the President and Chief Executive Officer of ATS from January 2007 until January 2011, during which time ATS

completed three acquisitions in the federal services industry. Previously, he was chairman and founder of Greenwich Associates, a business advisory firm located in Northern Virginia that was formed in 2003. From November 2002 to June 2003, he was managing director of Quarterdeck Investment Partners, LLC, an investment banking firm, and Chairman of Re-route Corporation, a company that offers email

6

forwarding and address correction services. From February 1982 until November 2001, Dr. Bersoff was Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer of BTG, Inc. (*BTG*), a publicly traded information technology firm he founded in 1982. Under Dr. Bersoff s leadership, BTG completed six acquisitions in the federal services industry. In November 2001, BTG was acquired by The Titan Corporation (*Titan*), a NYSE listed company. Dr. Bersoff served as a director of Titan from February 2002 until August 2005 when Titan was sold. He also serves on the boards of a number of private companies. Dr. Bersoff holds A.B., M.S., and Ph.D. degrees in mathematics from New York University and is a graduate of the Harvard Business School s Owner/President Management Program. Dr. Bersoff is the former Rector of the Board of Visitors of Virginia Commonwealth University; a former Trustee of the VCU Medical Center; and a former Trustee of New York University. He currently serves as a Trustee and Chairman of Holy Cross Hospital.

Selected Director Qualifications:

Chief executive officer position with several publicly held companies

Very substantial experience in the government and commercial services sector

Experience on boards of other publicly held companies

Experience in leading acquisitions in the government services sector

Dr. Ernest J. Moniz, age 68, has served as a director of ICF International since June 2011. Dr. Moniz is the Cecil and Ida Green Professor of Physics and Engineering Systems, Director of the Energy Initiative, and Director of the Laboratory for Energy and Environment at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, where he has served on the faculty since 1973. Dr. Moniz served as Under Secretary of the Department of Energy (*DOE*) from October 1997 until January 2001. He is a member of President Obama s Council of Advisors on Science and Technology (*PCAST*) and of the Department of Defense Threat Reduction Advisory Committee. He recently served on the DOE Blue Ribbon Commission on America s Nuclear Future. Dr. Moniz is a member of the board of directors of American Science & Engineering, Inc., a public company provider of x-ray inspection systems, the shares of which are publicly traded on Nasdaq. Dr. Moniz received a Bachelor of Science degree summa cum laude in physics from Boston College, a doctorate in theoretical physics from Stanford University, and honorary doctorates from the University of Athens, the University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, and Michigan State University. Dr. Moniz is a Fellow of the American Association for the Advancement of Science, the Humboldt Foundation, and the American Physical Society and a member of the Council on Foreign Relations.

Selected Director Qualifications:

Substantial expertise in the energy field

Extensive experience within the government, particularly with regard to energy policy

Service on boards of other public companies

Directors Whose Term of Office Expires in 2015 Class III Directors

Cheryl W. Grisé, age 60, has served as a director of ICF International since September 2012. Prior to joining the Board, Ms. Grisé was executive vice president of Northeast Utilities, a public utility holding company, from December 2005 until her retirement in July 2007. Ms. Grisé served in various senior management positions at Northeast Utilities, after her employment in 1980, including President-Utility Group and chief executive officer of all Northeast Utilities operating subsidiaries. Ms. Grisé was a director of Dana Corporation (now known as Dana Holding Corporation) from December 2002 until January 2008 and she currently serves on the boards of MetLife, Inc., a major multi-line insurance carrier (where she is lead director), PulteGroup, Inc. (formerly known as Pulte Homes, Inc.), a large commercial home builder, and

Pall Corporation, a manufacturer of fluid purification devices. She is also a member of the board of Kingswood-Oxford School and a trustee emeritus of the University of Connecticut Foundation. Ms. Grisé received her B.A. in Education from the

7

University of North Carolina and her J.D. from Thomas Jefferson School of Law and completed the Executive Management Program at Yale University School of Organization and Management.

Selected Director Qualifications:

Director experience serving on boards of other public companies

Demonstrated business and financial acumen and experience

Extensive management experience in the electric and natural gas utility industry

Sudhakar Kesavan, age 58, has served as a director of ICF International since June 1999 and serves as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ICF International and its wholly owned subsidiary, ICF Consulting Group, Inc. (*ICF Consulting*). In 1997, Mr. Kesavan was named President of ICF Consulting when it was a subsidiary of ICF Kaiser (*Kaiser*). In 1999, ICF Consulting was divested from Kaiser and became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company through a joint effort of the management of ICF Consulting and CM Equity Partners. Mr. Kesavan also currently serves on the board of directors of ABM Industries, Inc., a NYSE listed company. Mr. Kesavan received his Master of Science degree from the Technology and Policy Program at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, his postgraduate diploma in management from the Indian Institute of Management, Ahmedabad, and his Bachelor of Technology degree (chemical engineering) from the Indian Institute of Technology, Kanpur. Mr. Kesavan is the Executive Vice Chair of the Northern Virginia Technology Council. He also serves as Board Member Emeritus on the Board of the Rainforest Alliance, a New York-based non-profit environmental organization.

Selected Director Qualifications:

Chief Executive Officer since the Company was purchased in 1999

Chief Executive Officer who has overseen the Company s very substantial growth while maintaining a stable, professional workforce

Experience leading both organic growth and acquisition activities

S. Lawrence Kocot, age 53, is currently a Visiting Fellow in the Economic Studies Program and the Deputy Director of the Engelberg Center for Health Care Reform at the Brookings Institution. Mr. Kocot is also Senior Counsel at Dentons, US LLP. From 2004 to 2007, Mr. Kocot served as a Senior Advisor to the Administrator at the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. In this capacity, Mr. Kocot was involved in a wide range of health care policy issues and operations related to Medicare and Medicaid. Notably, he was a key member of the management and operations team responsible for the national launch and operation of the Medicare Prescription Drug Benefit (Part D). Prior to his federal government service, Mr. Kocot served for nearly a decade as senior vice president and general counsel at the National Association of Chain Drug Stores (*NACDS*). Before joining NACDS, Mr. Kocot was active in the management of small businesses, including a startup pharmacy benefits management company. Additionally, Mr. Kocot was a Fellow in International Security Studies at the Center for Strategic and International Studies (*CSIS*), and an adjunct fellow at CSIS for several years thereafter. From 2002 to 2012, Mr. Kocot served as a Member of Virginia s Commonwealth Health Research Board (Chairman, 2005 to 2008; Vice Chairman, 2003 to 2005). Mr. Kocot was interim President and CEO and is currently a member of the board of directors of the Partnership for a Healthier America. Mr. Kocot received his Bachelor s and M.P.A. degrees from the University of Massachusetts at Amherst and his J.D. and LL.M. degrees from the Georgetown University Law Center.

Selected Director Qualifications:

Substantial experience in advising and representing both private and governmental entities

Significant expertise in the healthcare sector

Current and prior experience as a Board member

8

The Governance and Nominating Committee maintains, and periodically updates, non-exclusive Board selection guidelines to assist the committee in evaluating candidates for the Board. These guidelines, and an indication of which of the guideline criteria are particularly satisfied by each nominee and continuing director, are summarized below:

Guideline Criteria	Eileen O Shea Auen	Edward H. Bersoff	Srikant M. Datar	Cheryl W. Grisé	Sudhakar Kesavan	S. Lawrence Kocot	Ernest J. Moniz	Peter M. Schulte
Reputation for integrity, honesty and adherence to high ethical standards	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Demonstrated business and financial acumen and experience	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Willingness and ability to contribute positively to the collegial decision-making process of the Board	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Other professional experience/familiarity within the government contracting industry		X			X	X	X	X
Prominence within professional discipline and/or industry	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Commitment to attend and participate in Board and Board Committee meetings regularly	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
No conflict of interest that would impair ability to represent the interests of all Company stockholders and fulfill responsibilities of a director	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Contribute to Board diversity (in terms of race, gender, national origin, etc.)	X		X	X	X			
Strengths and experience that contribute to ability to serve effectively on one or more Board Committees (audit, compensation, governance and nominating)	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Operational experience serving as the CEO, COO, CFO or in a similar position with a significant services business	X	X		X	X			X
Experience in leading mergers and acquisitions	X	X		X	X			X
Experience in integrating acquired businesses after mergers and acquisitions		X		X	X			
Familiarity with capital markets, financing transaction strategy, and investor relations	X	X	X	X	X			X
Experience identifying, evaluating and managing corporate risk	X	X	X	X	X			X
Director experience serving on boards of other public companies		X	X	X	X		X	X

PROPOSAL 2 RATIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT

The Audit Committee has appointed Grant Thornton LLP (*Grant Thornton*) to serve as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2013 and requests that stockholders confirm such appointment. Grant Thornton audited our consolidated financial statements for 2012. Representatives of Grant Thornton will be present at the annual meeting, will have an opportunity to make a statement if they so desire and will be available to respond to appropriate questions by stockholders. Ratification of the appointment of Grant Thornton as our independent registered public accounting firm requires a majority of the votes entitled to vote thereon present in person or by proxy at the annual meeting. If our stockholders do not ratify Grant Thornton as our independent registered public accounting firm, the Audit Committee will reconsider its decision. The Audit Committee may, in its discretion, retain Grant Thornton or another independent registered public accounting firm without re-submitting the matter to the Company s stockholders. Even if stockholders vote in favor of the appointment, the Audit Committee may, in its discretion, direct the appointment of different independent auditors at any time during the year if it determines that such a change would be in the best interests of the Company and stockholders.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE **FOR** THE RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF GRANT THORNTON LLP AS OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR 2013.

DESCRIPTION OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth the fees incurred for services provided by Grant Thornton for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2011 and 2012:

	2012	2011
Audit Fees	\$ 959,700	\$ 933,873
Audit-Related Fees		
Tax Fees	8,677	21,204
All Other Fees		7,709
Total	\$ 968,377	\$ 962,786

Audit Fees

These are fees for professional services rendered by Grant Thornton for the audits of our annual consolidated financial statements, the audit of internal controls over financial reporting, the review of consolidated financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and the audit of our compliance with OMB Circular A-133.

Audit-Related Fees

Audit-related fees comprise fees for professional services rendered by Grant Thornton that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our consolidated financial statements and internal controls over financial reporting that are not reported in Audit Fees. There were no audit-related fees rendered by Grant Thornton in 2012 or 2011 that meet the above category description.

Tax Fees

These are fees for professional services rendered by Grant Thornton with respect to tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning. Additional professional services with respect to tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning were performed by other tax services providers.

All Other Fees

These are fees for professional services rendered by Grant Thornton for transaction related issues. There were no fees rendered by Grant Thornton in 2012 that meet the above category description.

Pre-Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services

The Audit Committee is authorized by its charter to pre-approve all audit and permitted non-audit services to be performed by our independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee reviews and approves the independent registered public accounting firm s retention to perform audit services, including the associated fees. The Audit Committee also evaluates other known potential engagements of the independent registered public accounting firm, including the scope of the proposed work and the proposed fees, and approves or rejects each service, taking into account whether the services are permissible under applicable law and the possible impact of each non-audit service on the independent registered public accounting firm s independence from management. At subsequent meetings, the Audit Committee will receive updates on the services actually provided by the independent registered public accounting firm, and management may present additional services for approval. The Audit Committee has delegated to the Chair of the Audit Committee the authority to evaluate and approve engagements on behalf of the Audit Committee in the event that a need arises for pre-approval between Audit Committee meetings. If the Chair so approves any such engagements, he will report that approval to the full Audit Committee at its next meeting.

Our Audit Committee has reviewed all of the fees described above, and believes that such fees are compatible with maintaining the independence of Grant Thornton.

11

PROPOSAL 3 AMENDMENT TO THE 2010 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN TO INCREASE THE NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR ISSUANCE

Proposed Amendment

On March 1, 2013, the Company s Board of Directors adopted an amendment (the *Amendment*) to the Omnibus Plan, subject to stockholder approval at the Company s 2013 annual meeting. The proposed Amendment would adjust Section 4.1 of the Omnibus Plan to increase the shares available for issuance under the plan by 1,750,000 shares. The other material terms of the Omnibus Plan would not change.

Reasons for the Amendment

The Board believes that in order to attract and retain qualified non-employee directors and senior management personnel, it is necessary for the Company to have the ability to grant shares of the Company s common stock in the form of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and any other stock awards permitted under the Omnibus Plan. It is the judgment of the Board that the Amendment is in the best interests of the Company and our stockholders.

As approved by our stockholders at the Company s 2010 annual meeting, the Omnibus Plan provides for the issuance of 2,676,186 shares of the Company s common stock (which included those awards from the Company s prior 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan that were subsumed into the Omnibus Plan), of which 351,604 shares remain available for future grants as of April 8, 2013. If the Amendment is not approved by stockholders, the Omnibus Plan will continue in effect without the Amendment and the Company will not have sufficient shares available to issue further grants of the Company s common stock in fiscal year 2013 beyond such amount. If the Amendment is approved by stockholders, Section 4.1 of the Omnibus Plan shall be amended to increase the shares available for issuance under the Omnibus Plan by 1,750,000 shares from 1,800,000 to 3,550,000 (for a total of an aggregate 4,426,186 shares, which includes shares that remained available under the 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan when the Omnibus Plan was initially adopted). Approval of the Amendment requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of the Company s outstanding common stock present, in person or by proxy, and entitled to vote at the annual meeting. If approved by the stockholders, the Amendment will take effect on June 7, 2013.

Summary of the Omnibus Plan

The Omnibus Plan was effective on March 8, 2010 and was approved by the stockholders at the Company s annual meeting on June 4, 2010. The full text of the Omnibus Plan, as proposed to be amended, is attached as <u>Exhibit A</u> to this proxy statement, and the following description is qualified in its entirety by reference to that exhibit.

The principal purpose of the Omnibus Plan is to promote the success and enhance the stockholder value of the Company by linking the personal interests of members of the Board and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries to those of Company stockholders and by providing such individuals with an incentive for performance to generate returns to Company stockholders. The Omnibus Plan provides for the granting of options, stock appreciation rights (*SARs*), restricted stock, restricted stock units (*RSUs*), performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards, and other stock-based awards to all officers and key employees of the Company (including employees who are members of the Board and employees who are members of senior management of entities acquired by the Company) and non-employee directors. The Omnibus Plan does not permit the repricing of options or the granting of discounted options, and does not contain an evergreen or similar provision. The Omnibus Plan will remain in effect until March 8, 2020, unless terminated earlier by the Board or the Compensation Committee.

12

Dilution

The Board anticipates that the 1,750,000 additional shares being requested pursuant to the Amendment will be sufficient to provide projected equity incentives under the Omnibus Plan for two to three years, based on the burn rate to which the Company has committed, discussed under *Burn Rate* below.

The new shares would represent approximately 8.9% of the Company s approximately 19.6 million diluted common shares outstanding as of April 8, 2013. As of the close of business on April 8, 2013, the Company s common stock was trading at \$26.53 per share.

The Board believes that this would represent a reasonable amount of potential dilution given the strong incentive it also believes will be provided to employees to increase the value of the Company for all stockholders. Furthermore, our goal is to mitigate the dilution from the stock issued with the share repurchase program we commenced on November 4, 2011, authorizing the Company to purchase up to \$35 million of shares of the Company s common stock in the open market from time to time. To date, we have repurchased 469,963 shares of common stock for an aggregate cost of approximately \$10,461,516 pursuant to the program. The average fair value of the common stock purchased was \$22.24 per share. The approximate dollar value of shares that may yet be purchased pursuant to the program is \$24,538,484. The timing of the share repurchases under the program is at the discretion of the Company and will depend on a variety of factors, including market conditions and bank approvals and may be suspended or discontinued at any time. The share repurchase program expires November 4, 2013.

Overhang

Overhang is the sum of (a) shares available for grant under the Omnibus Plan <u>plus</u> (b) the number of options outstanding <u>plus</u> (c) the number of unvested full value awards <u>divided</u> by (d) the total number of common shares outstanding.

Our overhang at December 31, 2012 was 12.8%. Including the new shares, the potential overhang from all stock incentives available to employees would be approximately 21.7%.

Burn Rate

Burn rate measures the annual usage of shares for incentive purposes. It is the total shares issued in the fiscal year under the Omnibus Plan <u>divided</u> by the total common shares outstanding. The three-year average (2010 to 2012) burn rate was 6.34%. As discussed further below, to calculate this burn rate, we apply a multiplier of 2.5 to each award of full value shares (so an award of 100 shares would be counted as 250 shares).

Burn Rate Commitment

We commit to cap our average annual burn rate over the three-year period covering fiscal years 2013, 2014 and 2015. For this purpose, burn rate is the number of shares of our common stock subject to stock awards granted in a fiscal year (or in the case of performance shares, the number of shares earned) divided by the weighted average number of shares of our common stock outstanding (basic) during our fiscal year. For purposes of calculating the number of shares subject to stock awards granted in a fiscal year, (i) awards of stock options and SARs will count as one share and (ii) full value awards will count as 2.5 shares. Awards that are assumed or substituted in acquisitions will be excluded from our burn rate calculations.

We have chosen to cap our average burn rate over fiscal years 2013, 2014 and 2015 at the Institutional Shareholder Services (*ISS*) suggested burn rate cap for 2013 for the Company s current assigned Global Industry Classification Standard (*GICS*) code 2020 (Commercial & Professional Services) of 4.74%. If the Company s GICS code should change over the next three years, we commit to stay within the ISS suggested burn rate cap for that assigned GICS code. For calculating the burn rate, we have chosen a 2.5x multiple for full value awards based on ISS methodology and stock price volatility calculation as of December 31, 2012.

Administration and Duration

The Omnibus Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee has the authority to interpret the Omnibus Plan, and to make any other determinations it believes necessary or advisable for the administration of the Omnibus Plan. Subject to the terms of the Omnibus Plan, the Compensation Committee may determine, among other items: the selection of those to be granted awards under the Omnibus Plan out of those eligible for participation; the level of participation of each participant; when and how each award under the Omnibus Plan shall be granted; and what type or combination of types of awards shall be granted. Each member of the Compensation Committee must be a non-employee director within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the *Exchange Act*), an outside director within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the *Code*) and meet the requirements of Nasdaq Rule 5605(d)(2)(A). Currently, the Compensation Committee is comprised of three independent directors who fit each of these definitions. The Compensation Committee may delegate any or all of its authority to administer the Omnibus Plan as it deems appropriate, to one or more of its members; to one or more officers of the Company; or to one or more agents or advisors. By resolution, the Compensation Committee may authorize one or more officers of the Company to (i) designate employees to be award recipients under the Omnibus Plan; or (ii) determine the size of any such awards; provided, however, that (x) the Compensation Committee shall not delegate such responsibilities to any officer for awards granted to an employee who is an executive officer; (y) the resolution sets forth the total number of shares such officer may grant in awards; and (z) the officer shall periodically report to the Compensation Committee regarding the nature and scope of the awards granted pursuant to such delegated authority.

Eligibility

All officers and key employees of the Company (including employees who are members of the Board and employees who are members of senior management of entities acquired by the Company) and its affiliates, as well as the Company s non-employee directors, are eligible to participate in the Omnibus Plan. For 2012, 332 individuals were eligible to participate in the Omnibus Plan, including 5 current executive officers, 1 former executive officer, 7 non-employee directors and 319 other key employees. Awards were made under the Omnibus Plan to 318 individuals, which included the 5 current executive officers, 1 former executive officer and 7 non-employee directors, as well as 305 other key employees. From time to time, the Compensation Committee will determine who will be granted awards and the number of shares granted, subject to the limits described in *Limit on Awards to Any One Individual* below.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding grants of equity awards made under the Omnibus Plan during fiscal year 2012 for each of the following: (i) each of the named executive officers; (ii) all current executive officers of the Company as a group; (iii) all current directors who are not executive officers as a group; and (iv) all employees, including all current officers who are not executive officers, as a group.

14

2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan						
Name and Position	Dollar Value of Stock Options ⁽¹⁾	Total Number of Stock Options	Dollar Value of Restricted Stock Units ⁽¹⁾	Total Number of Shares Underlying Restricted Stock Units	Dollar Value of Restricted Stock ⁽³⁾	Total Number of Shares of Restricted Stock
Sudhakar Kesavan, Chairman and						
Chief Executive Officer	\$ 679,878	68,744	\$ 679,862	26,495	\$	
James C. Morgan, Executive Vice						
President and Chief Financial Officer	125,061 ⁽²⁾	15,104	124,978(2)	5,686		
John Wasson, President and Chief						
Operating Officer	357,751	36,173	357,752	13,942		
Sandra B. Murray, Former Interim						
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice	04.025	0.407	04.027	2.275		
President Fig. 17. Decident	84,035	8,497	84,037	3,275		
Ellen Glover, Executive Vice President	103,479	10,463	103,461	4,032		
Isabel S. Reiff , Executive Vice						
President	94,351	9,540	94,352	3,677		
Executive Group	1,444,555	148,521	1,444,442	57,107		
Non-Executive Director Group					809,934	36,139
Non-Executive Officer Employee						
Group	543,110	54,915	8,086,241	317,761		

- (1) With the exception of Mr. Morgan, calculations are based on the closing stock price of \$25.66 on the date of grant, March 19, 2012.
- (2) Based on the closing stock price of \$21.98 on the date of grant, August 7, 2012.
- (3) Based on the closing stock price of \$22.58 on June 1, 2012 (the date of grant) with respect to 31,884 shares and \$21.15 on November 7, 2012 (the date of grant) with respect to 4,255 shares.

Types of Awards

Cash-Based Awards

Cash-based awards granted under the Omnibus Plan entitle each participant to receive a specified payment amount or payment range, in the form of cash or shares of common stock or other equity awards, as determined at the time of the award. The Compensation Committee may establish performance goals in its discretion and, to the extent the Compensation Committee exercises its discretion to establish performance goals, the number and/or value of cash-based awards that will be paid to the participant will depend on the extent to which the performance goals are met.

Stock Awards

The Omnibus Plan provides for the granting of restricted stock, RSUs, performance shares, performance units, and other stock awards. A performance award may include any of the performance measures, or a combination thereof, set forth in the Omnibus Plan attached as Exhibit A to this proxy statement. Performance goals may be based on the achievement of specified levels of Company performance (or performance of an applicable subsidiary, affiliate or unit of the Company, or any combination thereof) under one or more of the performance measures set forth in the Omnibus Plan. Performance goals may be defined in absolute terms or measured relative to the performance of companies or against a predefined index that the Compensation Committee deems appropriate, or if utilizing the performance measure of share price, a comparison to various

stock market indices. Performance goals may be adjusted for material business events. The performance goals will be set by the Compensation Committee within the time period prescribed by, and will otherwise comply with the requirements of, Section 162(m) of the Code.

Stock Options

Stock options granted under the Omnibus Plan may be either non-qualified stock options or incentive stock options (*ISOs*) qualifying under Section 422 of the Code. Under the Code, the aggregate fair market value (determined at the grant date) of the stock with respect to which ISOs are first exercisable by any individual during any calendar year shall not exceed \$100,000. Stock options in excess of this limit are treated as non-qualified stock options. The stock option price may not be less than the fair market value of the stock on the date the stock option is granted. The stock option price is payable in cash or, if the grant provides, in common stock or other equity instruments. The Compensation Committee shall determine the expiration of stock options, although no stock option may be exercisable later than the tenth anniversary date of the grant. The Compensation Committee determines the terms of each stock option award at the time of grant.

Stock Appreciation Rights

SARs may, but need not, be granted in conjunction with options or other equity awards. The Compensation Committee determines the terms of each SAR at the time of the grant. Any freestanding SAR (that is, a SAR not granted in conjunction with another equity award) may not be granted at less than the fair market value of the stock on the date the SAR is granted and cannot have a term longer than ten years. Distributions to the recipient may be made in common stock, in cash, or in a combination of both as determined by the Compensation Committee at the time of grant.

Transferability

Unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee, awards granted under the Omnibus Plan may not be transferred except by will or the laws of descent and distribution or, subject to the consent of the Compensation Committee, pursuant to a domestic relations order entered into by a court of competent jurisdiction. During an employee s lifetime, any options or awards may be exercised only by the employee.

Certain Adjustments

In the event of a corporate event or transaction, the Compensation Committee, in its sole discretion, in order to prevent unintended dilution or enlargement of a participant s rights under the Omnibus Plan, may substitute or adjust, among other things:

the number and kind of shares that may be issued under the Omnibus Plan or under particular forms of awards;

the number and kind of shares subject to outstanding awards;

the option or grant price applicable to outstanding awards;

the annual award limits applicable under the Omnibus Plan; and

any other value determinations applicable to outstanding awards.

A corporate event or transaction (including, but not limited to, a change in the shares or capitalization of the Company) encompasses a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, separation, partial or complete liquidation, stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, split up, spin-off, or other distribution of stock or property of the Company, combination of shares, exchange of shares, dividend in-kind, or other like change in capital structure or distribution (other than normal cash dividends) to stockholders of the Company, or any similar corporate event or transaction.

16

Amendment and Revocation

The Compensation Committee or Board may amend or terminate the Omnibus Plan or an outstanding award agreement. However, an amendment will be contingent upon stockholder approval to the extent required by law or the rules of any stock exchange on which the Company s stock is traded. The Omnibus Plan prohibits the terms of outstanding awards from being amended to reduce the exercise price of outstanding options or SARs and prohibits without stockholder approval the cancellation of outstanding options or SARs in exchange for cash, other awards, or new options or SARs with an exercise price that is less than the exercise price of the original options or SARs.

Factors to Consider

Key Component of Compensation

Incentive compensation is a key component of our total compensation package. Attracting, retaining, and motivating talented staff is critical to achieving our strategic and operating goals, including our goal of increasing stockholder value. We believe that grants of equity and other incentives based on Company performance allow us to remain competitive in the marketplace, enabling us to recruit, retain, and motivate high-caliber talent dedicated to the Company s long-term growth and success.

Key Provisions of the Omnibus Plan

The Omnibus Plan includes a number of provisions designed to serve stockholders interests and facilitate effective corporate governance, including the following:

No Stock Option Repricing/Exchange

The Omnibus Plan does not permit the repricing of options or the exchange of underwater options for cash or other awards without stockholder approval.

No Discounted Awards

Awards having an exercise price will not be granted with an exercise price less than the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant.

No Evergreen Provision

The Omnibus Plan does not contain an evergreen or similar provision. The Omnibus Plan fixes the number of shares available for future grants and does not provide for any increase based on increases in the number of outstanding shares of common stock (other than through stock splits or similar events).

Deductibility of Awards

The Omnibus Plan contains provisions to meet the requirements for deductibility of executive compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code, and such provisions include qualifying payments under the Omnibus Plan as performance-based compensation.

Limit on Awards to Any One Individual

The number of stock options and SARs that may be granted to any one individual during any Plan Year (as defined in the Omnibus Plan) may not exceed 600,000 shares. The number of performance shares that may be granted to an individual during any Plan Year may not exceed 500,000 shares (if payable in shares) and the maximum aggregate number of performance units that an individual may receive in a Plan Year may not exceed

the value of \$6,000,000 if payable in cash. The number of restricted stock and/or RSU awards that may be granted to an individual during any Plan Year may not exceed 250,000 shares. Cash-based awards may not exceed \$6,000,000 to an individual during any Plan Year. All other stock-based awards may not exceed 250,000 shares to an individual during any Plan Year.

Share Counting

The following factors affect the number of shares as to which equity awards may be granted under the Omnibus Plan:

Any shares that are subject to awards of stock options or SARs are counted as using one share available under the Omnibus Plan for every one share delivered under the awards.

Any shares that are subject to equity awards that are not stock options or SARs are counted as using 1.93 shares available under the Omnibus Plan for every one share delivered under those awards.

Any shares related to awards under the Omnibus Plan that terminate by expiration, forfeiture, cancellation or otherwise without the issuance of the shares, are settled in cash in lieu of shares, or are exchanged for awards not involving shares (subject to the approval of the Compensation Committee), will be available again for grant under the Omnibus Plan.

The following shares may not again be made available for grant in respect of awards under the Omnibus Plan: (i) shares not issued or delivered as a result of the net settlement of an outstanding stock option or SAR; (ii) shares delivered to or withheld by the Company to pay the stock option or grant price of, or the withholding taxes with respect to, an award; and (iii) shares repurchased on the open market with the proceeds from the payment of the option price of a stock option.

U.S. Tax Treatment of Options and Awards

Incentive Stock Options

An ISO results in no taxable income to the optionee or deduction to the Company at the time it is granted or exercised. However, the excess of the fair market value of the shares acquired over the option price is an item of adjustment in computing the alternative minimum taxable income of the optionee. If the optionee holds the stock received as a result of an exercise of an ISO for at least two years from the date of the grant and one year from the date of exercise, then the gain realized on disposition of the stock is treated as a long-term capital gain. If the shares are disposed of prior to the end of this period, however (i.e., a disqualifying disposition), then the optionee will include in income, as compensation for the year of the disposition, an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the shares upon exercise of the option over the option price (or, if less, the excess of the amount realized upon disposition over the option price). In that event, the excess, if any, of the sale price over the fair market value on the date of exercise will be a short-term capital gain. In addition, the Company will be entitled to a deduction, in the year of such a disposition, for the amount includible in the optionee s income as compensation. The optionee s basis in the shares acquired upon exercise of an ISO is equal to the option price paid, plus any amount includible in his or her income as a result of a disqualifying disposition.

Non-Qualified Stock Options

A non-qualified stock option results in no taxable income to the optionee or deduction to the Company at the time it is granted. An optionee exercising such an option will, at that time, realize compensation income taxable at ordinary income tax rates in the amount of the difference between the then market value of the shares and the option price. Subject to the applicable provisions of the Code, a deduction for federal income tax purposes will be allowable to the Company in the year of exercise in an amount equal to the taxable compensation realized by the optionee.

Table of Contents

32

The optionee s basis in such shares is equal to the sum of the option price plus the amount includible in his or her income as compensation upon exercise. Any gain (or loss) upon subsequent disposition of the shares will be a long-term or short-term gain (or loss), depending upon the holding period of the shares.

If a non-qualified option is exercised by tendering previously owned shares of the Company s common stock in payment of the option price, then, instead of the treatment described above, the following will apply: a number of new shares equal to the number of previously owned shares tendered will be considered to have been received in a tax-free exchange; the optionee s basis and holding period for such number of new shares will be equal to the basis and holding period of the previously owned shares exchanged. The optionee will have compensation income taxable at ordinary income tax rates equal to the fair market value on the date of exercise of the number of new shares received in excess of such number of exchanged shares; the optionee s basis in such excess shares will be equal to the amount of such compensation income; and the holding period in such shares will begin on the date of exercise.

Stock Appreciation Rights

Generally, the recipient of a freestanding SAR will not recognize taxable income at the time the SAR is granted. Upon the exercise of a SAR, if an employee receives the appreciation inherent in the SAR in cash, the cash will be taxed as ordinary income to the employee at the time it is received. If an employee receives the appreciation inherent in the SAR in stock, the spread between the then current market value and the grant price will be taxed as ordinary income to the employee at the time such stock is received.

In general, there will be no federal income tax deduction allowed to the Company upon the grant or termination of SARs. However, upon the exercise of a SAR, the Company will be entitled to a deduction equal to the amount of ordinary income the recipient is required to recognize as a result of the exercise.

Restricted Stock/RSU Awards/Performance Awards

No income will be recognized at the time of grant by the recipient of a restricted stock, RSU, or performance award if such award is subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. Generally, at the time the substantial risk of forfeiture terminates with respect to a stock award, the then fair market value of the stock will constitute ordinary income to the employee. Subject to the applicable provisions of the Code, a deduction for federal income tax purposes will be allowable to the Company in an amount equal to the compensation realized by the employee.

Tax Treatment of Awards to Non-Employee Directors and to Employees Outside of the United States

The grant and exercise of options and awards under the Omnibus Plan to non-employee directors and to employees outside of the United States may be taxed on a different basis.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The table below sets forth the following information as of December 31, 2012 for all equity plans previously approved by our stockholders and all equity compensation plans not previously approved by our stockholders:

The number of securities to be issued upon the exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights;

The weighted-average exercise price of such outstanding options, warrants and rights; and

Other than securities to be issued upon the exercise of such outstanding options, warrants and rights, the number of securities remaining available for future issuance under the plans.

19

	Number of securities to be issued upon the exercise of outstanding options, warrants and	Weighted-average exercise price of such outstanding options, warrants	re fo i und (6 s re	Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under the plans (excluding securities reflected in column	
	rights	and rights		(a))	
Plan Category	(a)	(b)		(c)	
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders	$2,676,186^{(1)}$		\$	978,415	
Equity compensation plans not approved by security					
holders					
Total	2,676,186		\$	978,415	

⁽¹⁾ Consists of outstanding stock option and restricted stock unit awards under the Omnibus Plan, which includes those awards from the 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan that were subsumed into the Omnibus Plan.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE **FOR** THE APPROVAL OF THE AMENDMENT TO THE 2010 OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PLAN.

PROPOSAL 4 ADVISORY VOTE REGARDING ICF INTERNATIONAL S OVERALL PAY-FOR-PERFORMANCE EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION PROGRAM

In June of 2011, the Board of Directors approved a resolution providing that ICF International would hold an annual stockholder advisory vote on executive compensation, as advised by ICF International s stockholders at the 2011 annual meeting. Pursuant to that resolution, this proposal, commonly known as a Say on Pay proposal, gives you as a stockholder the opportunity to endorse or not endorse ICF International s executive compensation program through the following resolution:

Resolved, that the stockholders approve ICF International s overall pay-for-performance executive compensation program, as described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the compensation tables and the related narratives and other materials in this Proxy Statement.

Approval of the Say on Pay proposal requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes entitled to vote thereon present in person or by proxy at the annual meeting.

The Compensation Committee and the Board believe that the Company s executive compensation program, as described in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and other sections noted in the resolution, reflects a pay-for-performance culture at ICF International that is rooted in our values. The Compensation Committee and the Board believe that the executive compensation program is rational and effective in that it aligns the interests of the executives with both the short-term and long-term interests of stockholders, while reducing incentives for unnecessary and excessive risk taking.

In making a decision, the Board asks that stockholders consider the following:

ICF International s executive compensation program is incentive based and reflects a pay-for-performance culture.

ICF International s executive compensation program relies heavily on stock-based awards vesting over a period of time restricted stock units vesting over a period of four years and non-qualified stock options vesting over a period of three years.

ICF International offers only limited perquisites.

In addition, at ICF International s 2012 annual meeting, 91% of the votes cast on the Say on Pay proposal were voted in favor of the Company s executive compensation program. The Compensation Committee and the Board believe this affirms the stockholders support of ICF International s approach to executive compensation.

In accordance with applicable law, this vote is advisory, meaning it will serve as a recommendation to the Board, but will not be binding. The Compensation Committee of the Board will seriously consider the outcome of this vote when determining future executive compensation arrangements.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE **FOR** THE ADVISORY VOTE REGARDING ICF INTERNATIONAL S OVERALL PAY-FOR-PERFORMANCE EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION PROGRAM.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND BOARD MATTERS

The Board of Directors

Our Board of Directors has four regularly scheduled meetings per year and special meetings are called as the need arises. These meetings are usually held at our headquarters in Fairfax, Virginia. The Board met six times during 2012, including once in a Special Joint Meeting with the Audit Committee. Directors are expected to attend Board meetings, our annual stockholders meeting, and the meetings of the committees on which they serve. During 2012, each director attended at least 75% of the total meetings of the Board and those committees on which he or she served. Each director attended our annual meeting of stockholders held in 2012, with the exception of Ms. Grisé, who was not appointed until after the annual meeting of stockholders occurred, and Mr. Jacks, who was unable to attend and, like Mr. Feldt, did not stand for re-election at the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

Our Board of Directors has established a set of Corporate Governance Guidelines that addresses such matters as director qualifications, director nominations, Board composition, director meetings, Board committees, and other matters. The Board believes such guidelines, which are reviewed from time to time, are appropriate for the Company in its effort to maintain best practices as to corporate governance.

Director Independence

The Board has affirmatively determined that Mses. Eileen O Shea Auen and Cheryl W. Grisé, Drs. Edward H. Bersoff, Srikant M. Datar and Ernest J. Moniz, and Messrs. S. Lawrence Kocot and Peter M. Schulte, are independent directors in accordance with the requirements of Nasdaq and the rules of the SEC. We believe we comply with all applicable requirements of the SEC and Nasdaq relating to director independence and the composition of the committees of our Board of Directors.

Board Leadership Structure; Lead Independent Director

The Board believes that having a unified Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is appropriate and in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders. The Board believes that combining the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer roles provides the following advantages:

the Chief Executive Officer is the director most familiar with the Company s business and industry and is best situated to lead Board discussions on important matters affecting ICF International;

combining the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer positions creates a firm link between management and the Board and promotes the development and implementation of corporate strategy; and

combining the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer contributes to a more efficient and effective Board without affecting the independence of the Board.

The Board of Directors believes, when there is a combined Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, that it is in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders to designate a lead director who is an independent director and, among other duties: presides over executive sessions of the independent directors; consults with the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer regarding scheduling and agendas for Board meetings; chairs Board meetings in the Chairman s absence; acts as a liaison between the independent directors and management; meets with any director whom the lead director deems is not adequately performing his or her duties as a member of the Board or any committee; consults with the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on matters relating to corporate governance and Board performance; and leads the deliberation and action by the Board or a Board committee regarding any offer, proposal, or other solicitation or opportunity involving a possible acquisition or other change in control of the Company. Dr. Bersoff has served as our lead director from June 5, 2008 to the present.

Each of the directors other than Mr. Kesavan is independent, and the Board believes that the independent directors provide effective oversight of management. Moreover, in addition to feedback provided during the course of Board meetings, the independent directors have regular executive sessions over which the lead director presides. The Company believes that this approach effectively encourages full engagement of all directors in executive sessions. Following an executive session of the independent directors, the lead director acts as a liaison between the independent directors and the Chairman concerning any specific feedback or issues, provides the Chairman with input regarding agenda items for Board and committee meetings, and coordinates with the Chairman regarding information to be provided to the independent directors in performing their duties. The Board has complete access to the Company s management team, and the Board and its committees regularly receive reports from management on the Company s business affairs and the issues it faces.

The charter of the Governance and Nominating Committee calls for the annual review of the lead director position. At the Board meeting on June 1, 2012, the Company s Governance and Nominating Committee considered whether the Board s leadership structure, which includes a lead director and Mr. Kesavan serving as both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, should be changed. Based on the Company s favorable experience with this Board leadership structure and the factors outlined above, the Committee concluded that the current leadership structure serves the Company well and there is no need to alter that structure at the present time. Both the Governance and Nominating Committee and the full Board re-affirmed the appointment of Dr. Bersoff as the Board s lead director.

The Board believes that its programs for overseeing risk, as described under Risk Oversight below, would be effective under a variety of leadership frameworks and, therefore, do not materially affect its choice of structure.

Risk Oversight

Our business is subject to various types of risk. Some of the Company's most significant risks are outlined in our 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K under Item 1A, Risk Factors. Our Board oversees our risk management processes that are implemented by management, including ensuring that necessary steps are taken to foster a culture of risk-adjusted decision-making throughout our organization. Each of our directors other than Mr. Kesavan is independent, and the Board believes that this independence provides effective oversight of management. The Board as a whole regularly reviews information and reports from members of senior management on areas of material risk, including risks related to the markets served by the Company and contract execution risks. The Audit Committee reviews and evaluates the Company's overall risk profile, and the procedures and policies implemented by management to identify and manage such risks. The Compensation Committee is responsible for overseeing the management of risks relating to our compensation plans and arrangements. The Governance and Nominating Committee manages risks associated with the independence of the Board of Directors and potential conflicts of interest. Our former ad hoc Mergers & Acquisitions Committee (dissolved April 9, 2013) considered the risks associated with potential acquisitions; presently, the full Board fulfills this role.

Board Committees

The Board has three primary committees: Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Governance and Nominating Committee, each composed entirely of independent directors as defined by Nasdaq. Each committee has a charter and a current copy of each charter can be found in the Investor Relations Corporate Governance portion of our website (www.icfi.com).

Audit Committee. The Board has a separately designated standing Audit Committee as defined in Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act. It is currently composed of Drs. Bersoff and Moniz and Messrs. Kocot and Schulte, with Dr. Bersoff serving as the Committee Chair. Dr. Bersoff recently joined the Audit Committee, effective April 1, 2013, replacing Dr. Datar in both membership and as the Committee Chair, upon Dr. Datar s

23

rotation off of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee met eight times during 2012, including once in a Special Joint Meeting with the full Board. The Board has determined that each Audit Committee member is financially literate and has determined that Dr. Bersoff is an audit committee financial expert as defined under SEC rules and regulations by virtue of his background and experience. Dr. Bersoff also qualifies as a financial expert in accordance with the listing standards of Nasdaq applicable to Audit Committee members. Each member of the Audit Committee is independent as defined by Rule 10A-3 of the Exchange Act and in accordance with the listing standards of Nasdaq. We expect the Audit Committee to meet at least four times per year.

The Audit Committee: appoints our independent registered public accounting firm; reviews the financial reports and related financial information provided by the Company to governmental agencies and the general public; monitors compliance with the Company s Code of Business Ethics and Conduct (the *Code of Ethics*); reviews the Company s system of internal and disclosure controls and the effectiveness of its control structure; and reviews the Company s accounting, internal and external auditing, and financial reporting processes. The Audit Committee also reviews other matters with respect to our accounting, auditing, and financial reporting practices and procedures as it may find appropriate or may be brought to its attention. As a matter of practice, the Audit Committee also approves the engagement of other firms engaging in audit services for the Company, such as in an acquisition capacity. All of the non-audit services provided by the independent registered public accounting firm were pre-approved by the Audit Committee in accordance with its pre-approval procedures. The Audit Committee s report can be found under *Audit Committee Report* in this proxy statement.

Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee is currently composed of Ms. Auen, Ms. Grisé and Mr. Schulte, with Ms. Grisé serving as the Committee Chair. Ms. Grisé became Chair of the Compensation Committee effective April 1, 2013, replacing Dr. Bersoff who stepped off of the Compensation Committee on the same date. The Compensation Committee met five times during 2012.

The Compensation Committee provides assistance to the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities relating to management, organization, performance, and compensation. In discharging its responsibilities, the Compensation Committee considers and authorizes our compensation philosophy, evaluates our senior management s performance, and approves all material elements of the compensation of our executive officers. The Compensation Committee also reviews the administration of our incentive compensation, retirement, and equity-based plans. See *Compensation Discussion and Analysis* for more information regarding the role of the Compensation Committee, management, and compensation consultants in determining and/or recommending the amount and form of executive compensation. The report of the Compensation Committee required by the rules of the SEC is included in this proxy statement under *Compensation Committee Report*.

We expect the Compensation Committee to meet not less often than twice per year. Each member of the Compensation Committee qualifies as a non-employee director under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act, as an outside director under Section 162(m) of the Code and meets the requirements of Nasdaq Rule 5605(d)(2)(A).

Governance and Nominating Committee. The Governance and Nominating Committee is currently composed of Ms. Auen and Drs. Bersoff and Datar. The Governance and Nominating Committee met three times during 2012. Ms. Auen is the Committee Chair.

The Governance and Nominating Committee: identifies and recommends candidates to be nominated for election as directors at ICF International s annual meeting, consistent with criteria approved by the full Board; annually evaluates and reports to the Board on its performance and effectiveness; annually reviews the composition of each Board committee and presents recommendations for committee membership to the full Board as needed; researches, evaluates, and recommends director compensation; considers and advises the Board on matters relating to the affairs or governance of the Board; considers matters relating to senior management succession; and reviews and approves all potential related person transactions as defined under SEC rules.

24

Mergers & Acquisitions Committee. The Board maintained an ad hoc Mergers & Acquisitions Committee (M&A Committee), composed of Messrs. Kesavan and Schulte, until its dissolution on April 9, 2013. Mr. Schulte served as the Committee Chair. The purpose of the M&A Committee was to review and assess, and assist the Board of Directors in reviewing and assessing, the capital structure of the Company, potential acquisitions, strategic investments, and divestitures. The M&A Committee was inactive and did not meet during 2012; the full Board has remained apprised of potential Company acquisitions and transactions.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Ms. Auen, Dr. Bersoff, Ms. Grisé and Mr. Schulte were members of the Compensation Committee for the year ended December 31, 2012. None of them is or was an officer or employee of the Company. None of our executive officers served as a member of the board of directors or the compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving as a member of our Board of Directors or Compensation Committee.

Process for Selecting and Nominating Directors

The Governance and Nominating Committee is responsible for nominating director candidates and considering director nominees. The Governance and Nominating Committee uses a variety of methods for identifying and evaluating nominees for director. The Governance and Nominating Committee regularly assesses the appropriate size of the Board and whether any vacancies on the Board are expected due to retirement or otherwise. In the event that vacancies are anticipated or otherwise arise, the Governance and Nominating Committee considers various potential candidates for director. Candidates may come to the attention of the Governance and Nominating Committee through current Board members, professional search firms, stockholders, or other persons. It is expected that the Governance and Nominating Committee will have direct input from the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the lead director, as appropriate.

Identified candidates are evaluated at regular or special meetings of the Governance and Nominating Committee and may be considered at any point during the year. As described below, the Governance and Nominating Committee considers properly submitted stockholder recommendations for Board candidates to be included in the Company s proxy statement. Following verification of the stockholder status of any person proposing a candidate, recommendations are considered by the Governance and Nominating Committee at a regularly scheduled meeting. If any materials are provided by a stockholder in connection with the nomination of a director candidate, such materials are forwarded to the Governance and Nominating Committee. The Governance and Nominating Committee also reviews materials provided by professional search firms and other parties in connection with a nominee who is not proposed by a stockholder.

The Governance and Nominating Committee maintains and periodically updates its non-exclusive Board selection guidelines to assist the committee in evaluating candidates for the Board; no changes were made to the guidelines in the last year, which are summarized above under *Proposal 1: Election of Directors*, except to add information regarding Ms. Grisé, who joined the Board subsequent to last year s annual stockholder meeting.

As suggested by our Board selection criteria summarized above, the Governance and Nominating Committee and Board believe that diversity should play a role in the selection of directors, although neither has developed a formal policy regarding the consideration of diversity. Accordingly, the Governance and Nominating Committee takes into account factors such as race, gender, and national origin in evaluating nominees for Board membership. A diverse Board, made up of directors with a mix of opinions, perspectives, professional and personal experiences, race, gender and age will allow the Board to make effective decisions for the Company and our clients.

There are no stated minimum criteria for director nominees, and the Board may also consider such factors as it deems appropriate and in the best interests of the Company and our stockholders.

25

As mentioned above, we will consider candidates for director who are recommended by stockholders. Stockholder recommendations should be submitted in writing to: Corporate Secretary, ICF International, Inc., 9300 Lee Highway, Fairfax, Virginia 22031. Such stockholder s notice shall set forth, for each nominee, all information relating to such person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of directors pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act (including such person s written consent to being named as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected). Among other information, the notice shall also include, as to the stockholder giving notice: (i) the name and address of the stockholder; (ii) the class or series and number of shares of the Company which are, directly or indirectly, owned by such stockholder, as well as options, warrants, convertible securities, SARs, and similar instruments of the Company (*Derivative Instruments*) that are held by the stockholder; (iii) any proxy, contract, arrangement, understanding, or relationship pursuant to which such stockholder has a right, directly or indirectly, to vote any shares of any security of the Company; (iv) any short interest in any security of the Company directly or indirectly owned by such stockholder; (v) any rights to dividends on the shares of the Company owned beneficially by such stockholder that are separated or separable from the underlying shares of the Company; (vi) any proportionate interest in shares of the Company or Derivative Instruments, beneficially owns an interest in a general partner; and (vii) any performance-related fees (other than an asset-based fee) to which such stockholder is entitled based on any increase or decrease in the value of shares of the Company or Derivative Instruments.

To be eligible to be a nominee for election or reelection as a director of the Company, a person must submit to the Corporate Secretary (in accordance with the time periods prescribed for delivery of notice under the Company s Bylaws) at the above address a written response to a questionnaire with respect to the background and qualification of such person (which questionnaire shall be provided by the Corporate Secretary upon written request) and a written representation and agreement (in the form provided by the Corporate Secretary upon written request) that such person: (i) is not and will not become a party to (x) any agreement, arrangement, or understanding with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity as to how such person, if elected as a director of the Company, will act or vote on any issue or question (a *Voting Commitment*) that has not been disclosed to the Company or (y) any Voting Commitment that could limit or interfere with such person s ability to comply, if elected as a director of the Company, with such person or entity other than the Company with respect to any direct or indirect compensation, reimbursement, or indemnification in connection with service or action as a director that has not been disclosed therein; and (iii) would be in compliance, if elected as a director of the Company, and will comply with all applicable publicly disclosed corporate governance, conflict of interest, confidentiality, and stock ownership and trading policies and guidelines of the Company.

Board Stock Ownership Guidelines

The Board of Directors believes that its members should be incentivized to focus on the Company s long-term stockholder value. In March 2011, upon the recommendation of the Governance and Nominating Committee, the Board of Directors adopted a revised Board member stock ownership policy establishing, as a guideline (but not an absolute requirement), that non-employee members of the Board of Directors of the Company be expected to own shares of Company common stock valued at five times such director s annual cash retainer, which may include shares of unvested restricted stock (*i.e.*, directors are strongly encouraged to hold common stock valued at \$300,000 (or 5 times \$60,000)). Such ownership level is to be achieved over a period of four years after becoming a member of the Board. Four of the non-employee members of the Board of Directors already satisfy this guideline, based on the Company s closing stock price of \$26.53 per share on April 8, 2013.

Director Continuing Education

The Board of Directors believes that director continuing education is important for maintaining a current and effective Board, and adopted a Director Continuing Education Policy on March 1, 2013. The Company s

26

policy encourages directors to participate in continuing education and accredited director education programs, with the intent of becoming and remaining well informed about the Company, its industry and business, its relative performance to its competitors and regulatory issues and economic trends affecting the Company.

Deri vatives Trading and Hedging Policy

Pursuant to the Company s Policy on Insider Information and Securities Trading, the Company considers it improper and inappropriate for any employee, officer or director of the Company to engage in short-term or speculative transactions in the Company s securities. The policy specifically prohibits directors, officers and other employees from engaging in short sales of the Company s securities and transactions in puts, calls or other derivative securities (sometimes referred to as hedging). Each of the named executive officers complied with this policy during fiscal year 2012 and does not have Company securities pledged or in margin accounts.

Stoc kholder Communications with the Board

You may contact the Board of Directors by sending a letter marked Confidential and addressed to the Board of Directors, ICF International, Inc., c/o Corporate Secretary, 9300 Lee Highway, Fairfax, Virginia 22031 USA. In accordance with instructions from the Board, the Corporate Secretary reviews all correspondence, organizes the communications for review by the Board, and posts communications to the full Board, specific committees or individual directors, as appropriate. Communications that are intended specifically for the lead director, the independent directors, or non-management directors should be marked as such.

Director Compensation

The following discussion outlines the compensation that was paid to non-employee directors during 2012, as well as our anticipated director compensation structure for 2013. The compensation of our Board of Directors is evaluated as deemed appropriate by our Governance and Nominating Committee. The Governance and Nominating Committee most recently adjusted outside director compensation at its March 4, 2011 meeting. The new compensation policy became effective in April 2011 for cash compensation and in June 2011 for stock compensation. This policy is still in effect.

Directors who are employed by us do not receive additional compensation for their service on the Board. All directors are entitled to reimbursement of expenses for attending each meeting of the Board and each committee meeting.

2012 Board Compensation

Cash Compensation. Our non-employee directors receive compensation quarterly, based upon a quarterly amount of the aggregate annual payment they each are entitled to receive depending upon each director s committee membership.

The Board determined that our non-employee director compensation would remain as it was in March 2011. For 2012, the annual cash retainer was \$60,000, covering up to four regular Board meetings during a year, one annual meeting, and a reasonable number of special Board meetings. Additional retainers, if any, for additional meetings are determined by the Board of Directors or the Governance and Nominating Committee. The chair of the Audit Committee received \$32,000 (including member fee) and each other Audit Committee member received \$12,000. The chair of the Compensation Committee received \$18,000 (including member fee) and each other Compensation Committee member received \$8,000. The chair of the Governance and Nominating Committee received \$18,000 (including member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member received \$1,000 (including member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member received \$1,000 (including member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member received \$1,000 (including member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member received \$1,000 (including member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member received \$1,000 (including member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member received \$1,000 (including member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member received \$1,000 (including member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member received \$1,000 (including member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member received \$1,000 (including member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member received \$1,000 (including member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member received \$1,000 (including member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee member fee) and each other Governance and Nominating Committee feel and each other

27

Board members may elect to convert their quarterly cash compensation into our common stock at the fair value of our common stock on the quarterly payment date.

Restricted Stock Grants. In 2012, consistent with 2011, an equity grant of restricted stock valued at \$119,990 was made to each director, with such annual equity grant made to all directors on June 1, 2012; provided, however, that Ms. Grisé received a prorated award valued at \$89,993 because she joined the Board on September 13, 2012. These restricted stock grants vest on the annual meeting date of the following year, or June 7, 2013 in the case of the restricted stock grants made in 2012.

Director Compensation Table for 2012

The following table provides the compensation received by individuals who served as non-employee directors of the Company during 2012.

	Fees Earned or Paid in Cash or Stock ⁽²⁾	Stock Awards ⁽³⁾	Total
Name ⁽¹⁾	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)
(a)	(b)	(c)	(d)
Eileen O Shea Auen	\$ 86,000	\$ 119,990	\$ 205,990
Dr. Edward H. Bersoff	106,000	119,990	225,990
Dr. Srikant M. Datar	100,000	119,990	219,990
Cheryl W. Grisé	17,000	89,993	106,993
S. Lawrence Kocot	41,000	119,990	160,990
Dr. Ernest J. Moniz	72,000	119,990	191,990
Peter M. Schulte	74,000	119,990	193,990

- (1) Sudhakar Kesavan is not included in this table because during 2012 he was an employee of the Company and therefore received no compensation for his director service. The compensation received by Mr. Kesavan as an employee of the Company is shown in the 2012 Summary Compensation Table below.
- (2) Includes quarterly payments made in the form of restricted common stock in lieu of cash at the election of each director.
- (3) In accordance with the SEC s rules, the amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 for restricted stock awards granted in 2012.

2013 Board Compensation

The Board currently intends to utilize a similar compensation structure for its non-employee directors in 2013; however, each director will now have the option to choose to receive the \$120,000 annual payment (historically granted in the form of an equity grant of restricted stock) in the form of cash, unregistered stock or a combination of the two (issued on the next annual meeting date).

Code of Ethics

On May 4, 2010, the Board of Directors adopted an updated Code of Ethics that is designed to promote the highest standards of ethical conduct by the Company s directors, executive officers and employees. The Code of Ethics requires that the Company s directors, executive officers and employees avoid conflicts of interest, comply with all laws and other legal requirements, conduct business in an honest and ethical manner, and otherwise act with integrity and in the Company s best interest. Under the terms of the Code of Ethics, directors, executive officers and employees are required to report any conduct that they believe in good faith to be an actual or apparent violation of the Code of Ethics.

28

The Code of Ethics and all Board committee charters are posted in the Investor Relations Corporate Governance portion of our website (www.icfi.com). A copy of any of these documents is available in print (free of charge to any stockholder) who requests a copy by writing to: ICF International, Inc., 9300 Lee Highway, Fairfax, Virginia 22031, Attention: Mollie Roy, Corporate Secretary. The Company will disclose on its website at www.icfi.com, to the extent and in the manner permitted by Item 5.05 of Form 8-K, the nature of any amendment to the Code of Ethics (other than technical, administrative, or other non-substantive amendments) and our approval of any material departure from a provision of the Code of Ethics that has been made known to any of our executive officers.

Certain Relationships and Transactions with Related Persons

Our Code of Ethics, which applies to all directors, executive officers and employees, emphasizes the importance of avoiding situations or transactions in which personal interests interfere with the best interests of us and/or our stockholders. In addition, the Board of Directors has adopted a written policy on interested director transaction reporting and approval designed to alert the Board, and in particular the Governance and Nominating Committee, of material transactions involving the Company and directors and their affiliates so that the Board may be aware of and consider such transactions in advance, on a case-by-case basis. As to matters coming before the Board in which individual directors may have a personal interest, the Board has adopted procedures to ensure that all directors voting on such a matter disclose the personal interest, abstain from voting on the matter, and discuss the transaction with counsel if necessary. The Board has delegated the task of discussing, reviewing, and approving transactions between the Company and any of our executive officers or Board members to the Governance and Nominating Committee.

There have not been any transactions during the last fiscal year to which we have been a party, in which the amount involved in the transaction exceeded \$120,000, and in which any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of our capital stock had or will have a direct or indirect material interest other than: (i) equity and other compensation, termination, change-in-control and other arrangements, which are described in the section captioned *Executive Compensation Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control*, and (ii) the Company s involvement in the MIT Energy Initiative (*MITEI*), an interdisciplinary program to address short-term and long-term global energy issues, problems and needs that encompass scientific, technological, environmental, economic, political, managerial and security concerns. Dr. Ernest J. Moniz, who became a member of the ICF International Board of Directors in June 2011, is the director of MITEI. Although Dr. Moniz is director of, and compensated by, MITEI, the organization administering the particular project contract in which the Company participates, Dr. Moniz does not receive any salary, benefits or other payments specific to the Company s project. The Company negotiated the terms of its participation in, and became a member of, this program in late April/early May 2011, which predated Dr. Moniz s appointment to the Board of Directors. In connection with its involvement in MITEI, the Company has pledged to commit \$125,000 a year for its five-year membership term. The Company made its scheduled \$125,000 contribution in 2012 and intends to make its scheduled \$125,000 contribution in 2013. Each of these items has been approved in accordance with the procedures outlined above.

Other Transactions Considered for Independence Purposes

For each director and nominee for director who is identified as independent, the SEC rules require the description of transactions, relationships or arrangements that are not required to be disclosed as related person transactions, but that were considered by the Board of Directors in determining that the director is independent. Each transaction that the Company believes is a related person transaction, if any, is described immediately above under the caption *Certain Relationships and Transactions with Related Persons*. There were, however, transactions with independent directors that did not rise to the level of a related person transaction, but that were considered for independence purposes. The Board of Directors affirmatively determined that each of such transactions did not impair the applicable director s independence.

29

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY DURING 2012

The following table includes information with respect to the individuals who served as our executive officers during 2012. Ms. Sandra B. Murray served as our Interim Chief Financial Officer from May 11, 2011 until July 16, 2012, at which point Mr. James C. Morgan became our Chief Financial Officer. Since both served in the capacity of principal financial officer during 2012, both are included in our named executive officer disclosure for 2012. The biographical information for Mr. Kesavan is found under *Directors Whose Term of Office Expires in 2015 Class III Directors*.

Name	Age	Title
Sudhakar Kesavan	58	Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
John Wasson	51	President and Chief Operating Officer
James C. Morgan	47	Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Sandra B. Murray	57	Former Interim Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President
Ellen Glover	58	Executive Vice President - Technology & Management Solutions
Isabel S. Reiff	63	Executive Vice President - Corporate Growth and Strategic Accounts

John Wasson, age 51, serves as President and Chief Operating Officer of ICF International and has been with the Company since 1987. On June 7, 2010, Mr. Wasson was named President of the Company, replacing his former title of Executive Vice President. Mr. Wasson has served the Company in various capacities over the last 25 years, joining the Company as an associate in 1987, becoming a senior associate in 1989, a project manager in 1991, vice president in 1994, senior vice president in 1998, executive vice president in 2001 and Chief Operating Officer in 2003. Mr. Wasson previously worked as a staff scientist at the Conservation Law Foundation of New England and as a researcher at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology Center for Technology, Policy and Industrial Development. Mr. Wasson holds a Master of Science degree in Technology and Policy from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and a Bachelor of Science in Chemical Engineering from the University of California, Davis.

James C. Morgan, age 47, serves as the Company s Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. He joined the Company in 2012. From 2011 until his employment by the Company, Mr. Morgan served as a member of the board and as the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Serco, Inc., a division of Serco Group PLC. From 1993 until 2011, Mr. Morgan held a number of positions at Science Applications International Corporation (SAIC), in particular, Senior Vice President and Senior Financial Officer, Strategic and Operational Finance from 2005 until 2011 and Senior Vice President, Business Transformation Officer from 2008 until 2011. Previously, Mr. Morgan was an Experienced Senior Consultant in the Special Services and Contracting Group at Arthur Andersen & Company. Mr. Morgan received his Bachelor of Science in Accounting from North Carolina State University and his Masters in Business Administration from George Washington University.

Sandra B. Murray, age 57, previously served as the Company s Interim Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President. She joined the Company in 2009 as the Senior Vice President of Administration and Contracts and became our Interim Chief Financial Officer on May 11, 2011. She resigned from the position of Interim Chief Financial Officer on July 16, 2012 upon the Company s hiring of James C. Morgan as its Chief Financial Officer, continuing to offer transition services to the Company until leaving the Company on October 12, 2012. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Murray served as Senior Vice President-Finance and Business Operations for SAIC, a leading provider of scientific, engineering, systems integration and technical services and solutions, and from 2005 to 2006 was SAIC s Senior Vice President-Research, Development, Test & Evaluation Group Controller. From 2004 to 2005, she served as Vice President of Finance of ARINC, Inc., a supplier of aviation air/ground communications and technology to the U.S. government, and from 1998 to 2004 was Chief Financial

Officer/Vice President of Finance for Honeywell Technology Solutions Inc., a services subsidiary of Honeywell International. Ms. Murray holds an MBA in Finance from Loyola College and a Bachelor of Science in Accounting from the University of Baltimore and is a Certified Public Accountant.

Ellen Glover, age 58, joined ICF International as an Executive Vice President in 2005. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Glover served as the Vice President and General Manager of Dynamics Research, a publicly traded professional and technical services contractor to federal and state government agencies, which acquired Impact Innovations Group. Prior to the acquisition, from 2002 to 2004, Ms. Glover served as President of Impact Innovations Group, a provider of information technology services to federal and commercial markets. From 1983 to 2002, Ms. Glover was an officer of Advanced Technology Systems, a provider of information technology services to the U.S. Department of Defense and civilian agencies. Ms. Glover served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Advanced Technology Systems from 1994 to 2002, as Director of Operations from 1990 to 1993, and as a Program Manager prior to 1990. In 2012, Ms. Glover was elected as the Vice Chair of the Board of the Professional Services Council (PSC) and she currently serves in that capacity. Ms. Glover is also Co-Chair of the PSC 2013 Commission on Efficiency and Innovation. Ms. Glover has served on the Board of PSC since 2010, and has been a member of the Executive Committee of PSC since 2011. Ms. Glover was the Chair of the Industry Advisory Council from 2005 to 2006, and Executive Vice Chair from 2004 to 2005. In addition, Ms. Glover has served on the boards of Information Technology Association of America and Women in Technology. Ms. Glover won the 2007 Janice K. Mendenhall Spirit of Leadership Award, as well as the 2001 Federal Computer Week Federal 100 Eagle Award for her contributions to the industry. Ms. Glover holds a Master of Science in Urban Planning and a Bachelor of Arts in History and Political Science from the University of Pittsburgh.

Isabel S. Reiff, age 63, serves as an Executive Vice President for Corporate Growth and Strategic Accounts for the Company. She joined ICF International in 1989 and has more than 30 years of experience in public policy and program consulting. She became an Executive Vice President on February 27, 2010 and she leads the Company s business development, marketing and communications. At ICF International she has managed client engagements in housing and community development, environmental, and transportation sectors. She has also held positions with federal and local governments. She holds a Bachelor of Arts from Mount Holyoke College and an M.A. in Architecture and Urban Planning from the University of California, Los Angeles.

31

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE

OFFICERS AND CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

The following table sets forth certain information regarding beneficial ownership of our common stock as of April 8, 2013, by:

each person, or group of affiliated persons, known to us to beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding shares of our common stock;

each of our directors and nominees for director;

each person who was a named executive officer; and

all of our directors and named executive officers as a group.

The percentages shown in the following table are based on 19,718,246 shares of common stock outstanding as of April 8, 2013. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC, and includes voting and investment power with respect to shares. The number of shares beneficially owned by a person includes shares subject to options and RSUs held by that person that were exercisable as of April 8, 2013, or within 60 days of that date. The shares issuable under those options and RSUs are treated as if they were outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of the person holding those options or RSUs, but are not treated as if they were outstanding for the purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated below, to our knowledge, all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to their shares of common stock, except to the extent authority is shared by spouses under applicable law.

The following table sets forth the number of shares of our common stock beneficially owned by the indicated parties. Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each person is: c/o ICF International, Inc., 9300 Lee Highway, Fairfax, Virginia 22031.

	Shares benefic	•
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner	Number	Percentage
Directors & Executive Officers		
Sudhakar Kesavan ⁽¹⁾	277,622	1.4%
John Wasson ⁽²⁾	148,394	*
James C. Morgan ⁽³⁾		
Sandra B. Murray ⁽⁴⁾		
Ellen Glover ⁽⁵⁾	78,929	*
Isabel S. Reiff ⁽⁶⁾	16,758	*
Eileen O Shea Auen	30,067	*
Dr. Edward H. Bersoff	42,352	*
Dr. Srikant M. Datar ⁽⁷⁾	28,893	*
Cheryl W. Grisé	4,255	
S. Lawrence Kocot	6,255	*
Dr. Ernest J. Moniz	10,266	*
Peter M. Schulte	226,873	1.2%
Directors, Director Nominees and Named Executive Officers as a group (13 persons)	870,664	4.3%
Beneficial Owners Holding More Than 5%		
BlackRock, Inc. and affiliates as a group ⁽⁸⁾	1,088,674	5.5%
40 East 52nd Street		

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

New York, NY 10022

Guggenheim Capital, LLC and affiliates as a group (9)

227 West Monroe Street

Chicago, IL 60606 1,060,053 5.4%

32

Table of Contents		
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner	Shares benefi Number	cially owned Percentage
Sagard Capital Partners, L.P. and affiliates as a group ⁽¹⁰⁾		
325 Greenwich Avenue		
Greenwich, CT 06830	1,489,248	7.6%
Third Avenue Management LLC ⁽¹¹⁾		
622 Third Avenue, 32 nd Floor		
New York, NY 10017	1,616,124	8.2%
The Vanguard Group, Inc. (12)		
100 Vanguard Blvd.		
Malvern, PA 19355	998,944	5.1%
Wellington Management Company, LLP ⁽¹³⁾		
280 Congress Street		
Boston, MA 02210	1,325,563	6.7%
William Blair & Company, L.L.C. ⁽¹⁴⁾		
222 W. Adams		
Chicago, IL 60606	2,487,995	12.6%

- * Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1%.
- (1) The total number of shares listed as beneficially owned by Sudhakar Kesavan includes options to purchase 159,922 shares of common stock.
- (2) The total number of shares listed as beneficially owned by John Wasson includes options to purchase 98,677 shares of common stock.
- (3) James C. Morgan is a new executive of the Company and as such does not yet hold vested shares of Company common stock.
- (4) Sandra B. Murray is no longer a reporting person of the Company, so her beneficial ownership is no longer publicly available.
- (5) The total number of shares listed as beneficially owned by Ellen Glover includes options to purchase 49,666 shares of common stock.
- (6) The total number of shares listed as beneficially owned by Isabel S. Reiff includes options to purchase 16,255 shares of common stock.

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

- (7) The total number of shares listed as beneficially owned by Dr. Srikant M. Datar includes 18,627 shares of common stock held in an estate planning trust of which Dr. Datar is a co-trustee.
- (8) Based upon information contained in the Schedule 13G/A filed by BlackRock, Inc. (*BlackRock*) with the SEC on February 8, 2013, BlackRock beneficially owned 1,088,674 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2012, with sole voting power over 1,088,674 shares, shared voting power over no shares, sole dispositive power over 1,088,674 shares and shared dispositive power over no shares.
- (9) Based upon information contained in the Schedule 13G/A filed by Guggenheim Capital, LLC (*Guggenheim*) with the SEC on February 14, 2013, Guggenheim beneficially owned 1,060,053 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2012, with sole voting power over no shares, shared voting power over 1,060,053 shares, sole dispositive power over no shares and shared dispositive power over 1,060,053 shares. These shares include 1,059,980 shares beneficially owned directly by Security Investors, LLC and indirectly by Rydex Holdings, LLC, Security Benefit Asset Management Holdings, LLC, GPFT Holdco, LLC, GP Holdco, LLC and Guggenheim Partners, LLC and 73 shares beneficially owned directly by each of these entities. Guggenheim is the majority owner of each of these entities.

33

- (10) Based upon information contained in the Schedule 13D/A filed by Sagard Capital Partners, L.P. (*Sagard*) with the SEC on January 25, 2013, Sagard beneficially owned 1,489,248 shares of common stock as of January 23, 2013, with sole voting power over no shares, shared voting power over 1,489,248 shares, sole dispositive power over no shares and shared dispositive power over 1,489,248 shares.
- (11) Based upon information contained in the Schedule 13G filed by Third Avenue Management LLC (*Third Avenue*) with the SEC on February 14, 2013, Third Avenue beneficially owned 1,616,124 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2012, with sole voting power over 1,616,124 shares, shared voting power over no shares, sole dispositive power over 1,616,124 shares and shared dispositive power over no shares.
- (12) Based upon information contained in the Schedule 13G/A filed by The Vanguard Group, Inc. (*Vanguard*) with the SEC on February 11, 2013, Vanguard beneficially owned 998,944 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2012, with sole voting power over 28,435 shares, shared voting power over no shares, sole dispositive power over 971,709 shares and shared dispositive power over 27,235 shares.
- (13) Based upon information contained in the Schedule 13G filed by Wellington Management Company, LLP (*Wellington*) with the SEC on February 14, 2013, in its capacity as an investment adviser, Wellington may be deemed to beneficially own 1,325,563 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2012, with sole voting power over no shares, shared voting power over 927,430 shares, sole dispositive power over no shares and shared dispositive power over 1,325,563 shares.
- (14) Based upon information contained in the Schedule 13G/A filed by William Blair & Company, L.L.C. (*William Blair*) with the SEC on February 4, 2013, William Blair beneficially owned 2,487,995 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2012, with sole voting power over 2,487,995 shares, shared voting power over no shares, sole dispositive power over 2,487,995 shares and shared dispositive power over no shares.

34

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Overview of Compensation Program

The Compensation Committee (for purposes of this discussion and analysis, the *Committee*) has responsibility for establishing, implementing, and monitoring adherence to the Company's compensation philosophy. The Committee strives to ensure that the total compensation paid to the Company's executives is fair, reasonable, and competitive. Generally, the types of compensation and benefits provided to the Company's executive officers are similar to those provided to other Company key employees. The six executives included in the Summary Compensation Table on page 45 are referred to as our named executive officers.

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

In the fall of 2012, the Committee retained AonHewitt to assist the Committee in reviewing the Company s compensation policies and practices for 2013. In particular, AonHewitt was asked to compare such policies and procedures to current trends in executive compensation by peer companies and assist with a competitive assessment for executive positions. AonHewitt has been and is retained by the Committee, from time to time, as necessary; it is also retained by the Committee to conduct an ISS-style quantitative assessment of the Chief Executive Officer s compensation to ensure that it is in conformity with the peer group likely to be selected by ISS. The Company s management also provides information to, and discusses alternatives directly with, AonHewitt at the direction of the Committee. The Company s management also retained Semler Brossy Consulting Group LLC (Semler Brossy) to perform an analysis of incentive performance measures and other compensation measures used by peer companies and the Company s position as compared to the median incentive package of such peers. In its discussions, the Committee reviewed and assessed the analysis of both AonHewitt and Semler Brossy.

Following its executive officer compensation review, which continued through March of 2013, the Company s fundamental compensation philosophy, which has the objectives set forth below, remained:

Reward performance and contribution to our business. Our compensation programs should be designed to reward extraordinary performance with commensurate compensation; likewise, where individual performance falls short of expectations and/or Company performance lags behind the peer group performance, the programs should deliver lower payouts.

Pay-for-performance and retention must be balanced. Although performance is a key element of the Company s compensation philosophy, in order to attract and retain a highly skilled work force, we must remain competitive with the pay of our peer companies that compete with us for talent. In general terms, the objective is to target Company executives total compensation at the 50th percentile of the Company s approved peer group for on plan performance.

Compensation should be aligned with stockholder interests. Key employees should have a substantial proportion of their compensation in the form of equity participation to align their individual financial interests with those of our stockholders.

The relationship between overall Company goals and each individual s personal goals should be clear. Employees should be able to understand easily how their efforts can affect their pay, both directly through individual performance and indirectly through contributing to the business unit s and Company s achievement of its strategic and operational goals.

Provide only necessary perquisites for named executives. Our compensation programs should include only those perquisites necessary to attract and retain named executives and/or improve the named executive sability to carry out his or her responsibilities safely and effectively.

Based on the AonHewitt and Semler Brossy reviews, the Committee maintained the following guidelines for the Company s 2013 executive officer compensation program:

Development of Performance Goals. Each year, Company management presents its budget, revenue forecast, and strategy to the Board in the November/December timeframe, allowing the Board and management to develop a consensus on financial and strategic goals for the following year. These goals are reflected in the compensation program for the following year and the metrics that will drive individual performance goals, total compensation targets and actual compensation levels.

Elements of Compensation Program. The actual awards are based on the performance of the Company and the executive. This means that the mix of pay may be different each year based on the identified targets for each pay component, providing the Committee with the greatest amount of flexibility in awarding incentive compensation and pay adjustments each year. In general, the mix of compensation consists of base salary and both short-term incentives (which will normally take the form of cash) and long-term equity incentives. During 2012, the long-term equity incentives for named executives was based on an equity distribution as follows:

50% options with a three-year vesting schedule of one-third each year following the grant; and

50% RSUs with a four-year vesting schedule of one-fourth each year following the grant.

Target Payout for On Plan Performance. Compensation is targeted at the 50th percentile of the 2013 Peer Group (as defined below) to establish a baseline for compensation. During 2012, on plan performance was defined as achieving 85% to 115% of performance goals. If the Company fails to achieve on plan performance, such failure would affect both overall and individual incentive awards, although the effects of shortfalls on cash bonuses would likely be more pronounced than on long-term incentives. The Company s actual performance as compared to the goals would be assessed and applied to ranges within on plan target compensation in establishing the appropriate payout levels.

Potential Payout for Above Plan Performance. The potential to earn more compensation is at the discretion of the Committee, subject to any restrictions imposed by Section 162(m) of the Code and the terms of the Omnibus Plan. Potential payouts are established for performance that exceeded 115% of the annual performance goals. The maximum total direct compensation that may be earned for superior performance is 160% of total targeted compensation, unless the Committee recommends otherwise.

Performance-Based and Discretionary Incentive Compensation. The named executive officers annual incentive compensation is weighted as follows:

80% in the form of a potential performance-based bonus tied to one or more financial goals set forth in the Omnibus Plan, the cash portion of which was designed to comply with Section 162(m) of the Code; and

20% in the form of a separate discretionary bonus, payable at the discretion of the Committee based on specific business challenges the executives face during the fiscal year, with the bonus contingent on achievement of non-financial goals identified as to each executive but not contingent on the achievement of, or failure to achieve, any of the financial goals established for such executive with respect to the performance-based bonus discussed above. In extraordinary situations, the Committee retains the right to increase the discretionary portion of the bonus.

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

Threshold. The minimal level of performance that must be achieved before bonus and equity distributions can be earned and/or distributed is 85%. If the Company achieves less than 85% of its aggregate annual performance goals, then no cash bonuses will be distributed.

CEO and COO Total Compensation Relationship. The Committee has determined that generally the chief operating officer s total targeted annual compensation should be approximately 60% of the chief executive officer s total targeted annual compensation.

36

Impact of Acquisitions. Because merger and acquisition transactions are an integral element of our growth strategy, the executives compensation structure reflects the time and effort to successfully identify, negotiate and integrate acquisitions. Typically, our executives are rewarded for this activity through share price appreciation in the long-term incentive component, rather than through an explicit cash award tied to merger and acquisition transactions. However, assuming a transaction exceeds 10% of the Company s prior year s gross revenue, then based on the timing and size of the acquisition, executives may be given an opportunity to earn an extra incentive, with no change in previously established performance targets.

Assessment of Annual Performance. For purposes of compensation awards:

The chief executive officer s performance is assessed by the Committee.

The chief operating officer s and chief financial officer s performance is assessed by the Committee and the chief executive officer.

The remaining executive officers performance is assessed by the chief executive officer, chief operating officer, chief financial officer and the Committee.

Implementing Our Objectives

Use of Market Data

As explained above, the Committee retained AonHewitt to assist with, among other things, competitive assessment. In connection with its review and assessment, AonHewitt collected competitive data for public companies in the same service sector and executive labor market. The peer group, selected with approval by the Committee, is comprised of publicly traded U.S.-based professional services companies that serve the government sector. The companies comprising the 2013 compensation peer group (the 2013 Peer Group) were the following:

Booz Allen Hamilton CACI International Inc. CBIZ, Inc.

CRA International, Inc. Dynamics Research Corp. Exponent, Inc.

FTI Consulting, Inc. Huron Consulting Group Inc. IHS Inc.

ManTech International Corp.

Navigant Consulting,

Maximus, Inc. Inc.

NCI, Inc. Resources Connection, Inc. Sapient Corp.

Tetra Tech, Inc.

The only company that was included in the 2012 Peer Group that is no longer utilized as part of the 2013 Peer Group was SRA International, Inc., which was removed because it was bought by a private equity group and is no longer a public company. CBIZ, Inc., Exponent, Inc., IHS Inc., Resources Connection, Inc., Sapient Corp. and Tetra Tech, Inc. were added to the 2013 Peer Group because they met a variety of qualifications similar to the Company, including industry, analyst coverage, revenue and market cap.

The conclusion of the AonHewitt assessment was that the Company s executive compensation opportunities are generally aligned with the market. This conclusion was reflected in the Committee s compensation decisions.

In connection with its evaluation of AonHewitt s recommendations, as well as its review of the Semler Brossy recommendations, the Committee determined that while the peer group compensation data was the appropriate primary focus, the Company does compete with many larger companies for top executive-level talent. Thus, the peer group assessment is just one of many inputs into the Compensation Committee s decisions.

37

Role of Management in Compensation Decisions

During late 2012 and early 2013, the Committee made compensation determinations for all named executives. In the case of executives other than the chief executive officer, the chief executive officer annually reviews the performance of the executive team, provides a summary of the fiscal year accomplishments by the executive team and Company as a whole to the Committee, and then makes recommendations to the Committee based on these reviews and an analysis of competitive market data. The Committee considers these chief executive officer recommendations when making its determinations as to the chief operating officer and chief financial officer, and takes into account input from the chief executive officer, chief operating officer, and chief financial officer with respect to other named executives.

In developing its recommendations, management retained Semler Brossy as outlined above. Semler Brossy found that, like the Company, most members of the 2013 Peer Group use a combination of measures to evaluate performance for the calculation of incentive awards, such as earnings per share and revenue, as well as including a discretionary component. In addition, Semler Brossy found that incentive compensation for Mr. Kesavan, Mr. Wasson, Ms. Glover and Ms. Reiff was near the peer group median, and for Mr. Morgan was below median due to his newness in the chief financial officer position. These findings were taken into account by management in making its recommendations to the Committee.

Role of Compensation Consultants in Compensation Decisions

As discussed above, the Committee has retained AonHewitt to assist in its analysis of the Company's compensation practices. The Committee has determined that AonHewitt's engagement did not present any conflicts of interest. In making this determination, the Committee considered (i) the provision of other services to the Company by AonHewitt (including without limitation, the engagement of AonHewitt by the Governance and Nominating Committee); (ii) the fees to be paid to AonHewitt by the Committee and by the Governance and Nominating Committee; (iii) the policies and procedures of AonHewitt that are designed to prevent conflicts of interest; (iv) any business or personal relationship between AonHewitt and a member of the Committee; (v) any stock of the Company owned by AonHewitt or the AonHewitt personnel providing services to the Committee; and (vi) any business or personal relationships between the executive officers of the Company and AonHewitt or the AonHewitt personnel providing services to the Committee. The Committee is charter provides that the Committee has the sole authority to retain, terminate and approve fees of a compensation consultant to the Committee and that all such fees, as determined by the Committee, shall be paid by the Company.

AonHewitt prepared a competitive assessment of the Company s compensation structure (including the components of compensation as well as total compensation opportunities) for each named executive officer as compared to comparable executive officers at the companies in the 2013 Peer Group, and a subset of the 2013 Peer Group selected to reflect the impact of the Company s growth strategy. AonHewitt also compared the Company s overall compensation structure to that of members of the Company s larger industry group. AonHewitt presented the results of this analysis to the Committee at the Committee s meeting in December 2012.

In addition, as noted above, management retained Semler Brossy to assist in developing its recommendations to the Committee with regard to the compensation of the named executive officers other than the chief executive officer. Semler Brossy prepared a competitive assessment of the compensation of each named executive officer against comparable officers at the companies in the 2013 Peer Group, as well as evaluated the target compensation and realizable pay of the Company s named executive officers as compared to total shareholder return for both the Company and the 2013 Peer Group. Semler Brossy did not present its analyses directly to the Committee; rather, such information was incorporated into management s presentation with regard to its overall compensation recommendations.

The Committee considered the information provided by both AonHewitt and Semler Brossy and also took into account the recommendations of management in making its compensation determinations. Pursuant to its charter, however, the Committee retains final approval of all material elements of executive compensation.

38

Effect of 2012 Say on Pay Vote

At the Company s 2012 annual meeting, a stockholder advisory vote regarding the Company s executive compensation (a *Say on Pay* proposal) took place. 91% of the votes cast on the Say on Pay proposal were voted in favor of the Company s executive compensation program. Given this significant level of support from the Company s stockholders, the Committee and the Board believe that the Company is taking a measured, informed and responsible approach to executive compensation which incorporates all of the Company s objectives and policies set forth above, including, but not limited to, a pay for performance culture that retains executives who perform strongly. For 2013 and as set forth below, the Board and the Committee considered this substantial affirmation as one of many factors in crafting an executive compensation program that largely mirrors the stockholder-approved approach.

Executive Compensation Components

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, the principal components of compensation for named executives included: (i) base salary; and (ii) incentive compensation in the form of cash bonuses and equity awards.

For the named executives, the Committee has discretion with respect to the size, types, amounts, and principal components of compensation, and, in the case of cash bonuses and equity awards, whether to make any available. For incentive compensation, the Committee establishes pre-determined percentage weights for each component of cash bonus, but does not have pre-determined percentage weights for equity awards. The following section summarizes the role of each compensation component and how decisions are made for the named executives.

2012 Base Compensation

Taking into account that Mr. Kesavan s and Mr. Wasson s 2011 base compensation remained below the 50th percentile of the 2012 Peer Group and the Company s strong performance for a second consecutive year despite unfavorable market conditions, as well as the competitive factors described above, the Committee decided to increase the base compensation levels of the Company s executive officers for 2012 so that they would more closely approximate the 50th percentile of the 2012 Peer Group. Therefore, the base compensation for Mr. Kesavan was increased to \$777,005, reflecting an 11% increase, and for Mr. Wasson to \$572,416, reflecting a 6% increase. Ms. Murray s base compensation was increased to \$336,170, reflecting a 10% increase; Ms. Glover s to \$344,947, reflecting a 4% increase; and Ms. Reiff s to \$314,517, reflecting a 4% increase.

Mr. Morgan was named our Chief Financial Officer on July 16, 2012. His base salary was set at \$450,000. Ms. Murray, who resigned from the position of Interim Chief Financial Officer upon Mr. Morgan s assuming the principal financial officer role, continued for a transition period, receiving her base salary until October 12, 2012.

2013 Base Compensation

Taking into account AonHewitt s assessment that the base compensation paid to our named executives for 2012 is generally consistent with the 2013 Peer Group, and consistent with management s recommendation, the Committee decided only to increase the base compensation levels of the Company s executive officers by 2%. Therefore, the base compensation for Mr. Kesavan was increased to \$792,563; Mr. Wasson s to \$583.877; Mr. Morgan s to \$459,014; Ms. Glover s to \$351,853; and Ms. Reiff s to \$320,819.

Incentive Compensation

Both our cash bonuses and equity awards are made pursuant to our Omnibus Plan. The Omnibus Plan is designed to: (i) optimize the profitability and growth of the Company through incentives consistent with the Company s goals; (ii) link and align the personal interests of participants with an incentive for excellence in individual performance; and (iii) promote teamwork.

Table of Contents 58

39

Tax Implications. Section 162(m) of the Code generally disallows a tax deduction to publicly held companies for compensation in excess of \$1.0 million in any taxable year paid to the chief executive officer or the three next most highly compensated executive officers, other than the chief financial officer. The Company s Omnibus Plan provides for ongoing compliance with Section 162(m) of the Code. Awards relating to targeted cash bonus opportunities (including equity awards that may be made in lieu of such cash bonuses) payable under the annual incentive program pursuant to the Omnibus Plan are intended to comply with Section 162(m) of the Code.

Annual Incentive Awards for 2012. With respect to the targeted level of incentive compensation in 2012, based on the data provided by AonHewitt and the Committee s consideration of that data and other factors, the Committee decided to define target performance as being overall Company performance between 85% and 115% of target, consistent with 2011. Based on the same factors, the Committee concluded that target incentive awards as a percentage of base compensation would be as follows: Mr. Kesavan, 100%; Mr. Wasson, 80%; Ms. Murray, 50%; Ms. Glover, 50%; and Ms. Reiff, 70%. Ms. Murray received a pro-rated share of her targeted annual incentive compensation in the amount of \$100,000 as part of her severance agreement, which was based on the number of months she acted in the capacity of Interim Chief Financial Officer during calendar year 2012.

Each executive who received a performance award under the annual incentive program for 2012 received an award of which 80% was in the form of a performance-based bonus opportunity tied to financial goals and 20% of which was in the form of a discretionary bonus opportunity, based on specific business challenges facing the executives during the fiscal year. The discretionary bonus was contingent on achievement of non-financial goals identified as to each executive, but was not contingent on the achievement of, or failure to achieve, any of the financial goals established for such executive with respect to the performance-based bonus discussed above. For Messrs. Kesavan and Wasson, their performance-based bonus was based on the following factors (percentage references are to percentages of aggregate bonus opportunities): gross revenue (35%), earnings per share (30%), U.S. federal contract backlog growth (9%) and commercial contract backlog growth (6%); and the discretionary bonus was based on contributions to the Company s strategic goals, acquisitions, collaboration, and people development (20%). The performance goals for Ms. Glover s performance-based bonus were based on the following factors: gross revenue (15%), earnings per share (25%), group gross revenue (15%), group operating margin (15%), group U.S. federal contract backlog growth (6%) and group commercial contract backlog growth (4%); with her discretionary bonus (20%) based on contributions to the Company s strategic goals, collaboration, quality of pipeline) (22.5%); with her discretionary bonus (20%) based on contributions to the Company s strategic goals, collaboration and people development.

Following the conclusion of 2012, the Committee reviewed the Company s performance against the previously identified 2012 performance metrics, including gross revenue, earnings per share, and backlog growth. These metrics were reviewed in the context of both the Company s core operations and overall performance. The core Company performance as a percentage of target in the applicable categories ranged from 77% to 92%. The Company s performance in the U.S. federal contract backlog category fell below the target threshold of 85%, landing at 77% due to reductions in federal spending. In all other 2012 performance metrics, however, the Company exceeded its 85% threshold and plan performance across all categories in the aggregate exceeded the 85% threshold. Thus, the Company s aggregate performance was in the range of on-plan performance as defined by the 2012 incentive program. Based on these factors, and upon the recommendation of management, the Committee decided that the discretionary portion of each named executive s incentive compensation would be allocated at 10% of the targeted 20%.

Overall, the Committee concluded that the 2012 aggregate Company annual incentive compensation pool should be funded at \$7.8 million and be distributed entirely in cash. With respect to individual named executives, the Committee s determinations took into account each person s relevant performance factors; the Committee also took into account the Company s performance in 2012 as evidenced by the aggregate performance-based

40

targets meeting the threshold. Taking into account the total targeted compensation for 2012 for the named executive officers, the Committee elected to fund the cash portion of each executive s targeted compensation at 30% of the bonus target for Mr. Kesavan, Mr. Wasson and Ms. Glover and 40% for Ms. Reiff. Mr. Morgan s bonus of \$270,000 for 2012 was agreed at the time of his hiring and was therefore not subject to the 2012 performance targets. This funding level equated to a cash bonus of \$233,102 for Mr. Kesavan, \$137,380 for Mr. Wasson, \$51,742 for Ms. Glover and \$88,065 for Ms. Reiff. Ms. Murray did not receive an annual incentive award based on 2012 performance because she is no longer employed by the Company.

Annual Incentive Program for 2013. The 2013 incentive program largely mirrors the program used in 2012. In particular, as discussed above, each executive who receives an award under the Annual Incentive Program for 2013 will receive an award of which 80% is in the form of a performance-based bonus opportunity tied to financial goals and 20% of which is in the form of a discretionary bonus opportunity based on specific business challenges facing the executives during each fiscal year. The discretionary bonus will be contingent on achievement of non-financial goals identified for each executive, but will not be contingent on the achievement of, or failure to achieve, any of the financial goals established for such executive with respect to the performance-based bonus discussed above. The Committee set each of the goals for the executives at levels that it believes are attainable, but still require consistent performance at a high level by each executive.

With respect to the targeted level of incentive compensation, the Committee decided to define target performance as being overall Company performance between 85% and 115% of target; consistent with 2012. Based on the same factors, the Committee concluded that target cash incentive awards as a percentage of base compensation would be as follows: Mr. Kesavan, 100%; Mr. Wasson, 80%; Mr. Morgan, 60%; Ms. Glover, 50%; and Ms. Reiff, 70%.

The performance factors to be taken into account in defining each named executive officer s eligibility for an incentive award remained largely consistent with 2012, with adjustments made to the contract backlog items to more accurately reflect the Company's current balance between U.S. federal and commercial contracts. For Messrs. Kesavan, Wasson and Morgan, the performance-based bonus will be based on the following factors (percentage references are to percentages of aggregate bonus opportunities): gross revenue (35%), earnings per share (30%), U.S. federal contract backlog growth (7.5%) and commercial contract backlog growth (7.5%); and the discretionary bonus will continue to be based on contributions to the Company's strategic goals, acquisitions, collaboration, and people development (20%). The performance goals for Ms. Glover's performance-based bonus will be based on the following factors: gross revenue (15%), earnings per share (25%), group gross revenue (15%), group operating margin (15%), group U.S. federal contract backlog growth (5%) and group commercial contract backlog growth (5%); with her discretionary bonus (20%) based on contributions to the Company's strategic goals, collaboration, people development and successful integration of acquisitions. Ms. Reiff's performance-based bonus will be based on the following factors: gross revenue (25%), earnings per share (10%), U.S. federal contract backlog growth (11.25%), commercial contract backlog growth (11.25%) and total pipeline growth (22.5%); with her discretionary bonus (20%) based on contributions to the Company's strategic goals, collaboration and people development. The underlying financial targets that make up these performance factors are meant to be motivational to our named executive officers. For this reason, the target amounts used for calculating incentive awards may be higher than our publicly-disclosed financial targets.

Equity Awards. Apart from utilizing equity grants to pay all or a portion of certain 2012 annual incentive awards referred to above, the equity component of the Company s compensation program has historically consisted of grants of stock options and/or RSUs. Such awards are designed to:

enhance the link between the creation of stockholder value and long-term executive incentive compensation;
encourage participants to focus on long-term Company performance;
provide an opportunity for increased equity ownership by executives;

Table of Contents 60

41

provide a retention tool for key talent; and

maintain competitive levels of total compensation.

Equity awards vary among participants based on their positions within the Company, their individual contributions, and the value they have added to the organization. In determining awards, the Committee considers current value, expected value at grant, and the ownership percentage associated with the award to draw a comparison among the recipients and make market comparisons to similarly situated executives in peer group companies. In establishing award levels, the Committee considers existing equity ownership levels of the participants.

The Company s Executive Officer Stock Ownership Policy recommends that the Company s chief executive officer own Company common stock with a value equal to or greater than three times the value of his base salary, and the other named executive officers of the Company own Company common stock with a value equal to or greater than the value of his/her base salary. Such recommendations would ideally be achieved by the later of (i) a four-year period after becoming a named executive officer and/or chief executive officer, or (ii) December 31, 2014. Each of Messrs. Kesavan and Wasson, Ms. Glover and Ms. Reiff already satisfy this recommendation, based on the Company s closing stock price of \$26.53 per share on April 8, 2013. Our primary focus is to retain executives in light of prevailing competitive conditions and to motivate executives in ways that support stockholder value.

The Committee makes annual awards at a pre-determined quarterly meeting of the Committee. In most cases, newly hired named executives whose compensation offer included an equity award are granted such awards during the first open trading window following their hire date.

2012 Equity Awards. During 2012, Mr. Kesavan s target equity grant was 175% of his base compensation, Mr. Wasson s was 125% of his base compensation, for each of Mr. Morgan, Ms. Glover and Ms. Reiff, 60% of base compensation and for Ms. Murray, 50% of base compensation.

Based on these targets, the Committee approved the following equity awards to our named executives in 2012, such grants taking the form of 50% RSUs vesting over a period of four years, and 50% nonqualified stock options vesting over a period of three years:

		ntive Awards Options	Restricted S	Stock Units
Name	Value of Stock Options	Shares Underlying Stock Options	Value of Restricted Stock Units (\$)(1)	Shares Underlying Restricted Stock Units (#)
Sudhakar Kesavan, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	\$ 679,878	68,744	\$ 679,862	26,495
John Wasson, President and Chief Operating Officer	357,751	36,173	357,752	13,942
James C. Morgan, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	125,061	15,104	124,978(2)	5,686
Sandra B. Murray, Former Interim Chief Financial Officer and Senior				
Vice President	84,035	8,497	84,037	3,275
Ellen Glover, Executive Vice President	103,479	10,463	103,461	4,032
Isabel S. Reiff, Executive Vice President	94,351	9,540	94,352	3,677

(1) With the exception of Mr. Morgan, calculations are based on the closing stock price of \$25.66 on the date of grant, March 19, 2012.

(2) Based on the closing stock price of \$21.98 on the date of grant, August 7, 2012.

With respect to these grants, the dollar amount recognized for financial statement purposes for 2012, in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, is reflected as 2012 compensation in the Summary Compensation Table below.

The executive officers direct reports also received their 2012 incentive awards in the form of 50% RSUs and 50% nonqualified stock options, with the remaining participants given 100% RSUs.

2013 Equity Awards. The target equity grants remained the same from 2012 to 2013. Mr. Kesavan s target equity grant remained at 175% of his 2013 base compensation, Mr. Wasson s remained at 125% of his 2013 base compensation, and each of Mr. Morgan s, Ms. Glover s and Ms. Reiff s target equity grants remained at 60% of their 2013 base compensation.

As a result, the Committee approved the following equity awards to our 2013 named executives, such grants taking the form of 50% RSUs vesting over a period of four years, and 50% nonqualified stock options vesting over a period of three years.

	1 0	ntive Awards Options	Restricted	Stock Units Shares
Name	Value of Stock Options	Shares Underlying Stock Options	Value of Restricted Stock Units (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Underlying Restricted Stock Units (#)
Sudhakar Kesavan, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	\$ 693,492	74,012	\$ 693,482	25,656
John Wasson, President and Chief Operating Officer	364,924	38,946	364,905	13,500
James C. Morgan, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	137,702	14,696	137,691	5,094
Ellen Glover, Executive Vice President	105,553	11,265	105,552	3,905
Isabel S. Reiff, Executive Vice President	96,239	10,271	96,227	3,560

(1) Based on the closing stock price of \$27.03 on the date of grant, March 18, 2013. Sandra B. Murray did not receive a 2013 equity award since she is no longer employed by the Company.

The executive officers direct reports also received their 2013 incentive awards in the form of 50% RSUs (both cash and stock settled) and 50% nonqualified stock options, with the remaining participants given 100% RSUs (both cash and stock settled).

Retirement and Other Benefits

Savings Plan. Our named executives are eligible to participate in our tax-qualified defined contribution profit-sharing plan, which has a Section 401(k) feature. Under the terms of this plan, eligible employees may elect to contribute up to 70% of their eligible compensation as salary deferral contributions to the plan, subject to statutory limits. We make matching contributions each pay period equal to 100% of an employee s 401(k) contributions up to the first 3% of the employee s compensation, and we also make matching contributions equal to 50% of the employee s 401(k) contributions up to the next 2% of the employee s compensation. We do not make matching contributions for employee 401(k) contributions in excess of 5% of the employee s compensation. Our contributions to this plan for our named executives are included under the All Other Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table below.

Perquisites. The Company does not provide any material perquisites or personal benefits to its named executives.

Severance Benefits. As of December 31, 2012, we were a party to severance protection agreements with Messrs. Kesavan and Wasson. We also have an employment agreement with Mr. Kesavan and severance letter agreements with each of Mr. Wasson, Mr. Morgan, Ms. Glover and Ms. Reiff that provide severance benefits both in the event of a termination in conjunction with a change of control and in certain other situations. We believe these agreements, which provide severance in certain situations, serve to promote stability and continuity among our named executives. The terms of these agreements and information regarding applicable payments under such agreements are provided under Payments Pursuant to Employment Agreement, Payments Pursuant to Severance Letter Agreements, and Payments in the Event of a Change in Control below.

On July 31, 2012, we entered into a severance letter agreement with Ms. Murray that provided for severance benefits following her resignation as Interim Chief Financial Officer. Since Ms. Murray left our employ during 2012, her agreements and potential payments are not discussed below; rather, her actual incurred severance payments are included in the *Summary Compensation Table*.

Compensation Practices and Risk

We do not believe the Company s compensation policies and practices for its employees are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company in connection with risk management practices and risk-taking incentives. Our business is by no means free from risk, but the operations of the Company s business units generating most of our revenues do not involve significantly different levels of execution or legal risk. In addition, the Company has a diverse revenue base. The Company s revenues are derived from a variety of contract types, under which revenue is determined on a time-and-materials, cost-based or fixed-price basis. Further, the Company has increased its commercial and non-U.S. government revenue as a percent of total revenue, primarily attributable to its acquisition activity over the last year and a half. So, although 60% of our revenue is still derived from the U.S. federal government, our revenue base continues to diversify. Our operations are also subject to both routine and non-routine federal and state government audits and reviews. These audits and reviews lessen the likelihood of risk-taking behavior by our employees. The performance factors that serve as the basis for the incentive compensation of the Company s executive officers, described above, are adjusted each year to account for changes in our business and related risks. Those performance factors have a healthy diversity in the context of risk management. The incentive compensation of our chief executive officer, chief operating officer and chief financial officer for 2012 was based in part (35%) on revenue and was balanced by the focus on earnings per share (30%) and U.S. federal contract backlog (9%) and commercial contract backlog (6%). For 2013, we have kept the incentive compensation percentages the same for gross revenue and earnings per share while the U.S. federal contract backlog and commercial contract backlog will each be 7.5%. We believe the adjustments made to the contact backlog more accurately reflect the Company s current balance between U.S. federal and commercial contracts. We believe that our emphasis on continuing to have a significant component of compensation in the form of equity aligns management with the interests of stockholders in terms of risk management.

44

Summary Compensation Table

The table below summarizes the actual compensation earned by persons who were our named executives during 2012.

	Year	Salary (\$)	Stock Awards (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Option Awards (\$) ⁽¹⁾	Non-Equity Incentive Compensation ⁽²⁾	All Other Compensation (\$) ⁽³⁾	Total (\$)
Name and principal position (a) Sudhakar Kesavan,	(b) 2012	(c) \$ 759,235	(e) \$ 679,862	(f) \$ 679,878	(g) \$ 233,102	(i) \$ 19.173	(j) \$ 2,371,250
Chairman and Chief	2011	682,699	559,990	560,053	700,003	21,973	2,524,718
Executive Officer	2010	597,131	1,063,287	499,965	581,260	18,973	2,760,616
John Wasson, President and Chief Operating Officer	2012 2011 2010	564,938 525,010 460,586	357,752 269,992 613,041	357,751 270,029 237,483	137,380 432,008 353,402	10,828 10,628 10,340	1,428,649 1,507,667 1,674,852
James C. Morgan, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	2012 ⁽⁴⁾	190,388	124,978	125,061	270,000	100,228	810,655
Sandra B. Murray, Former Interim Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President	2012 ⁽⁵⁾ 2011	270,930 303,318	84,037 47,480	84,035 47,502	200,000	435,500 11,342	874,502 609,642
Ellen Glover, Executive Vice President	2012 2011 2010	341,885 329,445 319,505	103,461 99,489 91,190	103,479 99,512 96,586	51,742 165,838 161,860	11,548 11,348 10,096	612,115 705,632 679,237
Isabel S. Reiff, Executive Vice President	2012 2011 2010	311,723 297,242 277,670	94,352 90,716 149,178	94,351 90,726 69,990	88,065 211,688 182,976	12,376 11,392 8,035	600,867 701,764 687,849

- (1) The amounts reported in the Stock Awards (column (e)) and Option Awards (column (f)) columns of the table above reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of stock awards and option awards. These values have been determined under the principles used to calculate the grant date fair value of equity awards for purposes of the Company s financial statements. For a discussion of the assumptions and methodologies used to value the awards reported in the Stock Awards (column (e)) and Option Awards (column (f)) columns, please see the discussion of stock awards and stock option awards contained in Note K to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012. Additionally, the 2012 closing per share prices used to calculate the value of restricted stock awards, as well as the grant date fair value amounts of each individual 2012 stock award and option award are found below in the table *Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2012*.
- (2) Amounts shown consist of payouts under the Annual Incentive Program for 2012 (amounts earned during the applicable fiscal year but paid after the end of the fiscal year). For additional information on these payouts, see 2012 Equity Awards under Executive Compensation Executive Compensation Components above.
- (3) Details of the amounts reported in the All Other Compensation column for 2012 are provided in the table below.
- (4) Mr. Morgan s 2012 compensation is from July 16, 2012 (his date of hire) through December 31, 2012.

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

(5) Ms. Murray s 2012 compensation is from January 1, 2012 until she left the Company effective October 12, 2012.

45

	Sudhal	kar Kesavan	John	Wasson	James (C. Morgan	Sandra	a B. Murray	Elle	n Glover	Isab	el S. Reiff
Imputed Income	\$	3,103	\$	828	\$	228	\$	1,310	\$	1,548	\$	2,376
Employer Contributions to												
401(k) Plan		10,000		10,000				8,510		10,000		10,000
Life Insurance Premiums		6,070										
Signing Bonus						100,000						
Severance								425,680				

Employment Agreement

We entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Sudhakar Kesavan as of the effective date of our initial public offering on September 27, 2006, which we later restated on December 29, 2008, for the purpose of bringing it into compliance with Section 409A of the Code. The agreement provides that Mr. Kesavan will serve as our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors and he will receive annual increases to his base salary at least equal to the increase in the consumer price index. The Compensation Committee may further increase Mr. Kesavan s base salary under that agreement based on the performance of the Company and other factors deemed relevant by the Compensation Committee. Mr. Kesavan will also be eligible to receive annual incentive bonuses equal to up to 100% of his base salary in the discretion of the Compensation Committee. We are also required to maintain a life insurance policy in an amount of at least \$1 million, payable to Mr. Kesavan s immediate family. Mr. Kesavan may terminate this agreement by giving 45 days notice to the Company, and the Company may terminate this agreement either without cause or for cause upon written notice. The benefits that Mr. Kesavan and other executive officers will receive upon termination of their employment or change in control are described under *Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control*.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2012

The following table provides information concerning all award grants made to the Company s named executives during 2012.

GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS										
Name	Grant Date	Pay No I	nated Future outs Under on-Equity ncentive Plan Awards Target ⁽¹⁾	All Other Stock Awards: Number of Shares of Stock or Units (#)	All Other Option Awards: Number of Securities Underlying Options (#)	Ba of A	ercise or se Price Option wards (\$/Sh)	of D	ing Price Stock on Oate of Grant \$/Sh)	Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option Awards (\$)
Sudhakar Kesavan,										
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	1/1/2012 3/19/2012 3/19/2012	\$	233,102	26,495(2)	68,744 ⁽³⁾	\$	25.66	\$	25.66 25.66	\$ 679,862 \$ 679,878
John Wasson , President and Chief Operating Officer	1/1/2012 3/19/2012 3/19/2012	\$	137,380	13,942(2)	36,173 ⁽³⁾	\$	25.66	\$	25.66 25.66	\$ 357,752 \$ 357,751
James C. Morgan, Executive										
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	7/16/2012 ⁽⁴⁾ 8/7/2012 ⁽⁴⁾ 8/7/2012 ⁽⁴⁾	\$	270,000	5,686 ⁽⁵⁾	15,104 ⁽⁶⁾	\$	21.98	\$	21.98 21.98	\$ 124,978 \$ 125,061
Sandra B. Murray, Interim										
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President	1/1/2012 3/19/2012 3/19/2012	\$		3,275 ⁽²⁾	8,497 ⁽³⁾	\$	25.66	\$	25.66 25.66	\$ 84,037 \$ 84,035
Ellen Glover, Executive Vice										
President	1/1/2012 3/19/2012 3/19/2012	\$	51,742	4,032(2)	10,463 ⁽³⁾	\$	25.66	\$	25.66 25.66	\$ 103,461 \$ 103,479
Isabel S. Reiff , Executive Vice President	1/1/2012 3/19/2012 3/19/2012	\$	88,065	3,677 ⁽²⁾	9,540 ⁽³⁾	\$	25.66	\$	25.66 25.66	\$ 94,352 \$ 94,351

- (1) Amounts represent the target cash payouts for fiscal 2012 awards under the Annual Incentive Plan.
- (2) These RSU awards vest in four equal installments on each March 19, beginning March 19, 2013.
- (3) These options vest in three equal installments on each March 19, beginning March 19, 2013.
- (4) Different grant date due to Mr. Morgan s July 16, 2012 hiring.

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

- (5) These RSU awards vest in four equal installments on each August 7, beginning August 7, 2013.
- (6) These options vest in three equal installments on each August 7, beginning August 7, 2013.

47

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2012 Fiscal Year-End

The following table provides information concerning unexercised options and stock awards that have not vested for each named executive outstanding as of December 31, 2012.

	OUTSTANDING E	QUITY AWARDS A' OPTION AW	STOCK AWARDS			
Name	Number of Securities Nu Underlying Unexercised Options Exercisable (#)	umber of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options (#) Unexercisable	Option Exercise Price (\$)	Option Expiration Date	Number of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (#)	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested (\$)(1)
Sudhakar Kesavan	50,000		\$ 18.31	3/23/2017	15,972 ⁽²⁾	\$ 374,384
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	30,893	15,446	24.84	3/31/2020	10,767 ⁽³⁾	252,378
	20,334	40,668	21.77	4/1/2021	10,064 ⁽⁴⁾	235,900
		68,744	25.66	3/19/2022	(5) 19,292 (6) 26,495	452,204 621,043
John Wasson	45,000		18.31	3/23/2017	8,734 ⁽²⁾	204,725
President and Chief Operating Officer	14,674	7,337	24.84	3/31/2020	7,778 ⁽³⁾	182,316
	9,804	19,608	21.77	4/1/2021	4,780 (4)	112,043
		36,173	25.66	3/19/2022	9,301 ⁽⁵⁾	218,015
					13,942 ⁽⁶⁾	326,800
James C. Morgan		15,104	21.98	8/7/2022	5,686 ⁽⁷⁾	133,280
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer						
Sandra B. Murray	3,646		24.84	1/12/2013 ⁽⁸⁾		
Former Interim Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President	1,725		21.77	1/12/2013 ⁽⁸⁾		
Ellen Glover	30,000		18.31	3/23/2017	2,328 ⁽²⁾	54,568
Executive Vice President	5,968	2,984	24.84	3/31/2020	1,498(3)	35,113
	3,613	7,226	21.77	4/1/2021	1,944 (4)	45,567
		10,463	25.66	3/19/2022	3,427 ⁽⁵⁾	80,329

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

					4,032 (6)	94,510
Isabel S. Reiff	4,325	2,162	24.84	3/31/2020	1,528 ⁽⁹⁾	35,816
Executive Vice President	3,294	6,588	21.77	4/1/2021	1,640 ⁽³⁾	38,442
		9,540	25.66	3/19/2022	1,408 (4)	33,004
					3,125 ⁽⁵⁾	73,250
					3,677 (6)	85,954

- (1) Based upon the closing market price of our common stock on the Nasdaq on December 31, 2012, which was \$23.44.
- (2) These unvested shares are time-based RSUs that vest in five equal installments on each April 8, beginning April 8, 2010.
- (3) These unvested shares are time-based RSUs that vest in four equal installments on each March 12, beginning March 12, 2011.
- (4) These unvested shares are time-based RSUs that vest in four equal installments on each March 31, beginning March 31, 2011.
- (5) These unvested shares are time-based RSUs that vest in four equal installments on each April 1, beginning April 1, 2012.

48

- (6) These unvested shares are time-based RSUs that vest in four equal installments on each March 19, beginning March 19, 2013.
- (7) These unvested shares are time-based RSUs that vest in four equal installments on each August 7, beginning on August 7, 2013.
- (8) These vested stock options were cancelled in the three months following Ms. Murray s termination from the Company on October 12, 2012.
- (9) These unvested shares are time-based RSUs that vest in five equal installments on each May 8, beginning May 8, 2010. **Option Exercises and Stock Vested During 2012**

The following table provides information concerning the vesting of stock awards and exercise of options for each named executive officer, on an aggregate basis, during 2012.

		Awards		
	Number of			
	Shares	Value		
N	Acquired	Realized		
Name	on Vesting	on Vesting		
	(#)	(\$) ⁽¹⁾		
(a)	(d)	(e)		
Sudhakar Kesavan, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer	25,284	\$ 636,543		
John Wasson, President and Chief Operating Officer	13,748	346,191		
James C. Morgan, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer				
Sandra B. Murray, Former Interim Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President	3,140	73,662		
Ellen Glover, Executive Vice President	4,030	101,511		
Isabel S. Reiff, Executive Vice President	3,331	82,101		

(1) The value of RSUs realized on vesting shown equals the value of the shares underlying the RSUs on the date of vesting. **Deferred Compensation Plan**

We maintain a nonqualified deferred compensation plan (the **Deferred Compensation Plan**) for a select group of key management and highly compensated employees who have been designated to be eligible to participate in the Deferred Compensation Plan by the Board of Directors or the Committee.

The Deferred Compensation Plan became effective on May 1, 2008, and allows participants to defer up to 80% of base salary and/or up to 100% of bonus and commissions. All amounts deferred are 100% vested. In addition, the Company may credit a participant s Deferred Compensation Plan account with Company contributions required under an employment agreement or any other agreement and/or with discretionary Company contributions. Company contributions are vested pursuant to the terms of any relevant agreement or, if none, on the anniversary of the date on which such Company contribution was credited to the participant s account balance, in accordance with the following schedule; provided, however, that the participant must be in the service of the Company as an employee on such anniversary to receive vesting credit:

Less than 1 year 0%

1 year but less than 2 years 33%

2 years but less than 3 years 67%

3 or more years 100%

Only one of the named executives designated to participate in the Deferred Compensation Plan elected to do so in 2012. No Company contributions were credited under the Deferred Compensation Plan for 2012. Deferred Compensation Plan accounts are deemed to be invested in one or more investment options selected by each participant from investment options offered under the Deferred Compensation Plan.

Deferred Compensation Plan participants are entitled to receive distributions from their Deferred Compensation Plan accounts upon separation from service, death, disability, and/or upon a specified date. Subject to the provisions of Section 409A of the Code, Deferred Compensation Plan participants may elect to receive distributions from the Deferred Compensation Plan in single lump-sum payments or installment payments over a period of two to five years for deferrals to specified dates or two to fifteen years for deferrals until after death, disability or other separation from service. If no such election is made, a participant shall be deemed to have elected a lump-sum form of payment.

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2012, regarding contributions and balances of named executive officers under the Deferred Compensation Plan:

	Cont	xecutive ributions in 2012 FY	Company Contributions for 2012 FY	Earni	ggregate ngs/Losses in 012 FY	Aggregate Distributions in 2012 FY	Aggregate Balance at 12/31/12
Sudhakar Kesavan							
John Wasson	\$	192,743		\$	60,063		\$ 586,412
James C. Morgan							
Sandra B. Murray							
Ellen Glover							
Isabel S. Reiff							

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

We maintain employment, severance, and change in control agreements with certain of our named executives who also participate in our long-term incentive plans. The following summaries describe and quantify the payments that each named executive would receive if his or her employment with us were terminated or if we had a change in control and such named executive s employment were terminated following the change in control. The summaries assume that the termination and/or change in control occurred on December 31, 2012, and that the relevant stock price is the closing market price for our common stock on Nasdaq on December 31, 2012, which was \$23.44 per share.

Payments Pursuant to Employment Agreement

We entered into an amended and restated employment agreement with Mr. Kesavan on September 27, 2006, which was again amended and restated on December 29, 2008, for compliance with Section 409A of the Code, under which he serves as our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors. If we terminate Mr. Kesavan s employment for cause, we will only be obligated to him for his base salary and bonus accrued but not yet paid as of the termination date, continuance of his healthcare coverage as required by law, vesting of outstanding options and other equity awards through the date of termination with payment in compliance with Section 409A, and reimbursement for any outstanding reasonable business expenses incurred in the performance of his duties. As defined in the employment agreement, cause means the following: (i) material violation of our written policies; (ii) willful conduct materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company; (iii) being charged with certain criminal conduct; or (iv) abuse of drugs or alcohol in the workplace.

If we terminate Mr. Kesavan s employment without cause or Mr. Kesavan terminates his employment for good reason, Mr. Kesavan will receive the following: (i) the amounts he would have received if terminated for cause; (ii) two times his annual base salary (which will be paid in two tranches: (y) the first tranche will be paid

monthly in approximately equal installments over the 24-month period following the termination date, with the aggregate amount not to exceed certain limitations set forth in Section 409A; and (z) the second tranche will be comprised of the difference of the total of two times his annual base salary minus the aggregate amount paid in the first tranche, and will be paid in a single lump sum payment on the first business day after six months from the termination date); (iii) accelerated vesting of all outstanding options and other equity awards; (iv) a pro rata share of his annual incentive compensation award for the fiscal year in which he was terminated payable in a lump sum on the later of the (a) date that is 90 days following the end of that fiscal year or (b) date that is six months after the date of such termination; and (v) continuation of Mr. Kesavan s family health and dental insurance policy in effect as of the date of termination for 24 months following termination. Also, while not specifically stated in his employment agreement, Mr. Kesavan is entitled to outplacement services for a period of 12 months, or his first acceptance of an employment offer, if shorter. Termination by the Company without cause includes: (i) any reason other than cause (as defined in the employment agreement and summarized above); (ii) death of Mr. Kesavan; or (iii) in the Company s sole discretion, if Mr. Kesavan becomes disabled (as defined in the employment agreement). Termination by Mr. Kesavan for good reason is any voluntary termination by Mr. Kesavan upon 45 days written notice to the Company.

All amounts and benefits under the employment agreement shall be paid in a manner or form that complies with Section 409A or an exception thereunder

Mr. Kesavan s employment agreement requires that he comply with certain covenants and requirements upon termination. Mr. Kesavan must maintain the confidentiality of all of our information and must not solicit present or prospective clients or employees for a period of two years following termination.

The payments that would have been made to Mr. Kesavan, pursuant to Mr. Kesavan s employment agreement, if he had incurred a termination of his employment as of December 31, 2012, are as follows:

Name	Pro RataBonus Share	Severance	Welfare Benefits	Outplacement Services	Unvested and Accelerated Awards
S. Kesavan					
With Cause	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$ 2,024,921(1)
Without Cause	233,102	1,554,010	2,203	12,000	2,024,921(1)
Death or Disability	233,102	1,554,010	2,203	12,000	$2,024,921^{(1)}$

(1) This amount excludes (i) 15,446 options with an exercise price of \$24.84 and (ii) 68,744 options with an exercise price of \$25.66, each of which exceeded the market price of our common stock as of December 31, 2012.

Payments Pursuant to Severance Letter Agreements

We entered into a severance letter agreement with Mr. Wasson, which was amended and restated on December 12, 2008, for compliance with Section 409A of the Code and for extension of the term from December 20, 2008 to December 31, 2011, with automatic one-year extensions thereafter unless: (i) notice by either party is given no later than the prior October 1; or (ii) a change in control of the Company, as more fully described in *Payments in the Event of a Change in Control*. No such notice was given by either party in 2012 and no change in control occurred. Mr. Wasson is entitled to certain payments in the event of termination of employment by the Company other than for cause (as defined in the severance protection agreement discussed below) or a voluntary resignation after a material adverse change in job responsibilities, compensation, or work location. In the event of a termination of employment under such an agreement, Mr. Wasson is entitled to (i) continuation of his base salary for 12 months or, if greater, the period during which he is subject to non-compete obligations, and (ii) an amount equal to the average annual bonus paid to the executive over the three years prior to his termination. The base salary severance benefits will be paid on the 26 biweekly pay dates following separation from service pursuant to the Company s normal payroll practices or, if longer, on the

biweekly pay dates during the time period the executive is subject to any non-competition restrictions with the Company. The bonus severance benefit will be paid within the 15-day period following the last payment of such biweekly base salary severance benefits. In addition, Mr. Wasson is entitled to accelerated vesting of all stock options, restricted stock, and other equity awards, and continuation of health and dental insurance for as long as salary continues to be paid under the agreement. Finally, while not specifically stated in his employment agreement, Mr. Wasson is entitled to outplacement services for a period of 12 months, or his first acceptance of an employment offer, if shorter. Payment of these severance benefits is subject to Mr. Wasson s compliance with certain covenants and requirements upon termination.

On July 31, 2012, we entered into a severance letter agreement with Ms. Murray that provided for severance benefits following her resignation as Interim Chief Financial Officer. Commencing on October 12, 2012, Ms. Murray received (i) a severance payment of \$312,766 paid in 15 bi-weekly installments, (ii) a pro-rated bonus of \$100,000, reflecting the amount of time that she served as our Interim Chief Financial Officer, (iii) welfare benefits, and (iv) outplacement services.

On February 21, 2012, we entered into severance letter agreements with Ms. Glover and Ms. Reiff. On July 16, 2012, we entered into a severance letter agreement with Mr. Morgan. Subject to certain restrictions and terms, each severance letter agreement provides that, in the event of an involuntary termination of employment without cause (as defined in the Omnibus Plan), then Ms. Glover, Ms. Reiff and Mr. Morgan are each entitled to nine (9) months—severance based on such executive—s: (i) then-current base salary; and (ii) the bonus payment in the prior 12-month period (provided, however, that if Mr. Morgan—s termination occurred prior to the payment of his guaranteed bonus of \$270,000 in March 2013, then his severance is only calculated based on his base salary). Such severance will be paid in bi-weekly installments in accordance with the Company—s scheduled pay dates. Ms. Glover, Ms. Reiff and Mr. Morgan are further entitled to continue their health coverage under COBRA and, for the duration of the severance payments, the Company will continue to pay the employer portion of the applicable premiums. Each of them is also eligible for six (6) months of executive career transition assistance. Such agreements also contain change in control provisions as discussed below under *Payments in the Event of a Change in Control*.

All amounts and benefits under these agreements shall be paid in a manner and form that complies with Section 409A or an exception thereunder.

The payments that would have been made to such named executives if termination of employment had occurred as of December 31, 2012, and all severance letter agreements had been in effect on such date, are presented in the following table. Ms. Murray is not included in the below table because she was no longer employed by the Company on December 31, 2012.

	Salary	Bonus	Welfare	Outplacement	Unvested
Name	Continuation	Payment	Benefits	Services	Awards
J. Wasson	\$ 572,416	\$ 366,123	\$ 11,760	\$ 12,000	\$ 1,076,646 ⁽¹⁾
J. Morgan	337,506		8,820	6,500	
E. Glover	258,710	124,379	6,900	6,500	
I. Reiff	235,888	158,766	2,564	6,500	

(1) This amount excludes (i) 7,337 options with an exercise price of \$24.84 and (ii) 36,173 options with an exercise price of \$25.66, each of which exceeded the market price of our common stock as of December 31, 2012.

Payments in the Event of Death or Disability

If any named executive officer dies or becomes disabled while employed by us, any unvested options or RSUs held by that named executive will vest and become exercisable immediately.

Payments in the Event of a Change in Control

We have entered into severance protection agreements with Messrs. Kesavan and Wasson that provide for payments in the event of termination of employment resulting from a change in control. We amended and restated the severance protection agreement of: (i) Mr. Wasson on December 12, 2008; and (ii) Mr. Kesavan on December 29, 2008, for the purpose of bringing each such severance protection agreement into compliance with Section 409A of the Code. In the event payments are made pursuant to these agreements, those payments supersede any other agreement between us and the named executive.

Under the severance protection agreements, Messrs. Kesavan and Wasson will receive certain payments and benefits if they are terminated without cause or resign for good reason within 24 months following a change in control. A change in control is defined as follows: (i) the acquisition by an individual, group, or entity of beneficial ownership of 35% or more of our outstanding voting shares, subject to certain exceptions; (ii) a change in our board of directors under certain circumstances such as an actual or threatened (x) election contest, (y) solicitation of proxies or (z) tender offer; (iii) the consummation of a reorganization, merger or consolidation, or sale of all or substantially all of our assets, subject to certain limitations and conditions set forth in the agreement; and/or (iv) approval by our stockholders of a liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

Termination without cause means any termination other than one for: (i) material violation of our material written policies; (ii) willful conduct materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company; (iii) being charged with certain criminal conduct; and/or (iv) drug or alcohol abuse in the workplace. Termination for good reason includes: (i) material adverse change in the executive s job duties or responsibilities, compensation, or location of employment; (ii) bankruptcy of the Company; (iii) material breach by the Company of the severance protection agreement; and/or (iv) failure to require any successor of the Company to assume the severance protection agreement.

In the event of a change of control and a termination of the employment of Messrs. Kesavan and Wasson without cause or their resignation for good reason within 24 months of the change in control, the named executives will be entitled to the following payments:

base salary earned through date of termination and pro rata bonus for the year of termination;

lump-sum payment equal to three times the named executive s average annual taxable W-2 compensation during the three years prior to the calendar year in which the termination occurs;

continued coverage for 36 months after termination for the named executive and the named executive s dependents and beneficiaries under life and medical insurance programs provided by the Company to similarly situated executives during the continuation period of such coverage (any such coverage and benefits thereunder shall comply with Section 409A);

outplacement services for a period of 12 months, or the named executive s first acceptance of an employment offer, if shorter; and

100% vesting of all equity awards granted under the 2006 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan or Omnibus Plan with payment or distribution of any such awards subject to Section 409A being made in a manner that complies with Section 409A. Further, adjustment shall be made to minimize the amount of compensation payable in the event of a change in control that is subject to Section 280G of the Code.

Messrs. Kesavan s and Wasson s agreements provide for an expiration date of December 31, 2011; *however*, on December 31, 2011, and each anniversary thereafter, the term is extended for one additional year unless, not later than October 1 of such year, the Company or executive shall give notice not to extend the term. No such notice was given by the Company or Messrs. Kesavan and Wasson by October 1, 2012, so the agreements were automatically renewed until December 31, 2013.

All amounts and benefits under these agreements shall be paid in a manner and form that complies with Section 409A or an exception thereunder. The payments that would have been made to Messrs. Kesavan and Wasson, if termination of employment related to a change in control had occurred as of December 31, 2012, are as follows:

	Pro Rata Salary				
Name	and Bonus	Lump-Sum Payment	Welfare Benefits	Outplacement Services	Unvested Awards
S. Kesavan	\$ 992,337	\$ 6,286,237	\$ 3,305	\$ 12,000	\$ 2,024,921(1)
J. Wasson	702.318	3,590,923	35,279	12,000	$1.076.646^{(2)}$

- (1) This amount excludes (i) 15,446 options with an exercise price of \$24.84 and (ii) 68,744 options with an exercise price of \$25.66, each of which exceeded the market price of our common stock as of December 31, 2012.
- (2) This amount excludes (i) 7,337 options with an exercise price of \$24.84 and (ii) 36,173 options with an exercise price of \$25.66, each of which exceeded the market price of our common stock as of December 31, 2012.

As mentioned above, we entered into severance letter agreements with Ms. Glover and Ms. Reiff on February 21, 2012 and with Mr. Morgan on July 16, 2012. Such agreements also contain change of control provisions, which are triggered if, within twelve (12) months of a change of control (as defined in the Omnibus Plan) there is: (i) a material reduction of the nature and scope of any such executive s authorities, powers, functions or duties, (ii) a material reduction in the their compensation or (iii) a relocation of their primary work location by more than 50 miles from their work location immediately prior to such change of control. In the event of such a change of control, each of Ms. Glover, Ms. Reiff and Mr. Morgan will be paid (a) a lump sum based on a pro-rated share of their then-current year s bonus target, and (b) twelve (12) months of severance based on their then-current base salary, plus the bonus payment each received in the prior twelve (12) months. The change of control payment will be paid in bi-weekly installments in accordance with the Company s scheduled pay dates.

In addition, any RSUs or non-qualified stock options held by each of Ms. Glover, Ms. Reiff and Mr. Morgan will immediately vest upon a change of control. The fair market value (as defined in the Omnibus Plan) of any RSUs will be paid to Ms. Glover, Ms. Reiff and Mr. Morgan in a lump sum within three days of the change of control and non-qualified stock options will either be cancelled and replaced with a replacement award (as defined in the Omnibus Plan) or cancelled in exchange for a lump sum payment of the fair market value of such non-qualified stock options.

Ms. Glover, Ms. Reiff and Mr. Morgan are further entitled to continue their health coverage under COBRA and, for the duration of the severance payments, the Company will continue to pay the employer portion of the applicable premiums. Each of them is also eligible for six (6) months of executive career transition assistance.

The payments that would have been made to each of Ms. Glover, Ms. Reiff and Mr. Morgan, if termination of employment related to a change in control had occurred as of December 31, 2012 are as follows:

Name	Pro Rata Bonus	Severance Payment	Welfare Benefits	Outplacement Services	Unvested Awards
J. Morgan	\$ 270,000	\$ 450,008	\$ 11,760	\$ 6,500	\$ 155,332
E. Glover	172,474	510,785	9,200	6,500	$322,155^{(1)}$
I. Reiff	220,162	526,205	3,419	6,500	$277,702^{(2)}$

(1) This amount excludes (i) 2,984 options with an exercise price of \$24.84 and (ii) 10,463 options with an exercise price of \$25.66, each of which exceeded the market price of our common stock as of December 31, 2012.

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

(2) This amount excludes (i) 2,162 options with an exercise price of \$24.84 and (ii) 9,540 options with an exercise price of \$25.66, each of which exceeded the market price of our common stock as of December 31, 2012.

54

During the time a named executive receives payment under an agreement, the executive agrees not to solicit employees from our successor and to maintain the confidentiality of our and our successor s information. The named executive also must provide a general release of all claims and causes of action against us and our successors arising from, or relating to, the named executive s employment with us.

55

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis included in this proxy statement. Based on this review and discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that such Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement and was appropriate for incorporation by reference into the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, filed with the SEC.

Compensation Committee

/s/ Cheryl W. Grisé Cheryl W. Grisé Compensation Committee Chairperson

/s/ Eileen O Shea Auen Eileen O Shea Auen

/s/ Peter M. Schulte Peter M. Schulte

56

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Company s management is responsible for the Company s internal controls and financial reporting process. The Company s independent registered public accounting firm is responsible for performing an independent audit of the Company s consolidated financial statements and issuing an opinion on the conformity of those financial statements with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (US GAAP) and expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting. The Audit Committee oversees the Company s internal controls and financial reporting process on behalf of the Board of Directors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with our management and with our independent registered public accounting firm, Grant Thornton LLP (Grant Thornton), the consolidated financial statements of ICF International and its subsidiaries as set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012. The Audit Committee has: (a) discussed with Grant Thornton those matters required to be discussed by Professional Standard AU 380 (Communication with Audit Committees), as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in Rule 3200T; (b) received from Grant Thornton the written communications required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, *Independence Discussions with Audit Committees*), as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in Rule 3600T; and (c) discussed with Grant Thornton its independence from us and our management. Grant Thornton has confirmed to us that it is in compliance with all rules, standards, and policies of the Independence Standards Board and the SEC governing auditor independence.

In performing all of these functions, the Audit Committee acts only in an oversight capacity. In its oversight role, the Audit Committee relies on the work and assurances of the Company s management, which has the primary responsibility for financial statements and reports, and of the independent registered public accounting firm that, in its report, expresses an opinion on the conformity of the Company s financial statements to US GAAP. The Audit Committee s oversight does not provide it with an independent basis to determine that management has maintained appropriate accounting and financial reporting principles or policies, or appropriate internal controls and procedures designed to assure compliance with US GAAP and applicable laws and regulations. Furthermore, the Audit Committee s considerations and discussions with management and the independent registered public accounting firm do not assure that the Company s financial statements are presented in accordance with US GAAP, that the audit of the Company s financial statements has been carried out in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States, or that the Company s independent registered public accounting firm is in fact independent.

Based on these reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, be included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, for filing with the SEC. The Audit Committee has also approved the selection of the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013.

Audit Committee

/s/ Dr. Srikant M. Datar*
Dr. Srikant M. Datar,
Audit Committee Chairperson

/s/ Dr. Ernest J. Moniz Dr. Ernest J. Moniz

/s/ S. Lawrence Kocot S. Lawrence Kocot

/s/ Peter M. Schulte Peter M. Schulte

^{*} Dr. Datar was Audit Committee Chairperson on February 26, 2013, when the Audit Committee approved its Report. He subsequently rotated off of the Audit Committee on April 1, 2013, and was replaced by Dr. Bersoff.

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company s executive officers, directors, and persons who own more than 10% of a registered class of equity securities to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC. Officers, directors, and greater than 10% stockholders are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) reports they file.

Based solely upon our review of copies of the reports we received and written representations provided to us from the individuals required to file such reports, we believe that each of our executive officers, directors, and greater than 10% stockholders has complied with applicable reporting requirements for transactions in our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2012.

STOCKHOLDERS PROPOSALS FOR THE 2014 ANNUAL MEETING

Under applicable SEC rules, any stockholder who intends to present a proposal at the 2014 annual meeting and who wishes to have the proposal included in our proxy statement and form of proxy for that meeting must deliver the proposal to us at our executive offices no later than December 21, 2013, or, if next year s annual meeting is held on a date more than 30 calendar days from June 7, 2014, a stockholder proposal must be received a reasonable time before the Company begins to post, print, and mail its proxy materials for such annual meeting. All stockholder proposals must comply with all applicable rules and regulations adopted by the SEC.

The Company s Bylaws provide that, in order for a stockholder to make nominations for the election of directors or proposals for business to be brought before the annual meeting, a stockholder must deliver notice of such nominations and/or proposals to the Corporate Secretary no earlier than the close of business on the 120th day and not later than the close of business on the 90th day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year s annual meeting (for our 2014 annual meeting, this would be February 7, 2014, and March 8, 2014, respectively). However, if the annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after such anniversary date, the notice must be received no earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the date of such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to the date of such annual meeting. Further, if the date of the annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after such anniversary date, and the first public announcement of the date of such annual meeting is less than 100 days prior to the annual meeting date, notice must be delivered no later than the close of business on the 10th day following the public announcement date. A copy of the Bylaws may be obtained from the Company by writing to ICF International, Inc., 9300 Lee Highway, Fairfax, Virginia 22031, Attention: Corporate Secretary. In addition to the timing requirements set forth above, any stockholder nominations for the election of directors or proposals for business must comply with all other requirements set forth in the Company s Bylaws.

58

SOLICITATION BY BOARD; EXPENSES OF SOLICITATION

We will pay all expenses in connection with the solicitation of the enclosed proxy. In addition to solicitation by mail, our directors, officers and employees may solicit proxies by telephone, electronically, in writing or in person, without receiving any extra compensation for such activities. We have retained The Proxy Advisory Group, LLC, a proxy soliciting firm, to assist in the solicitation of proxies as well as provide additional preliminary planning and advisory services with regard to the proposals in this proxy statement for an estimated fee of \$16,500, plus reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses. We also will reimburse brokers and nominees who hold shares in their names for expenses they incur to furnish proxy materials to the beneficial owners of such shares.

Any stockholder who has not received a copy of the Annual Report may obtain a copy by writing to the Corporate Secretary of the Company. The Annual Report is not to be treated as part of the proxy solicitation material or as having been incorporated by reference into this proxy statement.

ICF INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Mollie Roy

Corporate Secretary

59

ICF International, Inc.

2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan

Amended June 7, 2013

Contents

Article 1. Establishment, Purpose, and Duration	3
Article 2. Definitions	3
Article 3. Administration	7
Article 4. Shares Subject to This Plan and Maximum Awards	9
Article 5. Eligibility and Participation	10
Article 6. Stock Options	10
Article 7. Stock Appreciation Rights	13
Article 8. Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units	14
Article 9. Performance Units/Performance Shares	15
Article 10. Cash-Based Awards and Other Stock-Based Awards	16
Article 11. Transferability of Awards and Shares	17
Article 12. Performance Measures	17
Article 13. Nonemployee Director Awards	19
Article 14. Dividend Equivalents	19
Article 15. Beneficiary Designation	19
Article 16. Rights of Participants	19
Article 17. Change of Control and Retirement	20
Article 18. Amendment and Termination	21
Article 19. Reporting and Withholding	22
Article 20. Successors	22
Article 21. General Provisions	22

ICF International, Inc.

2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan

Amended June 7, 2013

Article 1. Establishment, Purpose, and Duration

- 1.1 Establishment. ICF International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (hereinafter referred to as the Company), establishes an incentive compensation plan to be known as ICF International, Inc. 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan (hereinafter referred to as the Plan), as set forth in this document. This Plan permits the grant of Nonqualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares, Performance Units, Cash-Based Awards, and Other Stock-Based Awards. This Plan became effective upon approval by the Company s Board of Directors on March 8, 2010 (the Effective Date) and shall remain in effect as provided in Section 1.3 hereof.
- **1.2 Objectives of This Plan.** The objectives of this Plan are to optimize the profitability and growth of the Company through incentives consistent with the Company s goals and that link and align the personal interests of Participants with an incentive for excellence in individual performance, and to promote teamwork.

This Plan is further intended to provide flexibility to the Company in its ability to motivate, attract, and retain the services of Participants who make significant contributions to the Company s success and to allow Participants to share in the success of the Company.

1.3 Duration of This Plan. This Plan shall remain in effect, subject to the right of the Board of Directors to amend or terminate this Plan at any time pursuant to Article 18, until all Shares subject to it shall have been purchased or acquired according to this Plan s provisions. However, in no event may an Award be granted under this Plan on or after ten (10) years from the Effective Date.

Article 2. Definitions

Whenever used in this Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below, and when the meaning is intended, the initial letter of the word shall be capitalized.

- **2.1 Affiliate** means any entity (i) which, directly or indirectly, is controlled by, controls or is under common control with, the Company, or (ii) in which the Company has a significant equity interest, in either case as determined by the Committee, and which is designated by the Committee as such for purposes of the Plan.
- 2.2 Annual Award Limit or Annual Award Limits have the meaning set forth in Section 4.3.
- **2.3** Award means, individually or collectively, a grant under this Plan of Nonqualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares, Performance Units, Cash-Based Awards, or Other Stock-Based Awards, in each case subject to the terms of this Plan.
- **2.4 Award Agreement** means either: (a) a written or electronic agreement entered into by the Company and a Participant setting forth the terms and provisions applicable to an Award granted

3

under this Plan, including any amendment or modification thereof, or (b) a written or electronic statement issued by the Company to a Participant describing the terms and provisions of such Award, including any amendment or modification thereof. The Committee may provide for the use of electronic, Internet, or other non-paper Award Agreements, and the use of electronic, Internet, or other non-paper means for the acceptance thereof and actions thereunder by a Participant.

- **2.5 Beneficial Owner** or **Beneficial Ownership** shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in Rule 13d-3 of the General Rules and Regulations under the Exchange Act.
- **2.6 Board** or **Board of Directors** means the Board of Directors of the Company.
- 2.7 Cash-Based Award means an Award, denominated in cash, granted to a Participant as described in Article 10.
- **2.8 Cause** means any of the following, unless otherwise specified in an Award Agreement or in an applicable employment agreement between the Company and a Participant, with respect to any Participant:
- (a) any act that would constitute a material violation of the Company s material written policies;
- (b) willfully engaging in conduct materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company, provided, however, that no act or failure to act, on the Participant s part, shall be considered willful unless done, or omitted to be done, by the Participant not in good faith and without reasonable belief that such action or omission was in the best interest of the Company;
- (c) being indicted for, or if charged with but not indicted for, being tried for (i) a crime of embezzlement or a crime involving moral turpitude, or (ii) a crime with respect to the Company involving a breach of trust or dishonesty, or (iii) in either case, a plea of guilty or no contest to such a crime;
- (d) abuse of alcohol in the workplace, use of any illegal drug in the workplace or a presence under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs in the workplace;
- (e) failure to comply in any material respect with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the Securities Act of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the Truth in Negotiations Act, or any rules and regulations issued thereunder; and
- (f) failure to follow the lawful directives of the Company s Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Operating Officer or the Board of Directors.
 - **2.9 Change of Control** means a change in the ownership or effective control of the Company, or a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets of the Company, as defined in Code Section 409A and the regulations thereunder.
 - **2.10 Code** means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time. For purposes of this Plan, references to sections of the Code shall be deemed to include references to any applicable regulations and notices thereunder and any successor or similar provision.
 - 2.11 Committee means the Compensation Committee of the Board or a subcommittee thereof, or any other committee designated by the Board to administer this Plan. The members of the Committee shall be appointed from time to time by and shall serve at the discretion of the Board and shall be composed of not less than two Directors, each of whom is a nonemployee director (within the meaning of Rule 16b-3) and an outside director (within the meaning of Code Section 162(m) to the extent Rule 16b-3 and Section 162(m) of the Code, respectively, are applicable to the Company and the Plan. If the Committee does not exist or cannot function for any reason, the Board may take any action under the Plan that would otherwise be the responsibility of the Committee.

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

2.12 Company means ICF International, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor thereto as provided in Article 20 herein.

4

- **2.13** Covered Employee means any Employee who is or may become a Covered Employee, as defined in Code Section 162(m), and who is designated, either as an individual Employee or class of Employees, by the Committee within the shorter of: (a) ninety (90) days after the beginning of the Performance Period provided the outcome for the Performance Period is substantially uncertain, or (b) twenty-five percent (25%) of the Performance Period has elapsed, as a Covered Employee under this Plan for such applicable Performance Period.
- **2.14 Director** means any individual who is a member of the Board of Directors of the Company.
- **2.15 Effective Date** has the meaning set forth in Section 1.1.
- 2.16 **Employee** means any individual performing services for the Company, an Affiliate, or a Subsidiary and designated as an employee of the Company, an Affiliate, or a Subsidiary on the payroll records thereof. An Employee shall not include any individual during any period he or she is classified or treated by the Company, Affiliate, or Subsidiary as an independent contractor, a consultant, or any employee of an employment, consulting, or temporary agency or any other entity other than the Company, Affiliate, or Subsidiary, without regard to whether such individual is subsequently determined to have been, or is subsequently retroactively reclassified as a common-law employee of the Company, Affiliate, or Subsidiary during such period. An individual shall not cease to be an Employee in the case of: (a) any leave of absence approved by the Company or (b) transfers between locations of the Company or between the Company, any Affiliates, or any Subsidiaries. For purposes of Incentive Stock Options, no such leave may exceed ninety (90) days, unless reemployment upon expiration of such leave is guaranteed by statute or contract. If reemployment upon expiration of a leave of absence approved by the Company is not so guaranteed, then three (3) months following the ninety-first (91st) day of such leave, any Incentive Stock Option held by a Participant shall cease to be treated as an Incentive Stock Option and shall be treated for tax purposes as a Nonqualified Stock Option. Neither service as a Director nor payment of a Director s fee by the Company shall be sufficient to constitute employment by the Company. For purposes of Awards other than Incentive Stock Options, a leave of absence may continue so long as the Employee is on military leave, sick leave, or other bona fide leave of absence if the period of such leave does not exceed six (6) months, or if longer, so long as the Participant retains a right to reemployment with the Company, a Subsidiary, or an Affiliate under an applicable statute or by contract.
- **2.17 Exchange Act** means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, or any successor act thereto.
- **2.18** Extraordinary Items means (a) extraordinary, unusual, and/or nonrecurring items of gain or loss; (b) gains or losses on the disposition of a business; (c) changes in tax or accounting regulations or laws; or (d) the effect of a merger or acquisition, all of which must be identified in the audited financial statements, including footnotes, or the Management s Discussion and Analysis section of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K.
- **2.19 Fair Market Value** or **FMV** means the fair market value of a Share as determined in accordance with Code Section 409A in good faith by the Committee.
- **2.20 Full-Value Award** means an Award which is in a form other than an ISO, NQSO, or SAR, and which is settled by the issuance of Shares.
- **2.21 Grant Date** means the date an Award is granted to a Participant pursuant to the Plan.
- **2.22 Grant Price** means the price established at the time of grant of an SAR pursuant to Article 7, used to determine whether there is any payment due upon exercise of the SAR.

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

2.23 Incentive Stock Option or **ISO** means an Option to purchase Shares that is granted under Article 6 to an Employee, that is designated as an Incentive Stock Option, and that is intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 422 or any successor provision thereto.

5

- **Insider** means an individual who is, on the relevant date, an officer or Director of the Company, or a more than ten percent (10%) Beneficial Owner of any class of the Company s equity securities that is registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, as determined by the Board in accordance with Section 16 of the Exchange Act.
- **2.25 Nonemployee Director** means a Director who is not an Employee.
- **2.26** Nonemployee Director Award means any NQSO, SAR, or Full-Value Award granted, whether singly, in combination, or in tandem, to a Participant who is a Nonemployee Director pursuant to such applicable terms, conditions, and limitations as the Board or the Committee may establish in accordance with this Plan.
- **2.27 Nonqualified Stock Option** or **NQSO** means an Option that is not intended to meet the requirements of Code Section 422, or that otherwise does not meet such requirements.
- **2.28 Option** means an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonqualified Stock Option, as described in Article 6.
- **2.29 Option Price** means the price at which a Share may be purchased by a Participant pursuant to an Option.
- **2.30 Other Stock-Based Award** means an equity-based or equity-related Award not otherwise described by the terms of this Plan, granted pursuant to Article 10.
- **2.31 Participant** means any eligible individual as set forth in Article 5 to whom an Award is granted.
- 2.32 Performance-Based Compensation means compensation under an Award that is intended to satisfy the requirements of Code Section 162(m) for certain performance-based compensation paid to Covered Employees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Plan shall be construed to mean that an Award which does not satisfy the requirements for performance-based compensation under Code Section 162(m) does not constitute performance-based compensation for other purposes, including Code Section 409A.
- **2.33 Performance Measures** mean measures as described in Article 12 on which the performance goals are based and which are approved by the Company s stockholders pursuant to this Plan in order to qualify Awards as Performance-Based Compensation.
- **2.34 Performance Period** means the period of time, as determined by the Compensation Committee, during which the performance goals must be met in order to determine the degree of payout and/or vesting with respect to an Award; provided, however, that in no event shall such a period be less than 12 consecutive months.
- **2.35 Performance Share** means an Award under Article 9 herein and subject to the terms of this Plan, denominated in Shares, the value of which at the time it is payable is determined as a function of the extent to which applicable Performance Measures have been achieved during a Performance Period.
- **2.36 Performance Unit** means an Award under Article 9 herein and subject to the terms of this Plan, denominated in units, the value of which at the time it is payable is determined as a function of the extent to which applicable Performance Measures have been

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

achieved during a Performance Period.

- **2.37 Period of Restriction** means the period when Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture (based on the passage of time, the achievement of performance goals, or upon the occurrence of other events as determined by the Committee, in its discretion), as provided in Article 8.
- **2.38 Person** has the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(a)(9) of the Exchange Act and used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, including a group as defined in Section 13(d) thereof.
- **2.39 Plan** means ICF International, Inc. 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended.
- **2.40 Plan Year** means the Company s fiscal year which begins January 1 and ends December 31.

6

- **2.41 Prior Plan** means ICF International, Inc. 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan.
- **2.42 Restricted Stock** means an Award granted to a Participant pursuant to Article 8.
- **2.43 Restricted Stock Unit** means an Award granted to a Participant pursuant to Article 8, except no Shares are actually awarded to the Participant on the Grant Date.
- **2.44 Retirement** shall mean the Termination of Employment by a Participant who is at least 62 years old, provided that (a) such Participant has a minimum of ten (10) years of service with the Company or any Affiliate and (b) the Committee does not determine, at the time of such Participant s Termination of Employment, that the Participant has accepted (or is reasonably likely to accept in the immediate future) full-time employment with another business in a similar professional capacity.
- **Share** means a share of common stock of the Company, no par value per share.
- **Share Pool** means the number of Shares authorized for issuance under Section 4.1, as adjusted for Awards and payouts under Section 4.2 and as adjusted for changes in corporate capitalization under Section 4.3.
- **2.47 Specified Employee** means a specified employee within the meaning of Code Section 409A and any specified employee identification policy or procedure of the Company.
- 2.48 Stock Appreciation Right or SAR means an Award, designated as an SAR, pursuant to the terms of Article 7 herein.
- **2.49 Subsidiary** means any corporation or other entity, whether domestic or foreign, in which the Company has or obtains, directly or indirectly, an interest of more than fifty percent (50%) by reason of stock ownership or otherwise.
- **2.50 Termination of Employment** or **terminates employment** means a separation from service of a Participant within the meaning of Code Section 409A.

Article 3. Administration

- **3.1 General**. The Committee shall be responsible for administering this Plan, subject to this Article 3 and the other provisions of this Plan. The Committee may employ attorneys, consultants, accountants, agents, and other individuals, any of whom may be an Employee, and the Committee, the Company, and its officers and Directors shall be entitled to rely upon the advice, opinions, or valuations of any such individuals. All actions taken and all interpretations and determinations made by the Committee shall be final and binding upon the Participants, the Company, and all other interested individuals.
- **3.2 Authority of the Committee**. Subject to any express limitations set forth in the Plan, the Committee shall have full and exclusive discretionary power and authority to take such actions as it deems necessary and advisable with respect to the administration of the Plan including, but not limited to, the following:
 - (a) To determine from time to time which of the persons eligible under the Plan shall be granted Awards, when and how each Award shall be granted, what type or combination of types of Awards shall be granted, the provisions of each Award granted (which need not be identical), including the time or times when a person shall be permitted to receive

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

Shares pursuant to an Award, and the number of Shares subject to an Award;

(b) To construe and interpret the Plan and Awards granted under it, and to establish, amend, and revoke rules and regulations for its administration. The Committee, in the exercise of this power, may correct any defect, omission, or inconsistency in the Plan or in an Award Agreement, in a manner and to the extent it shall deem necessary or expedient to make the Plan fully effective;

7

- (c) To approve forms of Award Agreements for use under the Plan;
- (d) To determine Fair Market Value of a Share in accordance with Section 2.19 of the Plan;
- (e) To amend the Plan or any Award Agreement as provided in the Plan;
- (f) To adopt subplans and/or special provisions applicable to stock awards regulated by the laws of a jurisdiction other than and outside of the United States, which may take precedence over other provisions of the Plan, but unless otherwise superseded by the terms of such subplans and/or special provisions, shall be governed by the provisions of the Plan;
- (g) To authorize any person to execute on behalf of the Company any instrument required to effect the grant of a stock award previously granted by the Board;
- (h) To determine whether Awards will be settled in Shares of common stock, cash, or in any combination thereof;
- (i) Subject to Article 14, to determine whether Awards will be adjusted for dividend equivalents, with Dividend Equivalents meaning a credit, made at the discretion of the Committee, to the account of a Participant in an amount equal to the cash dividends paid on one Share for each Share represented by an Award held by such Participant;
- (j) To impose such restrictions, conditions, or limitations as it determines appropriate as to the timing and manner of any resales by a Participant or other subsequent transfers by the Participant of any Shares, including, without limitation:(i) restrictions under an insider trading policy and (ii) restrictions as to the use of a specified brokerage firm for such resales or other transfers.

Notwithstanding the powers and authorities of the Committee set forth in this Article 3:

- (a) The Committee shall not permit the repricing of Options by any method, including by exchanges for other Awards involving Shares or by cancellation and re-issuance.
- (b) The Committee may only accelerate the vesting or exercisability of an Award: (i) upon termination of employment by a Participant as permitted under Code Section 409A, or (ii) upon death or disability of a Participant or a Change of Control.
- **3.3 Delegation**. The Committee may delegate to one or more of its members or to one or more officers of the Company or any Subsidiary or Affiliate or to one or more agents or advisors such administrative duties or powers as it may deem advisable, and the Committee or any individuals to whom it has delegated duties or powers as aforesaid may employ one or more individuals to render advice with respect to any responsibility the Committee or such individuals may have under this Plan. The Committee may, by resolution, authorize one or more officers of the Company to do one or both of the following on the same basis as can the Committee: (a) designate Employees to be recipients of Awards; (b) determine the size of any such Awards; provided, however, (i) the Committee shall not delegate such responsibilities to any such officer for Awards granted to an Employee who is considered an Insider; (ii) the resolution providing such authorization sets forth the total number of Awards such officer(s) may grant; and (iii) the officer(s) shall report periodically to the Committee regarding the nature and scope of the Awards granted pursuant to the authority delegated.
- **3.4 Decisions Binding**. All determinations and decisions made by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of this Plan and all related orders and resolutions of the Board shall be final, conclusive, and binding on all persons, including the Company, its stockholders, Employees, Participants, and their estates and beneficiaries.

8

Article 4. Shares Subject to This Plan and Maximum Awards

- **4.1 Number of Shares Available for Grants**. Subject to adjustment under Section 4.4, Awards (including ISOs) may be made under the Plan for up to the number of Shares that is equal to the sum of 3,550,000 Shares plus (a) any Shares not issued or subject to outstanding awards under the Company s Prior Plan as of the Effective Date and (b) any Shares subject to outstanding awards, other than ISOs, under the Prior Plan as of the Effective Date that on or after the Effective Date cease for any reason to be subject to such awards (other than by reason of exercise or settlement of the awards to the extent they are exercised for or settled in vested and nonforfeitable Shares). Awards of ISOs may be made under the Plan for up to 750,000 Shares.
- 4.2 Share Usage. Any Shares that are subject to Awards of Options or Stock Appreciation Rights are counted as one (1) Share for every one (1) Share delivered under the Awards. Any Shares that are subject to Awards that are not Options or Stock Appreciation Rights are counted as 1.93 Shares for every one (1) Share delivered under those Awards. Any Shares related to Awards under this Plan or under the Prior Plan that terminate by expiration, forfeiture, cancellation, or otherwise without the issuance of the Shares, or are settled in cash in lieu of Shares, or are exchanged, with the Committee s permission, prior to the issuance of Shares, for Awards not involving Shares, shall be available again for grant under this Plan. The following Shares, however, may not again be made available for grant in respect of Awards under this Plan: (i) Shares not issued or delivered as a result of the net settlement of an outstanding Option or Stock Appreciation Right; (ii) Shares delivered to or withheld by the Company to pay the Option or Grant Price of or the withholding taxes with respect to an Award, and (iii) Shares repurchased on the open market with the proceeds from the payment of the Option Price of an Option. The Shares available for issuance under this Plan may be authorized and unissued Shares or treasury Shares.
- **4.3 Annual Award Limits**. Unless and until the Committee determines that an Award to a Covered Employee shall not be designed to qualify as Performance-Based Compensation, the following limits (each an Annual Award Limit and, collectively, Annual Award Limits), as adjusted pursuant to Sections 4.4 and 18.2, shall apply to grants of such Awards under this Plan:
 - (a) **Options and SARs**: The maximum aggregate number of Shares subject to Options and SARs granted to any one Participant in any one Plan Year shall be 600,000.
 - (b) **Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units**: The maximum aggregate number of Shares subject to Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units granted to any one Participant in any one Plan Year shall be 250,000.
 - (c) **Performance Units**: The maximum aggregate amount awarded or credited with respect to Performance Units to any one Participant in any one Plan Year may not exceed \$6,000,000, determined as of the date of payout.
 - (d) Performance Shares: The maximum aggregate number of Performance Shares that a Participant may receive in any one Plan Year shall be 500.000 Shares.
 - (e) **Cash-Based Awards**: The maximum aggregate amount awarded or credited with respect to Cash-Based Awards to any one Participant in any one Plan Year may not exceed \$6,000,000, determined as of the date of payout.
- (f) Other Stock-Based Awards: The maximum aggregate amount awarded or credited with respect to Other Stock-Based Awards to any one Participant in any one Plan Year may not exceed 250,000 Shares. Determinations made pursuant to the above limits shall be made in a manner that is consistent with Code Section 162(m).

Table of Contents 97

9

- **4.4 Adjustments in Authorized Shares**. Adjustment in authorized Shares available for issuance under the Plan or under an outstanding Award and adjustments in Annual Award Limits shall be subject to the following provisions:
 - In the event of any corporate event or transaction (including, but not limited to, a change in the Shares of the Company or the capitalization of the Company) such as a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization, separation, partial or complete liquidation, stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, split up, spin-off or other distribution of stock or property of the Company, combination of Shares, exchange of Shares, dividend in-kind, or other like change in capital structure or distribution (other than normal cash dividends) to stockholders of the Company, or any similar corporate event or transaction, the Committee, in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of Participants rights under this Plan, shall substitute or adjust, as applicable, the number and kind of Shares that may be issued under this Plan or under particular forms of Awards, the number and kind of Shares subject to outstanding Awards, the Option Price or Grant Price applicable to outstanding Awards, the Annual Award Limits, and other value determinations applicable to outstanding Awards; provided that the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall determine the methodology or manner of making such substitution or adjustment.
 - (b) The Committee, in its sole discretion, may also make appropriate adjustments in the terms of any Awards under this Plan to reflect such changes or distributions and to modify any other terms of outstanding Awards, including modifications of performance goals and changes in the length of Performance Periods.
 - (c) The determination of the Committee as to the foregoing adjustments, if any, shall be conclusive and binding on Participants under this Plan.
 - (d) Subject to the provisions of Article 18 and notwithstanding anything else herein to the contrary, without affecting the number of Shares reserved or available hereunder, the Committee may authorize the issuance or assumption of benefits under this Plan in connection with any merger, consolidation, acquisition of property or stock, or reorganization upon such terms and conditions as it may deem appropriate, subject to compliance with the rules under Code Sections 422, 424, and 409A as and where applicable.

Article 5. Eligibility and Participation

- **5.1 Eligibility**. Persons eligible to participate in this Plan include (a) all officers and key Employees of the Company, as determined by the Committee, including Employees who are members of the Board, and (b) all Nonemployee Directors.
- **5.2 Actual Participation**. Subject to the provisions of this Plan, the Committee may, from time to time, select from all eligible individuals, those individuals to whom Awards shall be granted and shall determine, in its sole discretion, the nature of any and all terms permissible by law and the amount of each Award.

Article 6. Stock Options

- **6.1 Grant of Options**. Subject to the terms and provisions of this Plan, Options may be granted to Participants in such number, and upon such terms, and at any time and from time to time as shall be determined by the Committee, in its sole discretion.
- **6.2 Award Agreement**. Each Option grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the Option Price, the maximum duration of the Option, the number of Shares to which the Option pertains, the

10

conditions upon which an Option shall become vested and exercisable, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine which are not inconsistent with the terms of this Plan. The Award Agreement also shall specify whether the Option is intended to be an ISO or an NQSO.

- **6.3 Option Price**. The Option Price for each grant of an Option under this Plan shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion and shall be specified in the Award Agreement; provided, however, the Option Price must be at least equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the FMV of a Share as of the Option s Grant Date.
- **6.4 Term of Options**. Each Option granted to a Participant shall expire at such time as the Committee shall determine at the time of grant; provided, however, no Option shall be exercisable later than the tenth (10th) anniversary date of its grant. In addition, except to the extent permitted by Code Section 409A, no extension of the exercise period fixed on the Grant Date of an Option shall be permitted. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for Nonqualified Stock Options granted to Participants outside the United States, the Committee may provide for a longer term to accommodate regulations in non-U.S. jurisdictions that require a minimum exercise or vesting period following a Participant s death to achieve favorable tax results or comply with local law.
- **6.5 Exercise of Options**. Options granted under this Article 6 shall be exercisable at such times and be subject to such restrictions and conditions as the Committee shall in each instance approve, which terms and restrictions need not be the same for each grant or for each Participant.
- **6.6 Payment.** Options granted under this Article 6 shall be exercised by the delivery of a notice of exercise to the Company or an agent designated by the Company in a form specified or accepted by the Committee, or by complying with any alternative procedures which may be authorized by the Committee, setting forth the number of Shares with respect to which the Option is to be exercised, accompanied by full payment for the Shares. A condition of the issuance of the Shares as to which an Option shall be exercised shall be the payment of the Option Price. The Option Price of any exercised Option shall be payable to the Company in accordance with one of the following methods:
 - (a) In cash or its equivalent;
 - (b) By tendering (either by actual delivery or attestation) previously acquired Shares having an aggregate Fair Market Value at the time of exercise equal to the Option Price (provided that such Shares are not the subject of any pledge or other security interest and have been owned by the Participant for at least six months);
 - (c) By a cashless (broker-assisted) exercise;
 - (d) By any combination of (a), (b), and (c); or
- (e) Any other method approved or accepted by the Committee in its sole discretion.

 Subject to any governing rules or regulations, as soon as practicable after receipt of written notification of exercise and full payment (including satisfaction of any applicable tax withholding), the Company shall deliver to the Participant evidence of book entry Shares, or upon the Participant s request, Share certificates in an appropriate amount based upon the number of Shares purchased under the Option(s). Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, all payments under all of the methods indicated above shall be paid in United States dollars or Shares, as applicable.
- **6.7 Termination of Employment**. Each Participant s Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which the Participant shall have the right to exercise the Option following termination of the Participant s employment or provision of services to the Company or any Affiliate or Subsidiary, as the case may be. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with each Participant, need not be uniform among all Options issued pursuant to this Article 6, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination.

11

6.8 Special Rules Regarding ISOs. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, an ISO granted to a Participant shall be subject to the following rules:

- (a) Special ISO Definitions.
 - (i) Parent Corporation shall mean as of any applicable date a corporation in respect of the Company that is a parent corporation within the meaning of Code Section 424(e).
 - (ii) ISO Subsidiary shall mean as of any applicable date any corporation in respect of the Company that is a subsidiary corporation within the meaning of Code Section 424(f).
 - (iii) A 10% Owner is an individual who owns stock possessing more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or its Parent Corporation or any ISO Subsidiary, as determined under Section 424(d) of the Code.
- (b) **Eligible Employees**. ISOs may be granted solely to eligible Employees of the Company, Parent Corporation, or ISO Subsidiary (as permitted under Code Sections 422 and 424).
- (c) **Specified as an ISO.** The Award Agreement evidencing the grant of an ISO shall specify that such grant is intended to be an ISO.
- (d) **Option Price**. The Option Price of an ISO granted under the Plan shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion and shall be specified in the Award Agreement; provided, however, the Option Price must at least equal one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value of a Share as of the ISO s Grant Date (in the case of 10% Owners, the Option Price may not be not less than 110% of such Fair Market Value).
- (e) Right to Exercise. Any ISO granted to a Participant under the Plan shall be exercisable during his or her lifetime solely by such Participant.
- (f) **Exercise Period**. The period during which a Participant may exercise an ISO shall not exceed ten (10) years (five (5) years in the case of a Participant who is a 10% Owner) from the Grant Date.
- (g) **Termination of Employment**. In the event a Participant terminates employment due to death or disability, as defined under Code Section 22(e)(3), the Participant (or his beneficiary, in the case of death) shall have the right to exercise the Participant s ISO Award during the period specified in the applicable Award Agreement solely to the extent the Participant had the right to exercise the ISO on the date of his death or disability, as applicable; provided, however that such period may not exceed one (1) year from the date of such termination of employment or, if shorter, the remaining term of the ISO. In the event a Participant terminates employment for reasons other than death or disability, as defined under Code Section 22(e)(3), the Participant shall have the right to exercise the Participant s ISO Award during the period specified in the applicable Award Agreement solely to the extent the Participant had the right to exercise the ISO on the date of such termination of employment; and provided further, that such period may not exceed three (3) months from the date of such termination of employment or, if shorter, the remaining term of the ISO.

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

(h) **Dollar Limitation**. To the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value of: (i) the Shares with respect to which Options designated as Incentive Stock Options plus (ii) the Shares of common stock of the Company, Parent Corporation, and any Subsidiary with respect to which other Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by a holder of an ISO during any calendar year under all plans of the Company and any Affiliate and Subsidiary exceeds one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000), such Options shall be treated as Nonqualified Stock Options. For purposes of the preceding sentence, Options shall be taken

12

into account in the order in which they were granted, and the Fair Market Value of the Shares shall be determined as of the time the Option or other Incentive Stock Option is granted.

- (i) **Duration of Plan.** No Incentive Stock Options may be granted more than ten (10) years after the earlier of: (i) adoption of this Plan by the Board, or (ii) the Effective Date.
- (j) Notification of Disqualifying Disposition. If any Participant shall make any disposition of Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of an ISO, such Participant shall notify the Company of such disposition within thirty (30) days thereof. The Company shall use such information to determine whether a disqualifying disposition as described in Code Section 421(b) has occurred.
- (k) **Transferability**. No ISO granted under this Plan may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution; provided, however, at the discretion of the Committee, an ISO may be transferred to a U.S. grantor trust under which a U.S. Participant making the transfer is the sole beneficiary.
- **6.9** No Deferral Feature. Except to the extent permitted under Code Section 409A, no NQSO or ISO shall contain any feature for the deferral of compensation (other than the deferral of recognition of income until the exercise of a NQSO).

Article 7. Stock Appreciation Rights

- **7.1 Grant of SARs**. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan, SARs may be granted to Participants at any time and from time to time as shall be determined by the Committee. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan, the Committee shall have complete discretion in determining the number of SARs granted to each Participant and, consistent with the provisions of this Plan, in determining the terms and conditions pertaining to such SARs.
- **7.2 Grant Price**. The Grant Price for each grant of an SAR shall be determined by the Committee and shall be specified in the Award Agreement; provided, however, the Grant Price must be at least equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the FMV of a Share as of the Grant Date.
- **7.3 SAR Agreement**. Each SAR Award shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the Grant Price, the term of the SAR, the number of Shares subject to the SAR, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine.
- **7.4 Term of SAR**. The term of an SAR granted under this Plan shall be determined by the Committee, in its sole discretion, and except as determined otherwise by the Committee and specified in the SAR Award Agreement, no SAR shall be exercisable later than the tenth (10th) anniversary date of its grant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for SARs granted to Participants outside the United States, the Committee may provide for a longer term to accommodate regulations in non-U.S. jurisdictions that require a minimum exercise or vesting period following a participant s death to achieve favorable tax results or comply with local law.
- 7.5 Exercise of SARs. SARs may be exercised upon whatever terms and conditions the Committee, in its sole discretion, imposes.
- **7.6 Settlement of SARs**. Upon the exercise of an SAR, a Participant shall be entitled to receive payment from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying:
 - (a) The excess of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of exercise over the Grant Price; by

13

- (b) The number of Shares with respect to which the SAR is exercised.
- **7.7 Form of Payment**. Payment, if any, with respect to an SAR settled in accordance with Section 7.6 of the Plan shall be made in accordance with the terms of the applicable Award Agreement, in cash, Shares, or a combination thereof, as the Committee determines.
- **7.8 Termination of Employment**. Each Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which the Participant shall have the right to exercise the SAR following termination of the Participant s employment with or provision of services to the Company, Affiliates, or Subsidiaries, as the case may be. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with Participants, need not be uniform among all SARs issued pursuant to this Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination.
- **7.9** No Deferral Feature. Except to the extent permitted under Code Section 409A, no SAR shall contain any feature for the deferral of compensation (other than the deferral of recognition of income until the exercise of the SAR).
- **7.10 Other Restrictions**. The Committee shall impose such other conditions or restrictions on any Shares received upon exercise of an SAR granted pursuant to this Plan as it may deem advisable or desirable. These restrictions may include, but shall not be limited to, a requirement that the Participant hold the Shares received upon exercise of an SAR for a specified period of time.

Article 8. Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

- **8.1** Grant of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units. Subject to the terms and provisions of this Plan, the Committee, at any time and from time to time, may grant Shares of Restricted Stock and/or Restricted Stock Units to Participants in such amounts as the Committee shall determine. Restricted Stock Units shall be similar to Restricted Stock except that no Shares are actually awarded to the Participant on the Grant Date.
- **8.2 Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Unit Agreement.** Each Restricted Stock and/or Restricted Stock Unit grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the Period(s) of Restriction, the number of Shares of Restricted Stock, or the number of Restricted Stock Units granted, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine.
- 8.3 Other Restrictions. The Committee shall impose such other conditions and/or restrictions on any Shares of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units granted pursuant to this Plan as it may deem advisable including, without limitation, a requirement that Participants pay a stipulated purchase price for each Share of Restricted Stock or each Restricted Stock Unit, restrictions based upon the achievement of specific performance goals, time-based restrictions on vesting following the attainment of the performance goals, time-based restrictions, restrictions under applicable laws or under the requirements of any stock exchange or market upon which such Shares are listed or traded, or holding requirements or sale restrictions placed on the Shares by the Company upon vesting of such Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units. To the extent deemed appropriate by the Committee, the Company may retain the certificates representing Shares of Restricted Stock in the Company s possession until such time as all conditions and/or restrictions applicable to such Shares have been satisfied or lapse. Except as otherwise provided in this Article 8, Shares of Restricted Stock covered by each Restricted Stock Award shall become freely transferable by the Participant after all conditions and restrictions applicable to such Shares have been satisfied or lapse (including satisfaction of any applicable tax withholding obligations), and Restricted Stock Units shall be paid in cash, Shares, or a combination of cash and Shares as the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall determine.

14

- **8.4 Certificate Legend**. In addition to any legends placed on certificates pursuant to Section 8.3, each certificate representing Shares of Restricted Stock granted pursuant to this Plan may bear a legend such as the following or as otherwise determined by the Committee in its sole discretion: The sale or transfer of Shares of stock represented by this certificate, whether voluntary, involuntary, or by operation of law, is subject to certain restrictions on transfer as set forth in ICF International, Inc. 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan, and in the associated Award Agreement. A copy of this Plan and such Award Agreement may be obtained from ICF International, Inc.
- **8.5 Voting Rights.** Unless otherwise determined by the Committee and set forth in a Participant s Award Agreement, to the extent permitted or required by law, as determined by the Committee, Participants holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted hereunder shall be granted the right to exercise full voting rights with respect to those Shares during the Period of Restriction. A Participant shall have no voting rights with respect to any Restricted Stock Units granted hereunder.
- **8.6 Termination of Employment**. Each Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which the Participant shall have the right to retain Restricted Stock and/or Restricted Stock Units following termination of the Participant s employment with or provision of services to the Company or any Affiliate or Subsidiary, as the case may be. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with each Participant, need not be uniform among all Shares of Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units issued pursuant to this Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination.

Article 9. Performance Units/Performance Shares

- **9.1 Grant of Performance Units/Performance Shares**. Subject to the terms and provisions of this Plan, the Committee, at any time and from time to time, may grant Performance Units and/or Performance Shares to Participants in such amounts and upon such terms as the Committee shall determine.
- **9.2 Value of Performance Units/Performance Shares**. Each Performance Unit shall have an initial value that is established by the Committee at the time of grant. Each Performance Share shall have an initial value equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share on the Grant Date. The Committee shall set performance goals in its discretion which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will determine the value and/or number of Performance Units/Performance Shares that will be paid out to the Participant.
- **9.3 Earning of Performance Units/Performance Shares**. Subject to the terms of this Plan, after the applicable Performance Period has ended, the holder of Performance Units/Performance Shares shall be entitled to receive payout on the value and number of Performance Units/Performance Shares earned by the Participant over the Performance Period, to be determined as a function of the extent to which the corresponding performance goals have been achieved.
- **9.4 Form and Timing of Payment of Performance Units/Performance Shares**. Payment of earned Performance Units/Performance Shares shall be as determined by the Committee and as evidenced in the Award Agreement. Subject to the terms of this Plan, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may pay earned Performance Units/Performance Shares in the form of cash or in Shares (or in a combination thereof) equal to the value of the earned Performance Units/Performance Shares within ninety (90) days after the close of the applicable Performance Period. Any Shares may be granted subject to any restrictions deemed appropriate by the Committee. The determination of the Committee with respect to the form of payout of such Awards shall be set forth in the Award Agreement pertaining to the grant of the Award. In absence of other payment arrangements in the Award Agreement in accordance with Code Section 409A, payments related to Performance Units/Performance Shares shall be made in a lump sum within ninety (90) calendar days of the end of the Performance Period; provided, however, that if such ninety (90) day period begins in one calendar year and ends in another calendar year, the Participant shall have no right to designate the calendar year of payment. Notwithstanding any

15

other provision to the contrary in this Article 9, Performance Units/Shares payable upon a termination of employment of a Specified Employee during the six (6) month period following such termination of employment, to the extent that they constitute nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Code Section 409A, shall not be paid or issued until within the thirty (30) day period commencing with the first day of the seventh month following the month of the Specified Employee s termination of employment (provided that if such thirty(30) day period begins in one calendar year and ends in another calendar year, the Participant shall have no right to designate the calendar year of payment).

- **9.5 Termination of Employment**. Each Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which the Participant shall have the right to retain Performance Units and/or Performance Shares following termination of the Participant s employment with or provision of services to the Company or any Affiliate or Subsidiary, as the case may be. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with each Participant, need not be uniform among all Awards of Performance Units or Performance Shares issued pursuant to this Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination.
- 9.6 Compliance with Section 162(m). The Plan shall be interpreted and construed in accordance with Code Section 162(m) with respect to any Performance Shares and Performance Units. A Participant shall be eligible to receive payment with respect to a Performance-Based Compensation Award only to the extent that the performance goals for such Performance Period are achieved and the terms of the Award applied against such performance goals determines that all or a portion of such Participant s Performance-Based Compensation Award has been earned for the Performance Period. Following the completion of a Performance Period, the Committee shall review and certify in writing whether, and to what extent, the Performance-Based Compensation Award for the Performance Period was achieved and then the amount thereof.

Article 10. Cash-Based Awards and Other Stock-Based Awards

- **10.1 Grant of Cash-Based Awards**. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Committee, at any time and from time to time, may grant Cash-Based Awards to Participants in such amounts and upon such terms as the Committee may determine.
- 10.2 Other Stock-Based Awards. The Committee may grant other types of equity-based or equity-related Awards not otherwise described by the terms of this Plan (including the grant or offer for sale of unrestricted Shares) in such amounts and subject to such terms and conditions as the Committee shall determine. Such Awards may involve the transfer of actual Shares to Participants, or payment in cash or otherwise of amounts based on the value of Shares, and may include, without limitation, Awards designed to comply with or take advantage of the applicable local laws of jurisdictions other than the United States.
- 10.3 Value of Cash-Based and Other Stock-Based Awards. Each Cash-Based Award shall specify a payment amount or payment range as determined by the Committee. Each Other Stock-Based Award shall be expressed in terms of Shares or units based on Shares, as determined by the Committee. The Committee may establish performance goals in its discretion. If the Committee exercises its discretion to establish performance goals, the number and/or value of Cash-Based Awards or Other Stock-Based Awards that will be paid out to the Participant will depend on the extent to which the performance goals are met.
- **10.4 Payment of Cash-Based Awards and Other Stock-Based Awards.** Payment, if any, with respect to a Cash-Based Award or an Other Stock-Based Award shall be made in accordance with the terms of the Award, in cash or Shares as the Committee determines in accordance with Code Section 409A to the extent applicable.
- 10.5 Termination of Employment. The Committee shall determine the extent to which the Participant shall have the right to receive Cash-Based Awards or Other Stock-Based Awards following termination of the

16

(h)

Participant s employment with or provision of services to the Company or any Affiliate or Subsidiary, as the case may be. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, such provisions may be included in an agreement entered into with each Participant, but need not be uniform among all Awards of Cash-Based Awards or Other Stock-Based Awards issued pursuant to the Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for termination.

Article 11. Transferability of Awards and Shares

- 11.1 Transferability of Awards. Except as provided in Section 11.2, during a Participant s lifetime, his or her Awards shall be exercisable only by the Participant. Awards shall not be transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution or, subject to the consent of the Committee, pursuant to a domestic relation order entered into by a court of competent jurisdiction; no Awards shall be subject, in whole or in part, to attachment, execution, or levy of any kind; and any purported transfer in violation of this Section 11.1 shall be null and void. The Committee may establish such procedures as it deems appropriate for a Participant to designate a beneficiary to whom any amounts payable or Shares deliverable in the event of, or following, the Participant s death may be provided.
- **11.2** Committee Action. Except as provided in Section 6.8(k), the Committee may, in its discretion, determine that notwithstanding Section 11.1, any or all Awards shall be transferable to and exercisable by such transferees, and be subject to such terms and conditions as the Committee may deem appropriate; provided, however, no Award may be transferred for value without stockholder approval.
- 11.3 Restrictions on Share Transferability. The Committee may impose such restrictions on any Shares acquired by a Participant under the Plan as it may deem advisable, including, without limitation, minimum holding period requirements, restrictions under applicable federal securities laws, under the requirements of any stock exchange or market upon which such Shares are then listed or traded, or under any blue sky or state securities laws applicable to such Shares.

Article 12. Performance Measures

12.1 Performance Measures. The performance goals upon which the payment or vesting of an Award to a Covered Employee that is intended to qualify as Performance-Based Compensation shall be limited to the following Performance Measures:

(a)	Net earnings or net income (before or after taxes);
(b)	Earnings per share;
(c)	Gross or net sales or revenue growth;
(d)	Product invoice;
(e)	Net operating profit;
(f)	Return measures (including, but not limited to, return on assets, capital, invested capital, equity, sales, or revenue);
(g)	Cash flow (including, but not limited to, operating cash flow, free cash flow, cash flow return on equity, and cash flow return on investment);

Table of Contents 107

Earnings before or after taxes, interest, depreciation, and/or amortization;

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

(i) Gross or operating margins;

(j) Productivity ratios;

17

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

<u>Table of Contents</u>	
(k)	Share price (including, but not limited to, growth measures and total stockholder return);
(1)	Expense targets;
(m)	Cost reduction or savings;
(n)	Performance against operating budget goals;
(0)	Margins;
(p)	Operating efficiency;
(q)	Funds from operations;
(r)	Market share;
(s)	Customer satisfaction;
(t)	Working capital targets;
(u)	Gross Revenue;
(v)	Revenue after subcontractor costs;
(v)	Service Sales;
(w)	Contract Backlog;
(x)	Business Pipeline;
(y)	Economic value added or EVA (net operating profit after tax minus the product of capital multiplied by the cost of capital); and
(z)	Debt levels.

Edgar Filing: ICF International, Inc. - Form DEF 14A

Any Performance Measure(s) may be used to measure the performance of the Company, Subsidiary, and/or Affiliate as a whole or any one or more business units of the Company, Subsidiary, and/or Affiliate, or any combination thereof, as the Committee may deem appropriate, or any of the above Performance Measures as compared to the performance of a group of comparator companies, or published or special index that the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate, or the Company may select Performance Measure (k) above as compared to various stock market indices. The Committee also has the authority to provide for accelerated vesting of any Award based on the achievement of performance goals pursuant to the Performance Measures specified in this Article 12; provided, however, that any restrictions on acceleration of payment under Code Section 409A shall be observed.

- 12.2 Evaluation of Performance. The Committee may provide in any such Award that any evaluation of performance may include or exclude any of the following events that occurs during a Performance Period: (a) asset write-downs, (b) litigation or claim judgments or settlements, (c) the effect of changes in tax laws, accounting principles, or other laws or provisions affecting reported results, (d) any reorganization and restructuring programs, (e) Extraordinary Items, (f) acquisitions or divestitures, and (g) foreign exchange gains and losses. To the extent such inclusions or exclusions affect Awards to Covered Employees, they shall be prescribed in a form that meets the requirements of Code Section 162(m) for deductibility.
- 12.3 Adjustment of Performance-Based Compensation. Awards that are intended to qualify as Performance-Based Compensation may not be adjusted upward. The Committee shall retain the discretion to adjust such Awards downward, either on a formula or discretionary basis or any combination, as the Committee determines.
- **12.4 Committee Discretion**. In the event that applicable tax or securities laws change to permit Committee discretion to alter the governing Performance Measures without obtaining stockholder approval of such changes,

18

the Committee shall have sole discretion to make such changes without obtaining stockholder approval. In addition, in the event that the Committee determines that it is advisable to grant Awards that shall not qualify as Performance-Based Compensation, the Committee may make such grants without satisfying the requirements of Code Section 162(m) and base vesting on Performance Measures other than those set forth in Section 12.1.

Article 13. Nonemployee Director Awards

13.1 Awards to Nonemployee Directors. The Board or Committee shall determine and approve all Awards to Nonemployee Directors. The terms and conditions of any grant of any Award to a Nonemployee Director shall be set forth in an Award Agreement.

13.2 Awards in Lieu of Fees; Deferral of Award Payment. In accordance with Code Section 409A, the Board or Committee may permit a Nonemployee Director the opportunity to: (a) receive an Award in lieu of payment of all or a portion of future director fees (including but not limited to cash retainer fees and meeting fees) or other types Awards pursuant to such terms and conditions as the Board or Committee may prescribe and set forth in an applicable subplan or Award Agreement or (b) defer the grant or payment of an Award pursuant to such terms and conditions as the Board or Committee may prescribe and set forth in any applicable subplan or Award Agreement.

Article 14. Dividend Equivalents

Any Participant selected by the Committee may be granted dividend equivalents based on the dividends declared on Shares that are subject to any Award, to be credited as of dividend payment dates, during the period between the date the Award is granted and the date the Award is exercised, vests, or expires, as determined by the Committee. Such dividend equivalents shall be converted to cash or additional Shares by such formula and at such time and subject to such limitations as may be determined by the Committee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may not grant dividend equivalents based on the dividends declared on Shares that are subject to an Option, ISO, or SAR Award and further, no dividend equivalents shall be paid out with respect to any unvested performance awards.

Article 15. Beneficiary Designation

Each Participant under this Plan may, from time to time, name any beneficiary or beneficiaries (who may be named contingently or successively) to whom any benefit under this Plan is to be paid in case of his death before he receives any or all of such benefit. Each such designation shall revoke all prior designations by the same Participant, shall be in a form prescribed by the Committee, and will be effective only when filed by the Participant in writing with the Company during the Participant s lifetime. In the absence of any such beneficiary designation, benefits remaining unpaid or rights remaining unexercised at the Participant s death shall be paid to or exercised by the Participant s executor, administrator, or legal representative.

Article 16. Rights of Participants

16.1 Employment. Nothing in this Plan or an Award Agreement shall: (a) interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries to terminate any Participant s employment or service on the Board or to the Company at any time or for any reason not prohibited by law, or (b) confer upon any Participant any right to continue his employment or service as a Director for any specified period of time. Neither an Award nor any benefits arising under this Plan shall constitute an employment contract with the

19

Company or any Affiliate or Subsidiary and, accordingly, subject to Articles 3 and 18, this Plan and the benefits hereunder may be terminated at any time in the sole and exclusive discretion of the Committee without giving rise to any liability on the part of the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries.

16.2 Participation. No individual shall have the right to be selected to receive an Award under this Plan, or, having been so selected, to be selected to receive a future Award.

16.3 Rights as a Stockholder. Except as otherwise provided herein, a Participant shall have none of the rights of a stockholder with respect to Shares covered by any Award until the Participant becomes the record holder of such Shares.

Article 17. Change of Control and Retirement

17.1 Change of Control of the Company. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, the provisions of this Article 17 shall apply in the event of a Change of Control, unless otherwise determined by the Committee in connection with the grant of an Award as reflected in the applicable Award Agreement.

- (a) Outstanding Options and SARs Exchanged for Replacement Awards. Upon a Change of Control, if an Award meeting the requirements of Section 17.2 (a Replacement Award) is provided to a Participant to replace the Participant s then-outstanding Options or Stock Appreciation Rights (the Replaced Award), then the Replaced Award shall be deemed cancelled and shall have no further force or effect and the Company shall have no further obligation with respect to the Replaced Award.
- (b) Outstanding Options and SARs Not Exchanged for Replacement Awards. Upon a Change of Control, to the extent a Participant s then-outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation Rights are not exchanged for Replacement Awards as provided for in paragraph (a) above, then such Options and Stock Appreciation Rights shall immediately become fully vested and exercisable.
- (c) Service-Based Outstanding Awards Other Than Options and SARs. Upon a Change of Control, all then-outstanding Awards, other than Options and SARs, that are not vested and as to which vesting depends solely on the satisfaction of a service obligation by a Participant to the Company, Subsidiary, or Affiliate shall vest in full and be free of restrictions related to the vesting or transferability of such Awards.
- (d) **Other Awards**. Upon a Change of Control, the treatment of then-outstanding Awards not subject to subparagraphs (a), (b), or (c) above shall be determined by the terms and conditions set forth in the applicable Award Agreement.
- (e) Committee Discretion Regarding Treatment of Awards Not Exchanged for Replacement Awards. Except to the extent that a Replacement Award is provided to the Participant, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, (i) determine that any or all outstanding Awards granted under the Plan, whether or not exercisable, will be canceled and terminated and that in connection with such cancellation and termination the holder of such Award may receive for each Share subject to such Awards a cash payment (or the delivery of Shares, other securities or a combination of cash, Shares and securities equivalent to such cash payment) equal to the difference, if any, between the consideration received by stockholders of the Company in respect of a Share in connection with such transaction and the purchase price per Share, if any, under the Award multiplied by the number of Shares subject to such Award; provided that if such product is zero (0) or less or to the extent that the Award is not then exercisable, the Awards will be canceled and terminated without payment therefor; or (ii) provide that the period to exercise Options or Stock Appreciation Rights granted under the Plan shall be extended (but not beyond the expiration date of such Option or Stock Appreciation Right).

17.2 Replacement Awards. An Award shall qualify as a Replacement Award if: (a) it has a value at least equal to the value of the Replaced Award as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion; (b) it relates to publicly traded equity securities of the Company or its successor in the Change of Control or another entity that is affiliated with the Company or its successor following the Change of Control; and (c) its other terms and conditions are not less favorable to the Participant than the terms and conditions of the Replaced Award (including the provisions that would apply in the event of a subsequent Change of Control). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Replacement Award may take the form of a continuation of the Replaced Award if the requirements of the preceding sentence are satisfied. The determination of whether the conditions of this Section 17.2 are satisfied shall be made by the Committee, as constituted immediately before the Change of Control, in its sole discretion.

17.3 Termination of Employment. Upon a termination of employment or directorship of a Participant occurring in connection with or during the period of two (2) years after such Change of Control, other than for Cause: (a) all Replacement Awards held by the Participant shall become fully vested and (if applicable) exercisable and free of restrictions, and (b) all Options and Stock Appreciation Rights held by the Participant immediately before the termination of employment or termination of directorship that the Participant held as of the date of the Change of Control or that constitute Replacement Awards shall remain exercisable for not less than one (1) year following such termination or until the expiration of the stated term of such Option or SAR, whichever period is shorter; provided that if the applicable Award Agreement provides for a longer period of exercisability, that provision shall control.

17.4 Retirement. The Committee may provide special vesting and/or payment provisions in the case of a Participant s Retirement (including retirement not as otherwise defined herein), which provisions will be set forth in the Participant s Award Agreement. Such provisions may be set forth in the original Award Agreement or may be added by amendment, with the Participant s consent, at any time.

Article 18. Amendment and Termination

18.1 Amendment and Termination of the Plan and Award Agreements.

- (a) Subject to subparagraphs (b) and (c) of this Section 18.1 and Section 18.3 of the Plan, the Board may at any time terminate the Plan or an outstanding Award Agreement and the Committee may, at any time and from time to time, amend the Plan or an outstanding Award Agreement.
- (b) Except in connection with a corporate transaction involving the Company (including, without limitation, any stock dividend, stock split, extraordinary cash dividend, recapitalization, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, or exchange of shares), the terms of an outstanding Award may not be amended to reduce the Option Price of outstanding Options or to reduce the Grant Price of outstanding SARs and provided further no outstanding Options or SARs may be cancelled in exchange for cash, other Awards, or Options or SARs with an Option Price or Grant Price, as applicable, that is less than the Option Price of the cancelled Options or the Grant Price of the cancelled SARs without stockholder approval.
- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment of this Plan shall be made without stockholder approval if stockholder approval is required pursuant to rules promulgated by any stock exchange or quotation system on which Shares are listed or quoted or by applicable U.S. state corporate laws or regulations, applicable U.S. federal laws or regulations, and the applicable laws of any foreign country or jurisdiction where Awards are, or will be, granted under the Plan.

18.2 Adjustment of Awards Upon the Occurrence of Certain Unusual or Nonrecurring Events. Subject to Section 12.3, the Committee may make adjustments in the terms and conditions of, and the criteria included in, Awards in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events (including, without limitation, the events described in

21

Section 4.4 hereof) affecting the Company or the financial statements of the Company or of changes in applicable laws, regulations, or accounting principles, whenever the Committee determines that such adjustments are appropriate in order to prevent unintended dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under this Plan. The determination of the Committee as to the foregoing adjustments, if any, shall be conclusive and binding on Participants under this Plan. By accepting an Award under this Plan, a Participant agrees to any adjustment to the Award made pursuant to this Section 18.2 without further consideration or action.

18.3 Awards Previously Granted. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, other than Sections 18.2, 18.4, or 21.14, no termination or amendment of this Plan or an Award Agreement shall adversely affect in any material way any Award previously granted under this Plan, without the written consent of the Participant holding such Award.

18.4 Amendment to Conform to Law. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, the Committee may amend the Plan or an Award Agreement, to take effect retroactively or otherwise, as deemed necessary or advisable for the purpose of conforming the Plan or an Award Agreement to any present or future law relating to plans of this or similar nature, and to the administrative regulations and rulings promulgated thereunder. By accepting an Award under this Plan, a Participant agrees to any amendment made pursuant to this Section 18.4 to any Award granted under the Plan without further consideration or action.

Article 19. Reporting and Withholding

19.1 Reporting and Tax Withholding. The Company shall have the power and the right to report income and to deduct or withhold, or require a Participant to remit to the Company, the minimum statutory amount to satisfy federal, state, and local taxes, domestic or foreign, required by law or regulation to be withheld with respect to any taxable event arising as a result of this Plan.

19.2 Share Withholding. With respect to withholding required upon the exercise of Options or SARs, upon the lapse of restrictions on Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units, or upon the achievement of performance goals related to Performance Shares or Performance Units, or any other taxable event arising as a result of an Award granted hereunder (collectively and individually referred to as a Share Payment), Participants may elect, subject to the approval of the Committee, to satisfy the withholding requirement, in whole or in part, by having the Company withhold from a Share Payment the number of Shares having a Fair Market Value on the date the withholding is to be determined equal to the minimum statutory withholding requirement but in no event shall such withholding exceed the minimum statutory withholding requirement. All such elections shall be irrevocable, made in writing, and signed by the Participant, and shall be subject to any restrictions or limitations that the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate.

Article 20. Successors

All obligations of the Company under this Plan with respect to Awards granted hereunder shall be binding on any successor to the Company, whether the existence of such successor is the result of a direct or indirect purchase, merger, consolidation, or otherwise, of all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company.

Article 21. General Provisions

21.1 Forfeiture Events.

(a) The Committee may specify in an Award Agreement that the Participant s rights, payments, and benefits with respect to an Award shall be subject to reduction, cancellation, forfeiture,

22

or recoupment upon the occurrence of certain specified events, in addition to any otherwise applicable vesting or performance conditions of an Award. Such events may include, but shall not be limited to, termination of employment for Cause, termination of the Participant s provision of services to the Company, Affiliate, or Subsidiary, violation of material Company, Affiliate, or Subsidiary policies, breach of noncompetition, confidentiality, or other restrictive covenants that may apply to the Participant, or other conduct by the Participant that is detrimental to the business or reputation of the Company, any Affiliate, or Subsidiary.

- (b) If any of the Company s financial statements are required to be restated resulting from errors, omissions, or fraud, the Committee may (in its sole discretion, but acting in good faith) direct that the Company recover all or a portion of any Award granted or paid to a Participant with respect to any fiscal year of the Company the financial results of which are negatively affected by such restatement. The amount to be recovered from the Participant shall be the amount by which the Award exceeded the amount that would have been payable to the Participant had the financial statements been initially filed as restated, or any greater or lesser amount (including, but not limited to, the entire Award) that the Committee shall determine. In no event shall the amount to be recovered by the Company be less than the amount required to be repaid or recovered as a matter of law (including but not limited to amounts that are required to be recovered or forfeited under Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002). The Committee shall determine whether the Company shall effect any such recovery: (i) by seeking repayment from the Participant, (ii) by reducing (subject to applicable law and the terms and conditions of the applicable plan, program or arrangement) the amount that would otherwise be payable to the Participant under any compensatory plan, program, or arrangement maintained by the Company, an Affiliate, or any Subsidiary, (iii) by withholding payment of future increases in compensation (including the payment of any discretionary bonus amount) or grants of compensatory awards that would otherwise have been made in accordance with the Company s otherwise applicable compensation practices, or (iv) by any combination of the
- **21.2 Legend.** The certificates for Shares may include any legend which the Committee deems appropriate to reflect any restrictions on transfer of such Shares.
- **21.3 Gender and Number**. Except where otherwise indicated by the context, any masculine term used herein also shall include the feminine, the plural shall include the singular, and the singular shall include the plural.
- **21.4 Severability**. In the event any provision of this Plan shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of this Plan, and this Plan shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had not been included.
- 21.5 Requirements of Law. The granting of Awards and the issuance of Shares under this Plan shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and to such approvals by any governmental agencies or national securities exchanges as may be required.
- 21.6 Delivery of Title. The Company shall have no obligation to issue or deliver evidence of title for Shares issued under this Plan prior to:
 - (a) Obtaining any approvals from governmental agencies that the Company determines are necessary or advisable; and
 - (b) Completion of any registration or other qualification of the Shares under any applicable national or foreign law or ruling of any governmental body that the Company determines to be necessary or advisable.

23

- **21.7 Inability to Obtain Authority**. The inability of the Company to obtain authority from any regulatory body having jurisdiction, which authority is deemed by the Company s counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any Shares hereunder, shall relieve the Company of any liability in respect of the failure to issue or sell such Shares as to which such requisite authority shall not have been obtained.
- **21.8 Investment Representations**. The Committee may require any individual receiving Shares pursuant to an Award under this Plan to represent and warrant in writing that the individual is acquiring the Shares for investment and without any present intention to sell or distribute such Shares.
- **21.9** Employees Based Outside of the United States. Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, in order to comply with the laws in other countries in which the Company, its Affiliates, and/or its Subsidiaries operate or have Employees and/or Directors, the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall have the power and authority to:
 - (a) Determine which Affiliates and Subsidiaries shall be covered by this Plan;
 - (b) Determine which Employees and Directors outside the United States are eligible to participate in this Plan;
 - (c) Modify the terms and conditions of any Award granted to Employees and Directors outside the United States to comply with applicable foreign laws;
 - (d) Establish subplans and modify exercise procedures and other terms and procedures, to the extent such actions may be necessary or advisable. Any subplans and modifications to Plan terms and procedures established under this Section 21.9 by the Committee shall be attached to this Plan document as appendices; and
 - (e) Take any action, before or after an Award is made, that it deems advisable to obtain approval or comply with any necessary local government regulatory exemptions or approvals.

Notwithstanding the above, the Committee may not take any actions hereunder, and no Awards shall be granted, that would violate applicable law.

- **21.10** Uncertificated Shares. To the extent that this Plan provides for issuance of certificates to reflect the transfer of Shares, the transfer of such Shares may be effected on a noncertificated basis, to the extent not prohibited by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange.
- 21.11 Unfunded Plan. Participants shall have no right, title, or interest whatsoever in or to any investments that the Company, its Subsidiaries, or its Affiliates may make to aid it in meeting its obligations under this Plan. Nothing contained in this Plan, and no action taken pursuant to its provisions, shall create or be construed to create a trust of any kind, or a fiduciary relationship between the Company and any Participant, beneficiary, legal representative, or any other individual. To the extent that any individual acquires a right to receive payments from the Company or any Affiliate or Subsidiary under this Plan, such right shall be no greater than the right of an unsecured general creditor of the Company or the Subsidiary or Affiliate, as the case may be. All payments to be made hereunder shall be paid from the general funds of the Company, or the Subsidiary or Affiliate, as the case may be and no special or separate fund shall be established and no segregation of assets shall be made to assure payment of such amounts except as expressly set forth in this Plan.
- **21.12** No Fractional Shares. No fractional Shares shall be issued or delivered pursuant to this Plan or any Award. The Committee shall determine whether cash, Awards, or other property shall be issued or paid in lieu of fractional Shares or whether such fractional Shares or any rights thereto shall be forfeited or otherwise eliminated.

21.13 Retirement and Welfare Plans. Neither Awards made under this Plan nor Shares or cash paid pursuant to such Awards may be included as compensation for purposes of computing the benefits payable to any Participant under the Company s or any Subsidiary s or Affiliate s retirement plans (both qualified and nonqualified) or welfare benefit plans unless such other plan expressly provides that such compensation shall be taken into account in computing a Participant s benefit.

21.14 Deferred Compensation.

- (a) The Committee may grant Awards under the Plan that provide for the deferral of compensation within the meaning of Code Section 409A. It is intended that such Awards comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A so that amounts deferred thereunder are not includible in income and are not subject to an additional tax of twenty percent (20%) at the time the deferred amounts are no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture.
- (b) Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan or Award Agreement to the contrary, if one or more of the payments or benefits to be received by a Participant pursuant to an Award would constitute deferred compensation subject to Code Section 409A and would cause the Participant to incur any penalty tax or interest under Code Section 409A or any regulations or Treasury guidance promulgated thereunder, the Committee may reform the Plan and Award Agreement to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A and to the extent practicable maintain the original intent of the Plan and Award Agreement. By accepting an Award under this Plan, a Participant agrees to any amendments to the Award made pursuant to this Section 21.14(b) without further consideration or action.
- **21.15** Nonexclusivity of this Plan. The adoption of this Plan shall not be construed as creating any limitations on the power of the Board or Committee to adopt such other compensation arrangements as it may deem desirable for any Participant. Notwithstanding anything contained to the contrary in this Plan or Awards made hereunder, such other compensation arrangements (including, but not limited to, letter agreements, employment agreements, and severance or similar agreements) may contain different or additional vesting provisions (or other provisions) with respect to Awards made under this Plan and, in such case, the terms of such other compensation arrangements shall apply.
- **21.16** No Constraint on Corporate Action. Nothing in this Plan shall be construed to: (a) limit, impair, or otherwise affect the Company s or a Subsidiary s or an Affiliate s right or power to make adjustments, reclassifications, reorganizations, or changes of its capital or business structure, or to merge or consolidate, or dissolve, liquidate, sell, or transfer all or any part of its business or assets; or (b) limit the right or power of the Company or a Subsidiary or an Affiliate to take any action which such entity deems to be necessary or appropriate.
- 21.17 Governing Law. The Plan and each Award Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state of Delaware, excluding any conflicts or choice of law rule or principle that might otherwise refer construction or interpretation of this Plan to the substantive law of another jurisdiction. Unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement, recipients of an Award under this Plan are deemed to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the federal or state courts of Delaware to resolve any and all issues that may arise out of or relate to this Plan or any related Award Agreement.
- 21.18 Delivery and Execution of Electronic Documents. To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Company may: (a) deliver by email or other electronic means (including posting on a Web site maintained by the Company or by a third party under contract with the Company) all documents relating to the Plan or any Award thereunder (including without limitation, prospectuses required by the SEC) and all other documents that the Company is required to deliver to its security holders (including without limitation, annual reports and proxy statements), and (b) permit Participants to electronically execute applicable Plan documents (including, but not limited to, Award Agreements) in a manner prescribed to the Committee.

25

21.19 No Representations or Warranties Regarding Tax Effect. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, the Company, its Affiliates and Subsidiaries, the Board, and the Committee neither represent nor warrant the tax treatment under any federal, state, local, or foreign laws and regulations thereunder (individually and collectively referred to as the Tax Laws) of any Award granted or any amounts paid to any Participant under the Plan including, but not limited to, when and to what extent such Awards or amounts may be subject to tax, penalties and interest under the Tax Laws.

21.20 Indemnification. Subject to requirements of Delaware law, each individual who is or shall have been a member of the Board, or a Committee appointed by the Board, or an officer of the Company to whom authority was delegated in accordance with Article 3, shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Company against and from any loss, cost, liability, or expense that may be imposed upon or reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with or resulting from any claim, action, suit, or proceeding to which he or she may be a party or in which he or she may be involved by reason of any action taken or failure to act under this Plan and against and from any and all amounts paid by him or her in settlement thereof, with the Company s approval, or paid by him or her in satisfaction of any judgment in any such action, suit, or proceeding against him or her, provided he or she shall give the Company an opportunity, at its own expense, to handle and defend the same before he or she undertakes to handle and defend it on his/her own behalf, unless such loss, cost, liability, or expense is a result of his/her own willful misconduct or except as expressly provided by statute. The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be exclusive of any other rights of indemnification to which such individuals may be entitled under the Company s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, as a matter of law, or otherwise, or any power that the Company may have to indemnify them or hold them harmless.

26